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Wednesday, November 23, 2016
--- On commencing at 9:34 a.m.

MS. DUFF:  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  So this is Day 2 of the Panhandle Reinforcement proceeding, EB-2016-0186.  I see panel number 2 is already seated.  Good morning, Mr. Crawford (sic).

MR. SMITH:  Good morning.

MS. DUFF:  Any preliminary matters that you need to deal with?

MR. SMITH:  One preliminary matter, Madam Chair, other than good morning and --


MS. DUFF:  Oh, Mr. Crawford, sorry, Mr. Smith.  I was just...  [Laughter]  You didn't skip a beat, though.

MR. SMITH:  The only thing surprising is that it wasn't my own witness who said that, because that happens every day.
Preliminary Matters:


Thank you, Madam Chair.  We did -- yesterday, you will recall, at page 108 or thereabouts of the transcript, Mr. Keizer had indicated that we -- Union would go back and file a package of correspondence.  That was filed yesterday evening, along with a cover letter from Union.  Included in the package is the agreement with Rover that was referred to yesterday in the opening presentation.

As I understand it, that agreement was only actually signed yesterday as -- or received back from Rover as the witness panel was in the process of taking their seats.

So you have it.  I believe it is around page 25 of the attachment.  So you have that material, and I would propose that it be marked as an exhibit, and I have no questions in relation to it.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, that will be Exhibit K2.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.1:  PACKAGE OF CORRESPONDENCE FROM UNION GAS.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.

So for the parties in the room, is everyone receiving it this morning, or did people receive this last night?  What is the time period?

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  It was received last night.  I am not sure what time, but it was received last night.  Most of us, I think, have read it, and we are digesting it.

MR. SMITH:  8:45, I believe.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you.

Just conferring.  Perhaps it would be best if we just affirmed the remaining members of panel number 2 that have --


MR. SMITH:  Oh, no, absolutely.  I would --


MS. DUFF:  Then we will then proceed on that basis and perhaps this panel will talk about this document?

MR. SMITH:  I was proposing to have them -- Mr. Redford and Mr. Shorts were previously affirmed, so I just have them introduced, and then the remaining panel members would be affirmed and introduced as well.

And then, subject to whatever you think would be of assistance to the panel, I can either have the members of the panel explain the content, in particular the deal with Rover, which is in the attachment, if that would be of assistance to the Board, or simply tender them for cross-examination.  Whatever people would find most useful.

MS. DUFF:  Well, I know what I would find most useful, and that would be to have a short explanation of the content of this.

MR. SMITH:  Sure.  Happy to do that.  Okay.

So why don't I ask, then, Mr. Reinisch, Mr. Hockin, and Mr. Wallace to be affirmed.
UNION GAS LIMITED - PANEL 2

Jim Redford,
Chris Shorts; Previously affirmed.
Dan Wallace,
Dave Hockin,
Warren Reinisch; Affirmed.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Smith:


MR. SMITH:  So why don't we start with you, Mr. Reinisch.  There was a package of CVs that were filed with the Board, so members should have them.

Sir, I understand that you are the director of planning and forecasting; is that correct?

MR. REINISCH:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you have held that position since January of this year?

MR. REINISCH:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And prior to that, you held positions of increasing responsibility with Union Gas from about November 2004?

MR. REINISCH:  I have.

MR. SMITH:  I understand, sir, that you have a Master's of Business Administration from the University of Michigan?

MR. REINISCH:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  And a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University of Windsor?

MR. REINISCH:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And an Economics degree from the University of Manitoba.

MR. REINISCH:  That is also correct.

MR. SMITH:  Am I correct, sir, that this is your first appearance before this Board?

MR. REINISCH:  That is also correct.

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Hockin, this is not your first appearance before this Board.

I understand that you are the manager of strategic development?

MR. HOCKIN:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And that's a position that you have held since 2012?

MR. HOCKIN:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And prior to that, you were the manager of affiliated accounting and reporting?

MR. HOCKIN:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you have held positions with Union Gas of increasing responsibility since about 1986; is that correct?

MR. HOCKIN:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  You have an Economics degree from Wilfrid Laurier?

MR. HOCKIN:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you are a certified general accountant?

MR. HOCKIN:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And a member of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada?

MR. HOCKIN:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you have testified before this Board on matters of financial analysis any number of times.

MR. HOCKIN:  Many times, yes.

MR. SMITH:  Many times.

Mr. Wallace, turning to you.  I understand it, sir, that you are the manager of system planning and project development?

MR. WALLACE:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you have held that position since about 2014?

MR. WALLACE:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And prior to that you were the manager of storage and transmission?

MR. WALLACE:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  Which you -- a position you had held since 2007?

MR. WALLACE:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you have been with Union Gas since about 2000?

MR. WALLACE:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  You have an Applied Science degree from the University of Waterloo?

MR. WALLACE:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And an MBA from Wayne State University.

MR. WALLACE:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you're a professional engineer.

MR. WALLACE:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Redford, you have previously been affirmed.  Let me just go through your CV, if I could.

You are the vice-president, business development, storage, and transportation?

MR. REDFORD:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you have held that title since the beginning of this year?

MR. REDFORD:  Since April.

MR. SMITH:  And prior to that, you were the director of business development in upstream regulation?

MR. REDFORD:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And that was a position you had held since about 2013?

MR. REDFORD:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And indeed, as I understand it, you have held business development roles with Union since about 2011?

MR. REDFORD:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And all told, you have been with Union Gas for about 27 years, Union or its affiliates, for 27 years?

MR. REDFORD:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And as I understand it, sir, you too are a professional engineer?

MR. REDFORD:  I am.

MR. SMITH:  You have a Bachelor of Applied Science degree from the University of Toronto?

MR. REDFORD:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you have appeared before this Board a number of times and before the National Energy Board.

MR. REDFORD:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Lastly, Mr. Shorts, I understand that you are the director of business development in upstream regulation?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And that is a position that you have held since 2016?

MR. SHORTS:  Since April of this year.

MR. SMITH:  And prior to that, you were the director of gas supply and customer support?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And the director of gas supply from about 2012?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you have been with Union Gas, as I understand it, for about 30 years?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you hold a Commerce degree from the University of Windsor?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you have testified before this Board on a number of occasions in the past?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  Members of the Board, perhaps through you, Mr. Shorts, if I could ask whether you adopt -- or members of the panel -- whether you adopt Union's pre-filed evidence, technical-conference evidence, answers to interrogatories, and any undertakings for the purpose of testifying here today?

MR. REDFORD:  We do.

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Redford, perhaps I can address this question to you.

Do you have the package dated November 22nd, which was marked as an exhibit earlier today?

MR. REDFORD:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  Perhaps either by reference -- well, by reference to your letter and the document at page 25, perhaps you can -- for the benefit of everyone today -- just simply start by discussing the arrangement that's been reached with Rover, and the benefits you see from Union's perspective of that arrangement and how, if at all, it fits in today's facilities application.

MR. REDFORD:  Sure.  I can do that.  So the package is correspondence largely from the end of the technical conference to yesterday.  The first -- the first page of the attachment is a piece that we missed of correspondence in the original October 28th letter.  We have included it here.

There was some correspondence around November 1st, and then the rest happened after November 17th.

We received a letter from --


MR. SMITH:  Sorry, Mr. Redford I will come to that, but maybe let's just start at the end of the story.  So why don't we start with the agreement that's been reached with Rover, and Union's perspective on that, and then I will ask you about how that came about.

MR. REDFORD:  Okay.  So over this past weekend, Friday and over the past weekend, we did reach an agreement with Rover.  We have been in discussions with Energy Transfer Partners since 2015, and I will say mid-2015 to - we were looking for capacity on their pipeline system.  They were looking for capacity on our pipeline system, and each of us were looking for -- combined, we're looking for more capacity than is available to be imported at Ojibway.

So it took us a long time to come to an agreement.  And that agreement, we think, is beneficial to Union's customers, and really for three reasons.

First, we were -- we ended up losing or having expired capacity on Panhandle system for about 23 tJs a day.  That capacity, we needed to replace because we rely on sixty tJs a day to be delivered at Ojibway, so it is very important that we have that supply.

To replace that, we went out and got an agreement with a third party for a delivered service to Ojibway.  That service expired -- or expires, pardon me -- on October 31st of 2019.  So we didn't have certainty post-2019 that we would have 60 tJs available.

So the agreement with Rover -- sorry, with Panhandle Eastern, Energy Transfer Partners and Rover, first of all provides us eight years of term on our existing contracts.  It provides a replacement contract for that 23 tJs, starting November 1st of 2019.

All of those contracts have renewal rights, so we know that we have the ability to have long term capacity of 60 tJs a day into Ojibway.  That was very important to us.

So the right of first refusal provision is critical to us, and the eight-year term is also good for us.

Previously, Rover had asked for terms between 9 and 15 years and that was -- we did not want a term that long, and we settled on an 8-year term.

All that capacity originates in the Panhandle field zone. Previously, one of our contracts originated in the Trunkline field zone, which is in the Gulf Coast, down at the Gulf of Mexico.  Very uneconomic for us.  We did not want to renew that.

So what we came to an agreement with Panhandle was everything originating out of the Panhandle field zone for that 60 tJs a day, which is more economic for our customers than what we had previously.

And effectively, that capacity puts us back in the same spot we were before our 23 tJs a day expired.

Also, with the agreement, we provided 35 tJs a day, which is our remaining capacity of C1 transportation to Rover Pipeline, which is an Energy Transfer Partner affiliate.  That is also an 8-year agreement with renewal rights for them, and that will allow them to use -- take their full capacity they have contracted with their parties to Dawn.

And the reason they need that capacity is that they have 950, I am going to mix units, dekatherms a day through Vector to Dawn.  But they have more contracts than that.  They have signed more contracts than that to get to Dawn.  So they needed some additional capacity into Dawn, and the Ojibway path was one of the alternatives that they were looking at, and were able to come to agreement on 35 tJs a day with that.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much.  Just let me follow up on one of my earlier questions that may be obvious or not, but what is the impact of this agreement on the proposed facilities Union has before the Board now?

MR. REDFORD:  Well, there's no impact on the proposed facilities.  In fact, all of the alternatives that we evaluated, all have at least a base of 60 tJs a day of capacity into Ojibway long-term.  So it supports the proposed project.

MR. SMITH:  Let me just turn back, and perhaps you can start -- you were discussing a letter you received last week from the Rover pipeline.  That's a letter dated November 17th, 2016.  It can be found at page 4 of 37 of the package.

And perhaps I can ask you, Mr. Redford, or you, Mr. Shorts -- the letter is obviously somewhat critical of Union and I guess my question is:  You received the letter; what did you do in response to the letter?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, the first thing we did was -- you know, we were obviously concerned about the misconceptions that Rover had put in the letter.  So we immediately tried to contact them to have a discussion to try and clarify their thoughts and their concerns, because we certainly did not agree that in any way we were dealing with them not in good faith, or that we were trying to misleads anyone, especially the Board.

So we immediately tried to contact them to have the discussion, to ensure that we fully understood their concerns and that they understood the context of the answers that were put forth at the technical conference.

MR. SMITH:  And did you have that conversation?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, we did.  We actually had numerous conversations on the 17th and the 18th, to alleviate their concerns.

And then that led to them ultimately being satisfied that that was not the situation and that led to their acknowledgement that they were comfortable with the record, and comfortable that we were absolutely on the same page.

MR. SMITH:  And in Union's cover letter dated November 22nd -- I guess it is page 1 of the package obviously -- there are a number of comments made, I guess really beginning on page 2, with respect to the letter.  And were these items that were conveyed by Union to Rover during these telephone calls?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, they were.

MR. SMITH:  And by whom?

MR. SHORTS:  Between Mr. Redford and myself.

MR. SMITH:  So you were both on the --


MR. SHORTS:  We are both on the call, yes.

MR. SMITH:  What was the culmination of these telephone calls that you had?

MR. SHORTS:  The culmination of the calls were essentially an acknowledgement by them that they understood the context of the answers.  They felt that the concerns they had were alleviated, and therefore they acknowledged to us that they no longer had any concerns about the comments that were made in that letter.

MR. SMITH:  Can I ask you to turn to page 36 of 37.

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  This appears to be an e-mail exchange between you, Mr. Shorts, and Ms. Hickey of Rover and Mr. Reid of Rover.

Is this the acknowledgement you were referring to?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, it is.

MR. SMITH:  Maybe, Mr. Redford, I can just turn back to you.  You had at the outset of your first answer talked about the sort of chronology.

I guess my question is, what was the impact of the letter, if any, that you received on the 17th on your negotiations and ultimate agreement with Rover?

MR. REDFORD:  Well, as Mr. Shorts pointed out, we were quite concerned with the letter.  We spent time with Rover to specifically address each of their concerns as they were laid out.

As we worked through it, I will just say it kind of cleared the air and gave us a platform to rekindle the negotiations and continue them on.  I think what it did do is it brought clarity to both parties of what we were seeking.  We continued to talk on beyond just the four items that were addressed in the agreement and at the end of the call realized that we can probably come to an agreement, finally, after about 18 months.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  I hope that was of assistance.  I have no further questions.

[Board Panel confers]

MS. DUFF:  I think we will proceed with the planned cross-examination and ask the intervenors to proceed and await any comments.  No, the Panel was just kind of conferring and wondering if we should recess or not, and we've decided that we will just go forward with the schedule and see where that takes us.

So according to the schedule -- that was a lot of information.  I am just telling you.  I mean, I'm -- that's why I thought maybe we needed to break.

MR. SMITH:  Oh, no, I understand.  I don't have any -- I think it is -- on reflection, I think it is good to have the examination to get it out there, but I understand the perspective, for sure.

MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair --


MS. DUFF:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  -- if I might assist.  That was a lot of information.  There may well be more as we go on through the morning, because that, of course, was a summary, and there are details in a 40-page package.

Having said that, if it helps the Hearing Panel, we have conferred among the intervenor representatives here on our ability to proceed.  We were corresponding last night from and after 8:45 or whenever the delivery was.  And I think I speak for everyone in saying that we have concluded that we can proceed, understanding that Mr. Quinn is going first, and that's been by cooperation among the intervenors for some time in an attempt to present this material as efficiently as possible.

Mr. Quinn has the deepest knowledge.  Mr. Wolnik is then going next, as you know, and then I think I am down for IGUA as third and so on.

And given that Mr. Quinn is starting, it may well be that during the course of the day some aspects, details of the package, arise in the questioning of others to follow Mr. Quinn that he might wish to follow up on, prior to handing the proceeding back over to Union for any response, of course.

So I would simply, on behalf of Mr. Quinn and the rest of us, request that indulgence.  That may not be necessary, but this is rather a lot of new material which is being digested, so we think we can deal with it, but it may be that Mr. Quinn might just need another opportunity at the end of the order in the event that something else occurs to him as he is listening to the cross-examinations that follow his, if that is acceptable to the Panel.

MS. DUFF:  Yes, I understand, and I think that is acceptable.  Only one correction.  I think Mr. Buonaguro was to go first.

MR. QUINN:  That's correct, Madam Chair.

MR. MONDROW:  I apologize.  I keep doing that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You didn't think of that when --


MR. MONDROW:  I apologize to you and Mr. Buonaguro.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Buonaguro, are you prepared to proceed?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning, panel.  My name is Mike Buonaguro.  I am counsel for the Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers.

I am going to start with one question specifically about the new contracts that have been entered into with PEPL and Rover, and perhaps the best way to do that is to take a quick look at Exhibit A, tab 5, page 8.  And this is Table 5.1, design day terajoules per day.

And my understanding from your summary is that, if I look at -- and you can tell me if I am wrong -- if I look at system capacity, the historical and the forecast, my understanding is that these two agreements don't impact on the forecast capacity when included with the Panhandle Reinforcement project?  Is that right?  Or am I wrong?

MR. WALLACE:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So the 671 is still the cap, even though you have added these two contracts?

MR. WALLACE:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you briefly explain why that is the case?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. WALLACE:  Sorry.  So the contract for supply delivery simply shores up the 60 tJs a day that we had assumed in all of our calculations here as base deliveries to Ojibway that we have been using for meeting system capacity.

And the other contract, the C1 contract, is really a counter-flow contract on the Panhandle system, and which we cannot count on on a design day basis.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So that's -- I think there was some discussion yesterday about C1 contracts on the system and counter-flow and so on not being included but helping the ability to meet the demand?

MR. WALLACE:  So I believe that the comments yesterday were in respect to rate impacts.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. WALLACE:  Not design day flows and capacities.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, sorry, you're right.  That's absolutely true.

My question is this:  Are they basically the same impact on the system as those other existing contracts?  Or is it a different arrangement than those other contracts that they were discussing yesterday?

MR. REDFORD:  No.  The C1 contract would be used by Rover to supply Dawn.  It would be up to them how they use it.  No different than any other C1 contract holder.  They're not obligated to flow on our system.  They choose when they nominate flow.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So similar to yesterday, there is a benefit to the system when they do flow, but because it is not obligated at the peak, you can't count on it for system design; is that right?

MR. WALLACE:  That's correct.  We cannot count on those supplies arriving on a design day basis.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

Now, I just want to go through, and perhaps the best way to do this is to pull up KT1.1, which is the Panhandle Reinforcement Project System schematic.  I think it also appears in the main evidence, but I have it from -- that's it.  That's the version that was used at the technical conference.

I am going to be -- I think we should leave that on the screen.  I am going to be looking at K1.4, which is the opening statement from yesterday, as a guide to my brief cross-examination.

And I am starting at page 3, so if you want to follow along with what I am looking at, which at the bottom of the page talks about the topic of why additional imports at Ojibway are not a viable option.

So my understanding is that that part of the presentation and that comment is a direct response to an option which has been developing through the interrogatory process and the technical-conference process and, indeed, the motion that was before the Board for further answers put forward by at least FRPO and possibly other parties, an option which isn't directly included in one of the options that was looked at by Union in the main evidence.

Do I have the right understanding of that?

MR. REDFORD:  We're probably looking at different materials.  Are you talking about the 175 tJ a day alternative?  Is that --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MR. REDFORD:  Okay.  We're going off -- we're not going off the transcript.  We're going off the handed out copy.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's what I am looking at, too.

MR. REDFORD:  Well, we responded to that for two reasons.  One of them was -- it was included in the correspondence over the weekend.  There was a request for some schematics.

But we also, and I am just going to look up my index here –

 MR. SMITH:  Mr. Redford, just for clarification of the record, are you referring to correspondence -- well, you're referring to correspondence with whom?

MR. REDFORD:  Sorry.  It was the correspondence that was sent in by FRPO's counsel over the weekend.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.

MR. REDFORD:  I'm sorry, I don't know the exhibit number.

We were also asked in the technical conference to look at -- we also looked at how much more volume could be moved through Sandwich, not only 115 constant, which was JT1.6, and JT1.7 related to it.  They were both about the same quantities.  So we addressed both of those.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, as the presentation from yesterday goes on to page 4, it says:
"Let me start by saying that the lack of liquidity at Ojibway does not support purchasing supply at that point."

So if we look at the map, I can see the Ojibway hub site and that is what you're referring to, correct, the lack of Liberty at that site?

MR. SHORTS:  It would be the lack of liquidity at that point.

MR. BUONAGURO:   And that is in contrast to the Dawn point, which is at the opposite side of the system?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, that would be in contrast to Dawn, which is the second most physically traded hub in North America.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That is part of what I was going to ask you.

Can you explain in a little more detail, for someone like me who doesn't trade natural gas on the market, the difference between Dawn and Ojibway, in terms of liquidity?

MR. SHORTS:  Absolutely.  As I mentioned, Dawn is a very liquid trading point.  Over 100 counter parties regularly transact there, and it has been the second-most physically traded natural gas hub for quite some time.

It's very liquid; lots of parties, lots of buyers and sellers.  It's where storage is located.  It is a location where many marketers and customers want to be buying and trading gas at.

It's very transparent, the price.  It is reported on various trading indexes, as well as in Platts and other reporting agencies, and it has a tremendous amount of capability to take volumes in and withdraw volumes out.

There is also a well-connected integrated system of pipes coming into Dawn, as well as our Dawn to Parkway and this Panhandle system which come out of Dawn.

So there's a lot of activity in and around the Dawn hub that gives people the comfort to be able to trade there on a regular basis.

Ojibway, on the other happened, is not a hub.  It is just strictly a trans-shipment point, or a connection between the Panhandle Eastern Pipeline System and Union underneath the Detroit River near Windsor.

And it is not liquid.  There are not many parties, if any, that regularly trade there.  From a transparency perspective, that price is not reported or traded on any indexes.  It's not reported, for example, in Platts.

So it becomes very difficult for parties to actually contract there to, number one, find a party or, number two, to actually find a price that they can understand is actually reasonable.

So if you look at the physical nature, as well as -- the physical nature of the Panhandle system leading up to Ojibway, you've got one 16-inch pipeline that leads up through Indiana, Ohio, and into Michigan.  When it gets to near the connection or near the border, it is one 16-inch pipe that snakes through the suburbs of Detroit, crosses through a very industrialized part of southern Detroit, and then connects into two 12-inch pipelines that cross under the Detroit River.

So it is definitely not physically integrated, and it is certainly not transactionally integrated with the rest of the systems.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  So I just want to clarify some of the terms, because I suspect we're going to spend several hours talking about entities like Rover and PEPL and Panhandle Eastern, which I think are two the same.

So looking at the map, when you talk about there is only one -- basically, it is an interconnection between one system and another, you're talking about the PEPL system connecting to your system, the Panhandle system, I guess?

MS. DUFF:  Actually, every time you are referring to PEPL, could you just call it Panhandle Eastern, and then the transcript will differentiate from Union's system.

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, we’ve have had that issue.  Two times where we used the word "Panhandle" on both sides.

Yes, the Panhandle Eastern system would be that black line, where it says from PEPL to that Ojibway valve site which is on the Canadian side of the border.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  So that tells me that if you want to transport gas to Ojibway, you have to do it on PEPL or Panhandle Eastern?

MR. SHORTS:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And so when we talk about capacity on the Rover system, we're not talking about that specifically.  We're talking about a point, I guess -- I don't know if you would say upstream or downstream from there.

MR. SHORTS:  We don’t.  We’ve kind of lost the whole upstream/downstream thing now.

The Rover pipeline does connect with the Panhandle Eastern Pipeline System, but down in -- at Defiance, which is a point down in Ohio.  I know there was a map that we had actually that was included of the Rover system, which showed on it where it was that it actually connected with the Panhandle Eastern Pipeline System in the US.

So the Rover pipeline starts in basically south-east Ohio and Virginia, and then makes its way up through Ohio into -- and then connects with the Panhandle Eastern Pipeline System.

They have contracted, or at least they have a precedent agreement to contract for capacity on the Panhandle Eastern system to provide a service that they could get that volume then through to Dawn.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  When you say "get that to Dawn" -- and I am simply asking because I don't know -- I assume that one of the ways they do that is through Ojibway, and that is part of the new contract that you just signed with Rover.

They have -- they send gas from Rover into PEPL pipeline to Ojibway and then through the Panhandle system?

MS. DUFF:  Perhaps some -- I think there was a map filed, was it, with the technical conference, and I personally like that one.

MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, if you look at FRPO's motion materials, at page -- PDF page 12, I think, is the map that was referred to previously as someone's favourite map.

MS. DUFF:  That's helpful.  Thank you.

MR. SHORTS:  Thank you for the reference.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I looked at that map, but it doesn't have a lot of detail on the Union system, does it?  I think the Union system --


MR. SHORTS:  This pipeline is the -- is how the Rover pipeline interconnects with the Panhandle pipeline.  You will see where it makes that hard 90 degree turn, right at the purple line and that is the -- that is the connection with Panhandle Eastern Pipelines system.  And then they have a precedent agreement to actually move up to 75 to the border.

And now Rover has 35 with this recent agreement, to move 35 of that on a firm basis into Dawn.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Through your Panhandle system?

MR. SHORTS:  Through our Panhandle system on that contracted C1 arrangement that we just were able to finalize.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So --


MR. REDFORD:  Just to help out.  So the Rover pipeline starts in the producing area.  It goes to Defiance, and then 90 degrees up to Vector.  And the Rover pipeline is not being built to Dawn.

So in all cases, the Rover pipeline ends at Vector, and there they have an agreement for 950 dekatherms a day of capacity on Rover.

And that's called transportation by others.  So they would be contracting for transportation on another pipeline to get their gas to Dawn.

The same thing is happening at Panhandle.  So they're connecting at Defiance.  They would sign a contract to get to Ojibway on Panhandle, so Defiance to Ojibway.  And then they need the C1 capacity on Union's system to go from Ojibway into Dawn.

So in both cases, Rover is -- you know, if you consider it, it is more than a mile, but the last mile in to Dawn is all on other pipelines.

MR. SHORTS:  And I just want to add, one other important thing to note of Rover on this map, and it doesn't really show it very well, but when the Rover pipeline connects to Defiance, they also have contracts on Panhandle Eastern pipelines to move the bulk of the volume south.

So their first phase is to actually attach at Defiance through multiple 42-inch pipelines, and then more than -- I believe it is more than two-thirds of the total volume of Rover will then be destined to go south.

It's only the one-third which is the second phase of Rover that is coming north through two ways:  The purple pipeline that you see there that attaches to Vector, and then through the transportation by others on the Panhandle Eastern system to the Ojibway interconnect.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I find that very helpful.

MS. DUFF:  Just one question.  What is the relationship between the 75 and the 35?  I am confused by that.

MR. REDFORD:  So Rover has a precedent agreement with Panhandle for 75,000 dekatherms a day.  Or Panhandle Eastern, my apologies.  For 75,000 dekatherms a day.  It equates to about 80 tJs.

They were not interested in supporting a build on our system.  They were really looking to take advantage of existing capacity.  I think when they signed the agreement with Rover Pipeline that they thought that 75 or 80 tJs a day was available.  That's not the case.

So that's something that they will have to work out with their shippers, whether it is another path into Dawn or whether they're just going to move 35 tJs a day up from Defiance into Ojibway.

MS. DUFF:  And that 35 limit is also related to the precedential limit?

MR. REDFORD:  It is actually related to the capability that we have to accept gas in the summer, the 115 tJ a day number.

MS. DUFF:  Yes.  You did mention that.  I didn't know if there was also another relationship.  It is Union's ability to accept?

MR. REDFORD:  It is Union's ability to accept.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  Sorry for interrupting.

MR. BUONAGURO:  No.  Please, no problem.  Thank you.

Now, I am going to skip down to the third paragraph on page 4 of the presentation, the script, and it said:

"Union has discussed the issue of obligated flow through Ojibway with Rover Pipeline and, while Rover Pipeline would consider such an arrangement for up to 35 tJs a day -- which I guess relates to the 35 tJ agreement that you do have -- Union would still be required to control the supply by purchasing from Rover shippers at Dawn."

Can you explain that a little bit more to me?  What does that mean, that you would have to -- A), that you would have to control the supply, and B), you would have to do it by purchasing from Rover shippers at Dawn?

MR. SHORTS:  Sure.  The only way for Union to truly have an obligation is for us to control the supply.  And in the discussions with Rover, it was clear that the only way to do that was to purchase supply from Rover shippers at Dawn and then for Rover to operationally -- or let me rephrase that -- Energy Transfer and Rover to operationally ensure that that volume was actually delivered through the Panhandle Eastern pipeline's connection at Ojibway into Dawn.

So we would be required to have to purchase or arrange to purchase supply from that 35 from one of the Rover shippers to ensure that Panhandle Eastern and Rover could ensure that that volume would actually get delivered physically through that portion of their system.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, that requirement, put in that way, to purchase from the Rover shippers, is that connected back to the liquidity problem?

MR. SHORTS:  No.  You have to -- it has to be through Rover shippers, because they -- Energy Transfer and Rover have to ensure that there is physical volume that is being delivered to Dawn.  And so there has to be a market or an end-use market for that volume destination to be at Dawn for us to be able to obligate it -- for them to be able to obligate, I should say.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.

Now, I want to go to the motion-hearing transcript, because there's a particular way in which what I am starting to call the Ojibway alternative has been worded, which doesn't -- hasn't come up much in your explanation as to why it is inappropriate.

So I am looking at the technical -- sorry, the motion transcript.  This is at page 34, near the end.  This is Mr. Quinn speaking to the panel.  This is starting at line 25.  Yes.  So he says:

"Their Ojibway alternative was to buy the gas and maintain control themselves."

If I stop there, I assumed this meant in your main evidence you have -- there is a -- incremental supplies of Ojibway alternative that was discussed.  I assume that is what he is referring to.  Is that your understanding?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, that's correct.  In that alternative, we would have actually had the 34 of long-haul Panhandle Eastern pipeline transportation capacity, purchase that gas in the mid-continent or field zone area of the U.S., and delivered it under our control through to Dawn.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I believe if I remember correctly, that option had a capital cost associated with it of something in excess of $200 million as well?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  Anytime we have those increased volumes of that order of magnitude, it would require that significant facilities -- which in our alternative was about 235 million.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

But then he goes on to say:

"Our proposition is that, allow others to bring the gas, Union only incents them like Parkway delivery obligation, where other parties provide that gas and Union doesn't have to have the capacity to do it.  They are just incenting others to do so on a firm and obligated basis, precisely the way that Parkway delivery obligation works."

And I assume that much of the day is going to be spent talking about this type of option, but I don't recall seeing a very specific response by Union to this sort of option.

Is there any who can help me with this as we lead into the day?

MR. REDFORD:  Well, again, so an obligated flow at Ojibway, somebody has to control that into Ojibway.  And in our discussions with Rover, they're not willing to do that.  In fact, they don't have title to the gas.

So ultimately we would have to nominate -- or we would have to buy supply from one of the Rover shippers at Dawn, and then once that was -- that was done, then they would route that supply through Ojibway.

They're not -- when you look at -- and we have confirmed this with Rover.  Ojibway is not a delivery point on the Rover system.  It's not included in their tariff which was filed, and it is confidentially filed with FERC.  But they have told us that it is not -- it is not a primary delivery point and it's not -- they did not include it in their secondary delivery points.

So Rover didn't have any intention of having deliveries at Ojibway.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I am going to take you -- and this is the last bit of my questioning.  I hear that, and then I recall what I read in this letter.  And I am trying to reconcile the two.

So this is from the package that was K2.1, attachment 1, page 4.  I am looking at the second paragraph at the bottom.  It says:

"Further, if a delivery commitment is required for the supply on the 75,000 dekatherms per day, Rover would be happy to pursue such, including by providing the avenue for Union to work with the Rover shippers to accommodate that.  We stand ready, as we have for the last 18 months, to discuss this with you."

Now, this may be because I am not understanding what is going on at the level that you do, but that kind of sounds like they're willing to do something along the lines of what I will call the Ojibway alternative solution would suggest.

Am I misunderstanding that?

MR. REDFORD:  No.  Working with Rover shippers would be Union purchasing from -- exclusively from Rover shippers at Dawn.  Those are the discussions that we have had with Rover.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So that's purchasing gas at Dawn?

MR. REDFORD:  Correct.  So we would have to purchase
-- well, purchasing from Rover shippers at Dawn.

So, you know, one of the issues with obligated supply is, so first of all you are relying on refer to get built for November 1, 2017.  You are relying on it to be in service; if it’s not in service then there's no way for them to provide the service to their shippers, which is a risk to us.

When Rover shippers -- when the pipeline starts to be utilized, we have no idea what that utilization is going to look like.

There's no history.  As Mr. Shorts said, two-thirds of that volume is headed to the Gulf coast, which is a premium market.

So we've no idea how much gas will show up at Dawn, even for us to buy.  Even if there is a Bcf of capacity to Dawn, we have no idea what's going to show.

And then we're going to have to purchase from a limited set of the market at Dawn, which would be just Rover shippers.

Our view is they're going to know that, and they're going to know we're obligated and they're going to know that our next-best option is the Panhandle field zone and I think we're going to see a premium for obligating at Ojibway for purchases at Dawn.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And when you say that there would be a premium, presumably you're inferring that a premium would be unacceptably high?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  We think it would be at least equivalent to buying in the Panhandle field zone and transporting to Ojibway.

MR. SHORTS:  Mr. Buonaguro, just to add to that, this isn't the first time we have had an experience with trying to contract for third party services in replacement of facilities.

We did this -- we had this experience during the Burlington-Oakville hearing, where we were trying to service our Union CDA market. And it was pretty clear that during the three-year term where we were out in the market buying those commercial services, that our alternatives were fairly well known, and our costs escalated from $5 million dollars a year in the first year to about $15 million in the third year.

So the market does know, especially in this situation, what our various alternatives are, and they will price those accordingly.

As a marketer or supplier, they value optionality, and what they want to be able to do is to move the gas to the market on the day that has the highest value.

So in the Rover case, that could very well be the Gulf coast.  That is a premium market, and expected to be a premium market for LNG exports for the foreseeable future.

So the expectation is that, at a minimum, they will likely price it somewhere similar to the 34 cents or so that we have in the hearing here on a premium.  But we expect they may also add a premium for the loss of the optionality and the flexibility that they have embedded within their contracts now.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  Mr. Quinn, are you prepared to go next?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:


MR. QUINN:  Yes.  Thank you.  Good morning, Chair Duff, and the Union witness panel.  Dwayne Quinn on behalf of FRPO.

Interestingly enough, Mr. Buonaguro was helpful in starting my cross-examination to some degree, because I want to ensure that we have clarity, in terms of what Union is presenting as an Ojibway option versus what we, as FRPO, have been asking Union to consider.

And so in order to serve the Board and limit confusion, I believe it would be of some assistance to the Board to clarify what I continue to hear as when we make a request for incentive gas, Union says it has to purchase the gas.

First off, let me start with your Parkway delivery obligations.  Does Union have control and purchase the gas at Parkway?

MR. SHORTS:  No, we do not.

MR. QUINN:  So you understand when we're talking about our approach, that we're talking about incented deliveries to a point on Union Gas's system?  Is that correct?

MR. SHORTS:  The Parkway obligation is much different scenario than what we have in this scenario.

MR. QUINN:  I am going to break this down.  In the Parkway delivery obligation, it is in-franchise customers who have to obligate to Union and get their supply to Parkway; correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct, yes.  Those are in-franchise customers that we have a long-standing commercial and physical relationship with, yes.

MR. QUINN:  And in the past and more recently recreated, there's been an incentive given to customers or the shipper who provides firm service at Parkway, correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, that incentive was part of the settlement, because most customers wanted to move from Parkway to Dawn, and this was essentially a bridge solution.  The obligation premium was a bridge solution to get to the ultimate scenario which was no obligation at Parkway and just an obligation at Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  Well, that's Union's view in terms of the bridge.  But I want to be specific here.

The incentive that is paid is to provide a benefit to the shipper that recognizes that their firm deliveries help avoid facilities costs, is that correct?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SHORTS:  Any Parkway obligation that we incent for would help us to not have to have facilities in place to serve the load.

MR. QUINN:  So there is a benefit of avoided facilities costs?

MR. SHORTS:  There is a benefit of avoid facilities because of the Parkway obligation, yes.

MR. QUINN:  I want to make sure we're clear.  When I am going to ask questions as we through the morning, when I'm talking about obligated deliveries at Parkway, I would like Union to assume that that is the scenario that we're creating.

We can take to argument whether you feel you need to purchase or not.  But we're looking for economically incented deliveries at Ojibway.  Are you comfortable with that?

MR. REDFORD:  No.  No, not at all.  We're talking two different things.  On one hand, you're talking about in- franchise customers with a DCQ that are delivering at Parkway and meeting an obligation.  And on the other hand, you're talking about producers which we have no relationship with, and trying to obligate them at Ojibway.

They are two totally different circumstances.

MR. QUINN:  They may be totally different circumstances, but I am specifically referring to an economic incentive that is created which requires a firm obligation, not unlike a call service, Mr. Redford.

Mr. Redford, if we could focus on what we're talking about with the call service, Union can put in place an obligation on a shipper to deliver firm on their call, correct?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. REDFORD:  So the Parkway call again is for in- franchise customers.  You are talking about putting a call on shippers of which, you know, we have not purchased the gas from.  People are meeting an obligation to us at Parkway.

So I don't -- they're not the same thing and that's my -- that's my rejection of your thesis.  I just -- it's not the same thing.  It is a much more complicated piece and again, you're talking about us obligating deliveries from suppliers that we don't have a relationship with at Ojibway.

And in fact, they won't even have transportation on our system.

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Redford, you're jumping ahead, and I would like to stick with the economic incentive.  I am going to ask you to consider the art of the possible here, where you might want to make a distinction with Parkway.

This is a different service.  This is the Ojibway obligated deliveries. period.  It is not with in-franchise customers; I respect that.

But if Union were to offer three dollars a gJ for obligated firm deliveries, you're saying that you would not have a shipper obligate to you at Ojibway?

MR. REDFORD:  First of all, they would have to be able to do that.  Rover has said --


MR. QUINN:  We're going to walk through these complicate indications, but if you would allow me to --


MR. SMITH:  Sorry, Mr. Redford should be allowed to finish his answer --


MR. QUINN:  My apologies.

MR. SMITH:  -- because it is directly responsive.

MR. REDFORD:  Thank you.  So Rover, we have been in discussions with them and that is not how they're going to operate their system.

Again, Ojibway is not a delivery point, and it is not even a secondary delivery point at this time.

MR. QUINN:  Well, we're going to get through that in a moment.

So I am going to try to clarify as we go through.  When I am talking about obligations, I want Union to be able to understand that I am not talking about Union purchasing.  If Union wants to put some caveats on, which I hear you are going to try, we will take that as they come, but is Union clear that FRPO's proposition embedded in its motion was for Ojibway obligated deliveries?

MR. REDFORD:  Oh, I understand that that is what you're suggesting, and --


MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.

MR. REDFORD:  -- and I'm saying that we don't agree with it, and for the reasons that I talked about earlier, that Rover's not even built yet.  It is targeted for a November 1, 2017 in-service.  It is not in.  We have no history of flow or utilization on that pipeline.  And we don't know whether we can count on gas arriving or not, even if you incent it.

So I am -- you know, I'm -- I am leery to accept this as a proposal.

MR. QUINN:  Well, we can take some of that to argument, but my question for you, because it came up with Mr. Buonaguro again, the 175 MMCFD capacity from Defiance to Ojibway, that capacity is there today.  Correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Their system can deliver 175 MMCF a day across the -- across the river.  That's the most that they can confirm on a firm basis.

MR. QUINN:  Right.  So whether Rover happens or not the pipeline is not going away.  It still has that capacity.

MR. SHORTS:  The pipeline would still have that capability, yes.

MR. QUINN:  So somebody could potentially serve that route at 175 MMCFD, correct?

MR. SHORTS:  There could be possibly be someone who could potentially contract for capacity on that system to be able to deliver, but taking into account the already contracted capacity on the system, being the capacity we have, capacity other third parties have that have renewal rights, you would have to take that off of the 175 to see what was left.

MR. QUINN:  So if we use 60 as a number, Mr. Shorts, there would be -- 60 as a number that Union has control over, that would leave approximately 115, 120 in tJs that would be available to other shippers to use that capacity?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  You would have to then deduct other -- we do know of one other contract holder that does have renewal rights for 20, so --


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. SHORTS:  -- they have -- they have that right to their contract.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So would it be correct for me to conclude that Union needs the proposed facilities to serve the market demand in the winter -- I am speaking of the proposed facilities being your Panhandle application.

In other words, you don't need these facilities to serve market demand in the summer.  Is that correct?

MR. WALLACE:  Sorry, I am having trouble with my microphone there.

Those facilities are to serve our design day demands in the wintertime.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.

Okay.  I think if we can -- I think this would be the appropriate time to enter our compendium for the purposes of our cross-examination.  Parties were provided yesterday, I believe, to the dais.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, that will be Exhibit K2.2, the FRPO compendium.

MR. QUINN:  Dated November 19th.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.2:  FRPO COMPENDIUM DATED 19 NOVEMBER 2016.

MS. DUFF:  Yes, the Panel has it now.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  So on the first page I am going to try to refer to the pages numbered at the top.  It is an excerpt from Exhibit A, tab 4, page 4.  Starting at lines 19:

"Union has maximum capability to accept imports of 115 at Ojibway on a yearly basis, and this is a summer limitation.  This summer limitation is used to calculate new supply Union can take to Ojibway."

Correct?

MR. WALLACE:  This is the summer limitation for Union to transport deliveries at Ojibway -- to accept deliveries at Ojibway; that's correct.

MR. QUINN:  But this summer limitation is used to calculate the maximum amount of new supply Union can take at Ojibway; is that correct?

MR. SHORTS:  The 115 limit also limits the capacity that Panhandle Eastern Pipeline will sell with an Ojibway delivery point.

MR. QUINN:  But it is used to establish the maximum amount of supply that Union believes it can take at Ojibway; is that not correct?

MR. WALLACE:  It establishes the maximum amount of deliveries at Ojibway, whether it is Union supply or C1 or S&T activity.

MR. QUINN:  I'm sorry, I couldn't hear over some of the coughing, sorry, Mr. Wallace.

MR. WALLACE:  It is simply the maximum limit that Union can accept on a firm basis, in terms of its own supply and any C1 activity.

MR. QUINN:  On an annual basis?

MR. WALLACE:  It is the controlling limitation on that.  So all year round.

MR. QUINN:  On the annual basis?

MR. WALLACE:  Well, for the summertime.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I don't have this in my compendium, because I thought we would --


MR. REDFORD:  You are correct -- you are --


MR. QUINN:  Well, can you turn up Exhibit A, tab 6, page 7.

MR. REDFORD:  I was going to say, Mr. Quinn, you are correct, when you said on an annual basis we would sell annual firm contracts to 115 tJs a day.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I think we are going to turn up, if we can, Exhibit A, tab 6, page 7, line 13, and footnote 2.

Okay.  So reading footnote 2, it says:

"This would bring the total contracted Union deliveries at Ojibway to 94 tJs, which maximizes Union's import capability, given the 115 tJ limit -- which was the summer limit we just talked about -- and the existing renewable Ojibway to Dawn capacity of 21 tJs held by a third party."

So we have established, this is the limitation on an annual basis; is that correct, Mr. Wallace?

MR. WALLACE:  That is correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So Union then -- so Union then calculates the winter receipt capacity at Ojibway to 140 tJs, correct?

MR. WALLACE:  That is correct.

MR. QUINN:  But isn't the firm capacity for Union to get 140 tJs at Ojibway, it is established on the basis of the 115 summer limitation?  Or how do you get to 140?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. WALLACE:  So the 115 would be a limit in terms of an annual contract, year-round contract you could sell.  In the wintertime we have a higher minimum market that we could provide, we could offer on a guaranteed basis, so we could do some winter-only deals in that circumstance, short-term deals in that circumstance.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  What I would like you to do now then is turn up on page 22 of the compendium we have JT1.8, attachment 1.

Now, I have donned the glasses today because I am tired of reading small numbers and straining my eyes with my contacts in.  So if I could ask Mr. Gagner to focus in on what's called the system capacity section in the bottom right-hand corner.  I think this would help all of us to be able to see it.  Thank you.

So with 140, assuming that you could get 140 tJs at Ojibway firm, you don't need the proposed facilities to serve the 2017/'18 demand.  In fact, there is a surplus of 17 tJs per day.  Is that correct?

MR. WALLACE:  That is correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.

Now, I need to understand some of the assumptions that were embedded in this simulation.  If you can scroll to the left-hand side, Mr. Gagner, the Ojibway measurement station is listed with a design pressure of 1,868.

Can you help me with the source of that number?

MR. WALLACE:  So that is the pressure of the gas arriving at Ojibway in this simulation.

MR. QUINN:  So you’ve provided a source of gas at 140 tJs.  What pressure did you set the 140 tJs to come in at?

MR. WALLACE:  We didn't.  We set the flow and allowed the pressure to adjust to what it needed to be in order to receive the 140 tJs.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Would you take it, subject to check, that the pressure is consistently higher than that pressure throughout the winters?

If it helps, we can turn up --


MR. WALLACE:  Yes, I believe we have some history that would show that we have higher pressures, yes.

MR. QUINN:  If we look at the response to motion -- you can turn it up, if you would feel more comfortable, Mr. Wallace -- you provided the pressures at the Ojibway measurement station over the last three years, and the lowest pressure that was seen at Ojibway measurement station is 2188 on February 19th, 2015, which was your peak delivery on Panhandle for the last three winters.

MR. WALLACE:  Yes.  The schematic simply shows the pressure we would require in order to bring in that 140 on design day, and meet market -- and serve the market.

MR. QUINN:  But that isn't necessarily the way the system operates?

MR. WALLACE:  Oftentimes they will have different pressures, yes.  This is just basically what we required in the simulation.

MR. QUINN:  So the pressure constraints in your model are Brighton Beach at 1725; the reference for that is FRPO 8.  Would you agree with that?

MR. WALLACE:  1725 sounds correct, yes.

MR. QUINN:  And Leamington north at 2275?

MR. WALLACE:  That is correct.

MR. QUINN:  Correct.  Having said that then, if you could turn the page to page 23, we move to the 2122 model.

Again, if we can start with -- actually, this time start with the Ojibway measurement, thank you.

I still see this 1883; the last one was 1868, for reference.  So again, you have allowed the pressure to fluctuate at Ojibway, but only -- but set the supply to be at 140,000 tJs -- sorry, 140,000 gJs?

MR. WALLACE:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  So in this case, what you are showing is a shortfall of 30,000 for 2122.  But can I ask what the limiting factor was to not have additional flow come from Dawn on that day?

MR. WALLACE:  The main factor was the fact we didn't have the additional facilities required in order to get that gas to the market.

MR. QUINN:  What limitation can you see on this design day delivery that says that incremental flow cannot reach the Panhandle system?

MR. WALLACE:  It is simply a matter that there is not enough facilities.  There is too much pressure loss between Dawn and the market, in absence of any reinforcements, to allow the demands to be served.

MR. QUINN:  But your pressure at Cumber is still 3055, significantly above the 2275 needed at Leamington north?

MR. WALLACE:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, there seems to be some challenge with the simulation.  But we had requested a simulation be done with 175 firm, and that was part of our request to Union to have in advance of this dialogue today.

I understand that you have not run that -- or have you run that simulation, Mr. Wallace?

MR. WALLACE:  I probably know the result in terms of shortfall, if that is what you want to talk about.

MR. QUINN:  I guess my question is: Have you run that simulation?

MR. WALLACE:  We have run a scenario.  We have not had the opportunity to update our schematics.

MR. QUINN:  So how long would that take, sir?

MR. WALLACE:  A matter of hours, I would think, at this point.

MR. QUINN:  Could we have an undertaking for that?

MS. DUFF:  Is this the question that you, when you filed your compendium on the cover letter, mentioned this request?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Smith?

MR. SMITH:  Well, we can obviously provide the schematic, if my friend would like.  The concern I have around the schematic is really that I don't think that my friend has established that there's any factual basis for it, other than it's a number and it is something that he has requested.

In other words, it is not from Union's perspective -- I don't think my friend has yet established in cross-examination that it is a realistic scenario, or an alternative that Union would see as viable.

My friend hasn't asked the question surrounding that.  And so I guess my answer to it is we can provide it; that isn't a problem.  But Mr. Wallace can talk to the results of it, and we can talk to why we don't think it is a realistic scenario.

But if despite that, the Board thinks it would be useful to provide the schematic, we will do that.

MS. DUFF:  The difference between -- you said that you had already run the scenario, but you hadn't done the schematic.  Could you explain the difference between the two?

MR. WALLACE:  The scenario is simply the simulation.  The schematic involves -- it is not an automatic data population.  We have to literally transfer all of the numbers in, and it just takes a little bit of time in that sense to do that.

MR. SMITH:  It's a manual exercise.

(Board panel confers)

MS. DUFF:  Well, I think, given that we already have some schematics here, I think it would be appropriate to have some point of comparison, feasible versus viable as a submission.

MR. SMITH:  That's fine.  We will provide it.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, the undertaking is J2.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.1:  WITH REFERENCE TO PAGE 22 OF THE COMPENDIUM, SHOWING JT1.8, ATTACHMENT 1, TO RERUN THE SIMULATION WITH 175 FIRM

MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, I agree that it is a matter of argument.

I would, perhaps through you, ask Mr. Quinn, though -- I don't think it is appropriate to simply put the matter to argument without establishing through the witnesses whether they agree with the simulation or not.

So I do think at some point, it is incumbent upon Mr. Quinn to ask that question and to ask Union for its response to it.  I don't think it should be left for argument, because we will be left creating evidence in our arguments, which doesn't strike me as appropriate.

MR. MONDROW:  Madame Chair, if I could --


MS. DUFF:  Mr. Mondrow?

MR. MONDROW:  I know it is unorthodox, but I have been listening to Mr. Smith's comments and I certainly understand them and I don't fault him for making them.

But Mr. Quinn and others of us have been after this scenario for some several weeks, perhaps several months.

The rest of today will be spent testing the various positions of Union as to why this scenario is not feasible.  And I am pretty of confident that by the end of the day, there will be lots of information on the record crystallizing the debate about feasibility of this Ojibway firm import scenario or not.

Union has offered several reasons, in different formulations over the course of thousands of pages of evidence, why in is not feasible, and we're all trying to test that today.

So to require Mr. Quinn to encapsulate in a couple of sentences his position on feasibility, I think, is unrealistic.  I appreciate the panel has asked Union to provide the schematics, and Union has agreed to do so.

And I suggest, with respect to bowing the panel and Mr. Smith, that we proceed through the cross-examinations and argue about the feasibility of this incentive approach.

MR. SMITH:  I have no concerns with what Mr. Mondrow is saying, because what I take him to be saying is we will give you lots of opportunity to explain why you don't agree with the 175.

My observation was simply I didn't want that -- I don't know what my friends are going to ask, but I didn't want that to go unasked.  I now understand it is going to be asked, maybe many different ways, which is fine.  It doesn't matter to me whether it is asked once or four times.

I would say the first time we received the request for the 175 was Saturday evening.  So I don't understand Mr. Mondrow's request or comment about weeks.  But be that as it may, it doesn't matter.  We're going to provide it and it looks like there will be lots of questions.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  If is a few hours, is it possible to have it today?  Because there is no point, again, of having an undertaking provided after we are complete.  So if you could confer with your witnesses that it could be available today?

MR. SMITH:  It may well be, yes.  That is certainly our objective.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Quinn, please proceed -- well, we're getting close to a break.

MR. QUINN:  I was going to ask you, Madam Chair.

MS. DUFF:  Were you going to ask me?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  I think this is an appropriate time to break.  We will break for 15 minutes -- and my goodness, that clock is right on time.  I don't know how that happened.  But we're going to give us two more minutes and meet at ten after.
--- Recess taken at 10:53 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:13 a.m.

MS. DUFF:  Please be seated.  Okay.  Does that microphone not work?

MR. REINISCH:  No.

MS. DUFF:  It seems to be unfortunate.  No, we're not hearing...

MR. REINISCH:  Oh.  It is flashing red.

MS. DUFF:  Commissioner Gordon.

[Laughter]

Anyway, I'm sorry, you shouldn't be uncomfortable or put at a disadvantage.  We will see what we can do about that later.  But thank you.

Okay, Mr. Quinn, are you ready to proceed?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.
Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:

What I want to do in this section is just go through what Union looked at in terms of alternatives, and one of the alternatives Union looked at was increased supplies at Ojibway.  Correct?

MR. WALLACE:  That is correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  In the third page of our compendium, if you can take a look at Exhibit A, tab 6, page 8 of 15.

MR. WALLACE:  Just for clarification, Union looked at increased supply in concert with facilities.

MR. QUINN:  That's right.  I am going to walk through that, Mr. Wallace, starting at line 14.  Will you let me know when you have that?  So page 3 of the compendium, line 14.  Do you have that?

MR. WALLACE:  Yes, we do.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  To serve the incremental demand at 106 tJs you assume 34 tJs to come from Ojibway and the remaining 72 to come from Dawn, correct?

MR. WALLACE:  That is correct.

MR. QUINN:  So to bring 72 tJs from Dawn, you would require new pipelines totalling 55 kilometres with varying diameters plus other facilities, and I get the 55 kilometres from the sum of 27 kilometres of 16-inch, 16 kilometres of 12-, and 12 kilometres of 6-inch pipe identified on Exhibit A, tab 6, page 11 of 15, which is on the page 6 of our compendium.

Can you verify that those are the numbers?  You will find them toward the bottom of page 6.

MR. WALLACE:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. QUINN:  So then if you turn to page 7 on lines 5 and 6, the total for these facilities is $235 million.  Is that correct?

MR. WALLACE:  That is correct.

MR. QUINN:  Now, with your Panhandle proposal, as you have applied for it, Union is proposing to add only 40 kilometres of new pipe in the application to bring 106 tJs from Dawn.  Is that correct?

MR. WALLACE:  That is correct.

MR. QUINN:  So you didn't look at an alternative that has the entire 106 tJs coming from Ojibway.  Is that correct?

MR. WALLACE:  We looked at an alternative.  We nodded to an alternative -- I am not going to be able to find the reference -- where we looked at serving the entire demand of 106 tJs through increased Ojibway supply only in the absence of any facilities on design day.

And I believe -- and again, I'm not going to be able to find the reference right away, but I believe we said we needed 195 tJs of incremental deliveries in order to do so -- or in total deliveries, sorry, in order to do so.  Oh, sorry -- IGUA 9?  Maybe that helps to turn up IGUA 9.

MR. QUINN:  I'm sorry.  I think -- okay, we will go to IGUA 9, but I didn't even understand what you said, Mr. Wallace, so you might have to help us with that.

MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, I'm not sure if you are having any trouble hearing Mr. Wallace or if his microphone is working properly, but -- he may just be soft-spoken, but I am having some trouble, and I assume Mr. Quinn is as well.  So I would maybe just ask Mr. Wallace to speak a little louder.

MR. WALLACE:  I will do so.  Apologies.

So in IGUA 9 we were asked if there were any alternatives to the project that Union discussed -- or that Union had considered but did not discus in the evidence, and we did respond in 9(b) to say we explored serving the entire 106 tJs of market growth through incremental gas supply delivered at Ojibway, and it required approximately 195 tJs a day, essentially, of deliveries obligated at Ojibway in order for us to serve that demand in the absence of any facilities on design day.

Now, that doesn't come in the absence of any facilities, but it is any facilities on design day.  There are still facilities required to operationalize that volume of gas --


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, we've already -- we are looking forward to the 175.  I am not going to ask you to provide a schematic for that, although I think actually there might be one in the record.

I am going to turn you to a different reference.  If you could turn up the responses to the FRPO motion dated October 28th, 2016.  It is attachment 2, page 8 of 53.  I think we have to go there, so it is not in my compendium.  Page 8 of 53.

So the last paragraph in the first line says:

"These facilities would result in an incremental capacity of 98 tJs per day."

And the last two lines say:

"Union's cost of the project would be $64.3 million."

Is that correct?  If you look at scenario 2, yes, if you just flip down a little further, Mr. Wallace.

MR. WALLACE:  Give me a moment to read it, please.

MR. QUINN:  Sorry, $74.3 million, for scenario 2.

MR. WALLACE:  We are speaking in this scenario about providing Ojibway to Dawn service.

MR. QUINN:  And that would create the ability to take 98 -- or, sorry, the 98 tJs a day more year round?  Is that correct?

MR. WALLACE:  Yes, I believe that is correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So if the incremental capacity at Ojibway needed is 106 instead of 98, the capital costs would be increased somewhat, but not to the tune of $235 million.  Would you agree with that?

MR. WALLACE:  So the capacity of 106 is what is -- that's the sum of the incremental demands on the system.

MR. QUINN:  I understand.  And so --


MR. WALLACE:  It is not the capacity that we require at Ojibway in order to service those demands.

MR. QUINN:  If you were trying to get 106 at Ojibway, increment above the 98, the 98 costs you $74.3 million.  If you had to come up with a facility alternative to allow an extra 8 tJs a day, you would not reach a total cost of $235 million.  Correct?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. WALLACE:  I'm having a little trouble drawing the corollary here between scenario 2 and what we are trying to accomplish in our discussion here.

MR. QUINN:  I am asking you to base it on scenario 2 and an incremental cost to deliver 8 tJs more.  Would that cost another $160 million?

MR. WALLACE:  So in scenario 2, I am not trying to serve a market.  I am trying to move -- and again, in this case, incremental 98 tJs a day from Ojibway to Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  That is what my question is.  That way you could take year round capacity, correct?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. WALLACE:  So, again, I am looking -- to serve 106 tJs of demand of incremental market, I need 195 tJs a day of supply.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  That's not the scenario that I am asking about.  I am asking about the scenario that you studied and at 98 tJs, your cost of $74 million.  I am going to ask one more time, and then I will move on.

 Would you believe that it would cost another $160 million for 8 additional tJs?

MR. REDFORD:  I think we are comparing apples to oranges.  I don't think scenario 2 really relates to the 106 tJs in the market that we're looking to serve now.

This was something that we did very early in the process, in talking with Panhandle Eastern, or Energy Transfer Partners, and it was really about can we move more gas into the system?

I think they're not the same scenarios that we're talking about.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I believe they are.  So I am going to leave it to argument, Mr. Redford, because I respect the Board's time, and we have more things to cover with the new information.  So I will move on.

MS. DUFF:  Just a point of clarification before we do.  Please explain to me the exactly what the $74 million includes in scenario 2, because it seems to be proposed that you could deduct that from the 235 to find out the difference, and I am trying to understand that scenario.

MR. WALLACE:  Yes.  In scenario 2, the breakdown of that 74 million cost is just a little bit lower on the page and on to the top of the next page.

 So it accounts for replacing the river crossing with the new river crossing and 20-inches of increased MOP, looping with the 20-inch pipe from Ojibway to Sandwich Compressor, and increasing the horsepower as Sandwich compressor.  That comes to a total cost of just over $74 million.

MR. QUINN:  Just while we have that -- sorry, are you finished, Chair Duff?

MR. REDFORD:  Just to go back to my comment earlier, I would like to point out that it is a different scenario.

And as I look at the lead-in on page 7 and the background, this was entirely our early discussions with Panhandle Eastern and Energy Transfer Partner, and it was more about what could they bring across the river.

It did not take into account the growth in the market that this application is addressing.  So they are two totally different scenarios.  This is not -- this was never done to address the market growth.

 I can tell you that because at the time, we had treated -- we were talking to Panhandle and we were looking at the markets, and they were two separate pieces.  They were never looked at together.  We had a request from Panhandle and then Jackie Ms. Caille's group was addressing the market issue.

So this isn't a scenario that we could serve the Leamington/Kingsville markets from.  And I can tell you -- sorry, Mr. Quinn -- it was never intended to be so either.

MR. QUINN:  I am going to carry on, and then I may come back to that point.

 Can you turn up exhibit A, tab 5, page 2 of 21?

MR. WALLACE:  Reference again, please?

MR. QUINN:  Exhibit A, tab 5, page 2 of 21.

MR. WALLACE:  We've got it.

MR. QUINN:  For design purposes, you assumed that no C1 is flowing, correct?

MR. WALLACE:  That is correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  However, Union does rely on firm third party deliveries at Parkway to avoid additional facilities costs on that path, correct?

MR. WALLACE:  That is correct.

MR. QUINN:  And Union has been doing that for decades and recently reviving an incentive to avoid facilities costs, correct?

MR. WALLACE:  I'm not sure I am best able to speak to that history of incentive there.

MR. SHORTS:  We have had various incentives, et cetera, related to the requirement for a Parkway obligation.

The difference certainly is the fact that within a Parkway obligation, we are serving in-franchise customers who have arrangements that are dependent on them delivering that gas at the Parkway point.

MR. QUINN:  Because of their contract, correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Because of their contract.  So those customers, within their contract, also have a physical need at their location.

So when those customers do not deliver, they risk not having service at their location, to the extent that they do not deliver their volumes at Parkway.

MR. QUINN:  I am going to move forward.  So if there is a service that has a must-nominate feature -- in other words, shippers receive a financial incentive to deliver firm every day of the winter -- would you include that for design purposes?

MR. REDFORD:  I will deal with the hypothetical first.  The answer would be if people were obligated, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

MR. REDFORD:  Let me deal with the second part.  So as Mr. Shorts explained, with the Parkway obligation, their in-franchise customers and the recourse for not delivering is that they don't get supply.

This is a completely different scenario.  If you obligate somebody at Ojibway and they fail to deliver, and we need that supply to meet design day demand, no penalty is going to help you.

So you have to go on an illiquid market at Ojibway to try and find supply to replace it, and that is a problem.  That's a significant concern for us with any obligation of a producer or shipper to Ojibway, is that the recourse available to us on the day is not going to be enough to get people gas.

MR. QUINN:  The presumption in that, sir, is that you have not established a penalty in the contract.  Your getting gas at Ojibway is an ability to mitigate penalties, which is your obligation.

 If a shipper fails to deliver, that means the pipe capacity is there, correct?

MR. REDFORD:  Oh, the pipe capacity may be there, and you're scrambling on the day to serve people in the south-western end of the province.  They need to burn gas and, under the Parkway delivery obligation, perhaps because they're in-franchise, we have the ability to take that customer and have consequences.

If we are obligating shippers at Ojibway, the only -- and they fail to deliver, then we're short gas.  And we're in the illiquid market at Ojibway, where there are only a few shippers to buy gas and it’s not –

 MR. QUINN:   Who would be responsible to pay for that incremental cost?  Would you not be able to transfer the responsibility to the shipper who failed to deliver?  That would be part of your contract, would it not?

MR. REDFORD:  Well, I am not sure how --

MR. QUINN:  Assume you could pick up a contract such that they would then be responsible.  Do you have the same concern?

MR. REDFORD:  Well, so somebody has an obligation to deliver and they fail to deliver, then they fail to deliver based on all of the alternatives that they can find to deliver, including buying supply for others if they have it and, if they hold transportation capacity, wherever their source is.

But failing to deliver is failing to deliver, so --

MR. QUINN:  Sir, you are making a number of assumptions in this, and I don't think it is helpful.

 So I am just going to ask you to turn up Union's response to FRPO's motion --

MR. REDFORD:  I would say they're not assumptions.

MR. QUINN:  Attachment 2, page 24 of 53.  The assumption I am referring to, sir, is that it is a peak day and all of the Doomsday scenarios that you have painted, there is going to be that type of urgency. So I didn't create that scenario; you did.

 But I think we're just going to move forward to page 24 of 53.  It is actually found on my compendium page 9.  Sorry.  Do you have it?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes, we have it.

MR. QUINN:  So this is a message from you, Mr. Redford, on August 7th, 2015, describing Union's meeting with Panhandle Eastern Pipeline.

The second bullet asked if Union has the ability to offer winter-only service above 35 tJs and what the terms of that service could be, and then the second bullet from the end asks, what is the cost and rate to handle 175 MMCFD total at Ojibway.  Do you see that?

MR. REDFORD:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  And I respect that Mr. Smith has parachuted in, so Mr. Smith, this is the source of the 175 in terms of the relevance from our previous request.

So it would appear Panhandle Eastern Pipeline was interested in increasing deliveries to Ojibway year round for up to 175 MMCFD and also interested in winter-only service.  Is that correct, Mr. Redford?

MR. REDFORD:  So Panhandle Eastern was interested in 75 MMCFD to -- through Ojibway into our system.  As I noted earlier, they have not been supportive.  They were looking for existing capacity.  They weren't looking to support expansion on our system.

So they were looking at the possibility of 75 million Ojibway to Dawn, and we were looking at a winter-only capacity as an option, C1 as an option.

The 175 was a result of our discussions that came back -- you know, we had always used the presidential permit as the kind of the ultimate capacity, but Panhandle came back to us and said, Look our maximum capacity is 175 MMCFD to the river.


MR. QUINN:  And they said -- and we can flip back if you need to review it again, but they said that they could increase the permit if necessary, correct?

MR. REDFORD:  They could increase the permit.  They would have to go to the U.S. government to do so.

MR. QUINN:  That was part of scenario 2, the bottom of scenario 2.  So I am going to move forward --


MS. DUFF:  What permit is that?  You want to just clarify?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  The presidential permit is issued by FERC, and it limits the amount of exports and imports in and out of the United States.  So if their presidential permit was for 195 MMCFD a day, then that is a "must not exceed".

MR. QUINN:  And that is subject to application to increase should they need it.  Correct?

MR. REDFORD:  They could apply to increase it.  They would have to build significant facilities on the Panhandle Eastern system to do so.

MR. QUINN:  Well, let's take it one step at a time.  It can be increased as necessary and the steps we're going to get to.

The bullet does say, though, "what is the cost and rate to handle 175 MMCFD", and if you will notice, they clarified 115 MMCFD Ojibway to Dawn, plus the 60 MMCFD delivery at Ojibway for in-franchise.

Now, I know the units don't exactly work out between MMCFD and tJs, but they are acknowledging that you have -- Union controlled 60 units at Ojibway for in-franchise, and they're looking for the incremental 115 of C1 capacity, potentially.

Is that not a correct interpretation of that bullet?

MR. REDFORD:  No, it isn't.  I think -- so these were action items for Union from the meeting.  So these are -- we probably -- well, I think what we talked about is 175 MMCFD were the total deliveries at Dawn, and then the question was, is, if that is the case -- and then what does that look like?

I don't think you can -- I don't think you can necessarily read in that that was the desire of Panhandle Eastern to take 115 MMCFD a day, because that wouldn't include -- I mean, if you look at the 60 MMCFDs, at the time we would have counted on holding all of our Panhandle Eastern contracts, but there are others that hold contracts as well on Panhandle Eastern.

So it was not -- it was not intended to relay a desire of Panhandle Eastern to expand to 115 MMCFD.  That was us doing some scenarios so we could understand what that meant on our system.

MR. QUINN:  To clarify, Panhandle Eastern Pipelines' capacity to Ojibway is 175 MMCFD.  Correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, the ability for them -- the amount of gas that will actually get across the river and hit our system is 175.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  So I am going to -- it is your understanding, though, that Panhandle Eastern is not adding any facilities on its system to increase capacity between Defiance and where it interconnects to -- where it interconnects to Rover and the Ojibway point.  Is that your understanding?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, that is our understanding.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  If there were such a service, Union doesn't need to buy gas at Ojibway.  Correct?  If you were buying your 60 and somebody else is transporting 115, Union doesn't have to buy the 115, correct?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. REDFORD:  So is your question, could Union contract for the 115 for transportation capacity?

MR. QUINN:  No.  I am saying that others could provide.  So my question again is:  If there were such a service, so if the 115 is available, Union doesn't have to buy gas at Ojibway for 115 to be delivered by a third party.  Correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Again, the 115 is the summer limitation into the market, and 60 of that we have assumed would have been continuation of our deliveries for the sales service portfolio.  So that's just to ground the -- what we're talking about.

MR. QUINN:  What we do know is the Panhandle Eastern Pipeline has the capacity that you've already confirmed of 175 MMCFD, correct?  Of which Union has 60.  So there is 115 left for other parties.  Correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. SHORTS:  So how Panhandle Eastern markets their capacity is, they will sell capacity to Ojibway to Union's limit of importation.  So they acknowledge that they will only sell firm annual...

[Witness panel confers]

MR. REDFORD:  I think there is a coincidental number here.

MS. DUFF:  They're both 115, yes.

MR. REDFORD:  They're both 115.

MR. QUINN:  I hate when that happens.

MR. SHORTS:  I hate when that happens.

MS. QUINN:  So that is --


MS. DUFF:  And they're both called Panhandle, yes.

MR. REDFORD:  So the question was, was the 115 available to contract?  And the answer -- that answer is no.


So we had assumed 60 MMCFD delivery for -- at Ojibway for in-franchise.  And then the -- and the 115, I think at the time we would have included the capacity that the third party owns that is at Ojibway as well.

So I think the question is, could you have contracted 115.  I think, no, we could have contracted 94, is really, I think, the answer.  Which is 115 minus 21, to be clear.

And I am not sure --


MR. QUINN:  The 21 being held by a third party at this point?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. REDFORD:  And then on top of that, Rover Pipeline has contracted for 75 as well.  So from Panhandle Eastern itself, the number would be much smaller.

MR. QUINN:  And that Rover number is part of the 115, though?

MR. REDFORD:  It is; that's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So I think we can move forward.

Is it your understanding that the Rover shippers are producers with stranded gas supplies in Marcellus and Utica regions and want to get their gas into Dawn?

MR. REDFORD:  I will say partly.  I think Rover shippers, we understand, are almost entirely producers.  It is a producer-push pipeline.

As Mr. Shorts noted this morning, the Rover pipeline is about a 3 Bcf pipeline.  Two of those Bcf connect into ANR and Panhandle Eastern, and that gas is going south to the south market down to the Gulf Coast.

There is another Bcf that is -- roughly Bcf that is going to go north up into the market area, which would include Dawn, but people would also have access to Michigan and other areas.

Do they have stranded assets?  I think that is very questionable.  I am not sure -- well, I would say -- I would say no in most cases.

So the producers that are in that Marcellus/Utica area have -- many of them have more capacity than just on the Rover Pipelines.

And in fact, a lot of them will -- and this is common practice -- a lot of the producers will take capacity on a pipeline, particularly a greenfield pipeline like Rover, and on day 1 they will not have enough production to fill it, and they will fill that production over time.

So I would say, you know -- can you categorically say that producers have stranded assets?  Absolutely not.

And I won't say that there's somebody waiting for this to be built, but generally, no.

MR. QUINN:  Am I correct to conclude that Rover shippers view getting their gas to Dawn as good?

MR. REDFORD:  We support more diversity of supply to Dawn, yes.

MR. QUINN:  But the Rover shipper' perspective, getting their gas to Dawn is good?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, I will just add to that, that they have a complete package.  Some of their gas is going to go to Dawn, but the majority of their gas is actually going south.

So their first -- their first obligation in the first phase was to ensure to fill the southern volumes.  Then the second phase of that was to have the volumes come north.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I am going to move forward because we're -- time is moving on.

If you could turn to page 24 of my compendium, which is page 70 of the technical conference transcript, and let me know when you have it.

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, we have it.

MR. QUINN:  Lines 15 to 19, Mr. Shorts said:
"Our understanding is that Rover is not going to have Ojibway as a receipt point.  The predominant flow on Rover will be through Vector and they will not be offering a Ojibway receipt point, only a Dawn receipt point."

Then on page 71, which is the next page, lines 14 to 17, Mr. Shorts says:
"It would be totally up to Rover to decide which path they were going to utilize, whether they were going to use their Vector path or whether they were going to use the Panhandle Eastern path."

 Do you recall that, Mr. Shorts?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, and I will make sort of a correction on the fly.  I used the term "receipt"; it should have been delivery in those -- in those transcripts.

MR. QUINN:  So if Rover has the unilateral ability to use their Vector path or their Panhandle Eastern path, is it reasonable for us to think that Rover could be incented to use the Panhandle Eastern path, if the price is right?

MR. SHORTS:  We acknowledge that we have spoken to Rover about the possibility of having an obligation to deliver, and they have agreed that they would facilitate looking into that option.

But they have also instructed us that the only possible way to do that would be to have an arrangement with the Rover shippers.  So if we had a supply arrangement to buy the supply from the Rover shippers and that would guarantee the supply that Rover could count on, then Rover could operationally decide which path, whether they took the Vector path or whether, for example, the first 35 could go through Ojibway.

MR. QUINN:  So did Union discuss a must-nominate winter service with Rover or Energy Transfer?

MR. SHORTS:  Sorry, we did not discuss a must-nominate winter service.  But we did ask for and discuss with them long-term winter-only service on Panhandle Eastern.

MR. QUINN:  But if the supplier wants to sell their gas at Dawn, Union could facilitate a must-nominate service whereby, by exchange, the gas arrives at Ojibway and the shipper then can sell at Dawn, with Union providing an exchange service to Dawn.

Is that physically and commercially possible, Mr. Shorts?

MR. REDFORD:  No.  I think what we've talked about already today is that the arrangement that Rover has described to us would be that Union would have to buy supply at Dawn from a Rover shipper, and then Rover will route that gas through Panhandle Eastern to flow at -- through Ojibway.  So that’s what --

MR. QUINN:  Do you have -- do you have that correspondence that would demonstrate that, Mr. Redford?

MR. REDFORD:  No, just our discussions.

MR. QUINN:  So this is a significant service, and Energy Transfer never put any of this in writing?

MR. REDFORD:  I am not sure it is a significant service.  It is part of our discussions here, but it's --

MR. QUINN:  We're going to --

MR. REDFORD:  They're moving a Bcf to Dawn, to Bcf to the Gulf.  So I am not sure Rover would consider obligating 75 MMCFD a day at Ojibway as significant.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I am going to stay with my flow and I will get to the package of what was delivered last night, and then we will come back to this point.

Can you turn up Union's responses to the FRPO motion, attachment 2, page 35 of 53, which can be found on page 10 of the compendium?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, we have it.

MR. QUINN:  This was an offer -- this was the offer Energy Transfer gave to Union on May 17th, 2016.  Is this the proposal referenced in the application at Exhibit A, tab 6, page 9, lines 15 to 19, which is page 4 of my compendium?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, it is.  This was the basis for that. And just to clarify, when they had provided this, we had further conversation when they had 38,000.  They had a miscalculation in their -- in the amount of gas that Union could receive, and which they understood afterwards was really only 34.

So that is why we included the 34 instead of the 38, because the 38 put us over the 115 limit that we had, the importation limit.

MR. QUINN:  We're almost getting to the summer limit, sir, so I think we will just try to stick with the script.

Can you turn up Union's response to the FRPO motion, attachment 2, page 51 of 53?

MR. SHORTS:  Is that in the compendium?

MR. QUINN:  I don't have it marked in the compendium.  My mistake -- it is page 8 of the compendium.

MR. SHORTS:  That being the July 28th letter?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.  This is another offer from Energy Transfer on July 28th, 2016, is that correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  After some discussions between Union and Energy Transfer, in this offer Energy Transfer is still asking Union to renew its existing contracts, totalling 57 dekatherms, correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Instead of asking Union to take a new contract on Panhandle Eastern or Energy Transfer, Energy Transfer is to contract for new C1 from Ojibway to Dawn, is that correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, that was what they had been requesting.

MR. QUINN:  So looking at the May 2016 and July 2016 offers from Energy Transfer, it appears Energy Transfer's first choice was taking the gas to Ojibway only, and their second choice was to go to Dawn, correct?

MR. SHORTS:  No, that's not correct.  They had always had the intent of wanting the capacity on the Union C1 contract.

MR. QUINN:  So can you show us, in what you’ve provided in terms of correspondence with Energy Transfer, where they had -- that shows that Energy Transfer wanted C1?

MR. SHORTS:  I will go back to the reference you made earlier -- and I don't have it in front of me, the follow-up to the meeting that Mr. Redford had the internal memo for, which talked about after the meeting with Panhandle Eastern, how much C1 capacity that they could actually contract for.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Would you just undertake to provide what reference that is?

MR. REDFORD:  I can provide some right now.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  



MR. REDFORD:  I didn't get all the way through the package, but on page 24 of 53, of attachment 2 -- and I think that is the October 28th response -- if you look at the top of the email, there is a second paragraph that says:  "ET was going to confirm the requested capacity given our 35,000 existing capacity limit, and their interest to support a project beyond that," and that is their desire to have a C1 contract.

If you go to page 28 of attachment 2, and you look at our November 2nd of 2015 proposal, on that page down at the bottom it says:
"ETP commitments.  Contract new 35 tJs a day of renewable Ojibway to Dawn transportation capacity on Union at posted C1 tolls."


So in other words, it is a C1 contract.

MR. QUINN:  And the comment to the right says:

"These would need to be addressed and calculated based upon the capital costs incurred by both parties."

Didn't I understand you to say that Energy Transfer was not willing or not desiring to support a build with Union?

MR. REDFORD:  I think that is referencing -- I think what that is referencing is, if you go up to two headings, where it says "Union and ETP commitment", it says "execute in-line inspection program on 12-inch river crossing pipelines", so that would be a shared cost with Energy Transfer partners.

MR. QUINN:  And they weren't interested in doing that, correct?

MR. REDFORD:  Yeah, I think their belief is that it is not required on the river crossing.

MR. QUINN:  They did not want to do it then?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  They believed it wasn't required, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So if I can get to you turn up the technical-conference transcript, page 8, in lines 16 to 23.

MR. REDFORD:  Is that in the compendium?

MR. QUINN:  No, it is not.  I apologize, some of this escaped the compendium.  We tried to keep it efficient.

MR. REDFORD:  Could you give us the reference again?

MR. QUINN:  Technical conference transcript page 8, lines 16 to 23.

I am moving now to talk about the ability to take firm gas at Ojibway, which continues to be part of the challenge, as I understand it.  So it is up on the screen.  You tell us:

"The ability to import gas from Ojibway is limited by the ability of the market to burn that gas and the ability of existing transmission systems or compressor station at Sandwich and other piping to move the remainder back to Dawn, and the import capability in the wintertime is 140 tJs."

Do you see that?

MR. WALLACE:  I do see that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Is there anywhere else on Union Gas's system where you have this type of constraint on the ability to accept deliveries by dictating the market must absorb those deliveries to establish a design maximum?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. WALLACE:  We do have a similar arrangement with our interconnection with MichCon and Bluewater.  There is not sufficient pipeline capacity to move all of that gas all the way back to Dawn.  We count on absorbing that in the market in Sarnia, burning that gas there.

MR. QUINN:  Does it provide a specified maximum delivery for firm contracts?

MR. WALLACE:  Yeah, it would set a ceiling.  It would set a ceiling on that.  I don't have the number offhand, but it would set a ceiling.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  In the package of the compendium, there's tab 2, which, we extracted information from JT1.10, the Ojibway physical deliveries.  And we netted off the total Windsor market from JT1.9 such that we have, in the coming pages -- which, I sent you an Excel file for ease of review -- the spreadsheet that created a comparison between Ojibway deliveries and the total market.

Did you have a chance to review these numbers, Mr. Wallace?

MR. WALLACE:  Yes.  I've looked at your numbers, and I have taken a look at your graphs.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So the numbers are from JT1.10 and JT1.9?

MR. WALLACE:  Yes.  Subject to check I will accept that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Sorry, I thought I sent it to you ahead of time so that we could verify that, but --


MR. WALLACE:  I believe that's true.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.

So I am going to move to the graphs, because I think the graphs are easier to read than dozens of individual delivery days during the winter.

So these graphs show the total actual receipts at Ojibway that you provided in JT1.0.  And that is essentially the top of the line of the blue area.

Can you confirm that, that that is your understanding?  Those are the Ojibway deliveries?

MR. WALLACE:  Yes, that's my understanding.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And what we've done is said we're going to subtract the total Windsor market, which we extracted from JT1.9, which is essentially the blue area between the top of the Ojibway line and the top of the physical deliveries less market.

Do you see that?

MR. WALLACE:  I do see that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So when the end of the green line is above zero, it means the receipts at Ojibway exceed the market in Windsor and you have to have that gas move east of Windsor towards Dawn.  Is that not correct?

MR. WALLACE:  That is correct.

MR. QUINN:  So when the end of the green line is below zero on the corollary, it means that you have had to move gas from Dawn to Windsor.  Do you agree?

MR. WALLACE:  That is correct.

MR. QUINN:  So can you help me, Mr. Wallace, understand -- and I am just looking at page 42, winter of 2013/'14 -- do you see dozens of days where the Ojibway deliveries are in excess of the Windsor market?

MR. WALLACE:  Yes, there are many days where the Ojibway deliveries are in excess of the Windsor market on your graph.

MR. QUINN:  So where does that gas go?

MR. WALLACE:  Well, any gas that is in excess of what the market can burn would transport back to Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  So it would be on its way back to Dawn.  But during the winter there would be a likelihood that it would be consumed in the Leamington area?

MR. WALLACE:  It would be consumed along the way.

MR. QUINN:  So looking at the graphs, can you explain to me, again, why you have a design limitation based upon the total Windsor market?

MR. WALLACE:  Because the minimum Windsor market in terms of -- absent of the Sandwich compressor -- is 35 tJs a day.  The Sandwich compressor can move 80 tJs a day, so that is a total of 115.

So insofar -- understandably, the gas moving back to Dawn can be burned in Leamington and along the way, but the compressor can only move so much of that gas back to Dawn or back into the 20-inch.

MR. QUINN:  So are you saying that the Sandwich compressor is on and is moving this gas back toward Dawn and likely being consumed in Leamington?

MR. WALLACE:  Yes.  I can say the Sandwich compressor would be on and moving the gas into the 20-inch towards Dawn, and on cold days it is likely being consumed in Leamington.

MR. QUINN:  So why, again, do you have a limitation using the Windsor market?

MR. WALLACE:  Because -- the Sandwich compressor can only move so much.  So the Windsor market does not include Leamington.

MR. QUINN:  It doesn't include Leamington.  But if the gas is consumed in Leamington and it is clear from actual past data that the Sandwich compressor can move enough gas such that deliveries are in excess of 140 tJs on several days throughout the winter, why is Union using a design limitation of the Windsor market?

MR. WALLACE:  So the compressor can only move 80 tJs a day.  So the Windsor market -- the minimum market in Windsor that can burn the gas on a one-for-one basis is capping that -- adding to that 80 to equal 115.  So the gas that is being consumed in Leamington, regardless of the market in Leamington, that gas is either coming back through the compressor or it is being served from Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  My -- I just want to make sure we have crystal-clear clarity on this.  You are saying the Sandwich compressor is moving the gas east of Sandwich.  We will start with that.  Correct?

MR. WALLACE:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  It may or may not get back to Dawn and it doesn't need to get back to Dawn.  It either is consumed somewhere along the pipeline or it goes back to Dawn.  Correct?

MR. WALLACE:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  So when we asked about a second compressor being added at Sandwich, we understood that you didn't want to provide us that undertaking because of concerns you had about our presumption of incented deliveries versus purchased supply.

Could you confirm that the compressor cost that was embedded in scenario 2, which you evaluated back in 2015, would give us a proxy for how much a compressor would cost?  3,800 horsepower of compression would cost approximately $12 million?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Smith has been helpful in providing a $31 million estimate that comes from JT1.7, I believe.  It’s at the top, Mr. Smith.

MR. SMITH:  JT1.7, yes.

MR. QUINN:  We're talking about $31 million.  Mr. Wallace, how much additional gas would that compressor move?  And could you help me, in comparison to the 3800 horsepower compressor that you had originally developed for $12 million?

MR. WALLACE:  So JT -- can I have that reference again?

MR. QUINN:  JT1.7.

MR. WALLACE:  So in JT1.7 was related to the request in JT1.6, which was to twin the Sandwich compressor and then provide - we provided a capacity, an increase to the import limitation, the summer import limitation on JT1.6, and then a price for that compressor in JT1.7 of $31 million.

And then your next question, sorry?

MR. QUINN:  What size was that compressor they assumed -- it’s a similar size.  So what size of that is in terms of horsepower?  I think it was 2.8 on your schematics, is that correct?

MR. WALLACE:  I believe it was a 4800 horsepower unit.

MR. QUINN:  4800.  So a 3800 horsepower unit is 12 million, as developed in 2015.  And the 4800 is $31 million?

MR. WALLACE:  So 4800, the 4800 horsepower is probably an ISO rating, and we're looking at summer scenarios.  We wouldn't be able to generate that much horsepower out of that unit.

MR. QUINN:  We're talking about winter --

MR. WALLACE:  I am trying to look at your comparison here again, sorry.

MR. QUINN:  We're talking about winter utilization to move gas, correct?  That is the application here, that you would be able to move the gas in the winter past Sandwich.
You're saying the compressor is a limit to that.  Adding a second compressor would eliminate that limit, correct?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. WALLACE:  Sorry, Mr. Quinn, maybe you could provide some clarity?  Mr. Redford and I were just discussing your graphs here.

The green bars that drop below the line, those are days -- those appear to be days when Ojibway supply cannot meet the Windsor market demand.

MR. QUINN:  Correct.

MR. WALLACE:  And the green bars above the line are days when the Ojibway supply is in excess of the Windsor market demand and that gas needs to then get into the Windsor market.

MR. QUINN:  Correct.

MR. WALLACE:  Generally, those would occur on shoulder-month types of scenarios, as opposed to a design day.

MR. QUINN:  Well, what we have here is the winter, sir, and I am seeing this -- looking at 13 and 14, I see consecutive days in December, January, February, and March, not shoulder periods, correct?

MR. WALLACE:  Agreed, depending on how you define shoulder periods, I guess.

So therefore, I guess on those days, what you're showing here is we had a lot of -- it is either C1 or S&T; I'm not sure what the right terminology is, commercially.  But there is a lot of Ojibway to Dawn activity happening in those periods.

MR. QUINN:  A translation of that is more physical supply is arriving?  It is in excess of the Windsor market, and it is leaving the Windsor market and going through the Sandwich compressor back toward Dawn, likely being consumed in Leamington.  Is that a fair summary?

MR. WALLACE:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. WALLACE:  And that Windsor market is larger.  We can see days over towards mid-December of 2013, for example, or early January of 2014 where the Windsor market is much larger than the deliveries that are arriving at Ojibway.

And we have to supplement the Windsor market; obviously, we have to send more gas into the Windsor market.

MR. QUINN:  I understand.  But on those days, especially when you pointed out the early January, there is not much physical supply arriving.  Therefore, gas had to come from Dawn.

MR. WALLACE:  So the deliveries, I guess -- the deliveries include all gas arriving at Ojibway, not just gas that Union has control or the ability to obligate.

MR. QUINN:  I understand.  But the premise Union has established from the outset is that they can only accept as much gas as the Windsor market could absorb.
This graph says that the gas can get beyond the Windsor market, correct?

MR. WALLACE:  Or the Windsor market is larger.  So, I mean, a lot of these S&T deals -- and my friends here can correct me, but insofar as we have a larger Windsor market, we can sell a short-term deal to -- a short-term Ojibway to Dawn deal.

MR. QUINN:  That wasn't my question, sir.  I am just looking for your confirmation that the gas is not staying in the Windsor market to be consumed.  It is actually leaving the Windsor market and being consumed elsewhere, correct?

MR. WALLACE:  That is correct, on those days where the green bar is above the line.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So you had alluded to the fact that, well, at some point the compressor is the limiting factor, how much gas it can move.  We just wanted to get verification that adding a second compressor would eliminate that constraint, correct?

MR. WALLACE:  Adding a second compressor would allow you to move more gas.

MR. QUINN:  And eliminate the constraint on the annual deliveries that Union can receive, because the limit that was established for the Windsor market has been increased in terms of the gas that can be received at Ojibway, correct?

MR. WALLACE:  That is correct.  The only two ways to do it would increase the market or increase the horsepower available.

MR. QUINN:  Well, the market is going to do what the market does.  But what the utility can do is add facilities to serve the market, correct?

MR. WALLACE:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I am going to shift topics here.  Madam Chair, I didn't ask early enough on the last break. Was there a time you had in mind for a lunch break?

MS. DUFF:  No, not today.  So whatever you think is a good time for you to break, that's fine.

MR. QUINN:  I have one more area, and then I am going to move to the new information that came last night.  So if we can cover this one more area, that is sufficient.  I will turn to you to ask -- I am in your hands.

MS. DUFF:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  If you could go to the response to motions that we have pulled up previously, and go to page 52 of 53?

MR. SHORTS:  We have it.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I'm -- it should be the second-last page.  Yes, thank you, Mr. Gagner.

Now, there is a phrase that may or may not help us in terms of looking at the package that was developed and distributed to people last night.

In this it reads:

"John, we have run the numbers, and I don't see us in a position to commit to a ten-year term at this point.  I think we may have to wait for the regulatory process to run its course."

Mr. Shorts, this was your e-mail to Mr. Reid at Energy Transfer.  Can you help us what you were referring to when you said "for the regulatory process to run its course"?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, for this hearing to finish.

MR. QUINN:  And how does that put Union in a different position to negotiate agreements with Energy Transfer after this proceeding?

MR. SHORTS:  I think the question was, at the time we could not obviously give them any more than the 15 that they had been looking for.  So they were looking for 35.  We could only give them 15.  And it was clear that they wanted a greater number.  And from our perspective, we did not want to potentially sell them some capacity without having our ability to have our gas supply confirmed and the 60 a day on a long-term basis.

MR. QUINN:  What were you presuming that -- what were you presuming, in terms of the regulatory process being completed, that would allow you to reconsider a ten-year term?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, we were never really in a position to commit to anything of ten years or greater.  We made that very clear throughout the entire process, that we were not -- we were not looking to make a ten-year commitment on their system, or greater, because they had requested up to 15 years at some point, and we did not -- we did not feel that we were -- it was proper for us to commit to ten years.

MR. QUINN:  "At this point", it says.  But then you said, I think we have to wait for the regulatory process to run its course.  So --


MR. SHORTS:  Well, it wasn't related to the ten-year alternative.  That was just related, in general, our ability to -- we were not sure we were ever going to get an agreement with them on our ability to retain our 60, which is what we wanted, and for their ability to get 35, which is what they wanted.

MR. QUINN:  But I am talking about the regulatory process.  How does that impact those numbers?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SHORTS:  I mean, we were certainly tied up within the regulatory process of trying to ensure that we had the focus on the case, and we really didn't have the extra time to spend trying to negotiate in the background while this was going on.

So our focus was, let's focus on our application, and then what we will do is we will have conversations about what kind of an arrangement we can make post the regulatory process, where we have proper time to go through and understand what they want, which was the 35, and what we required or wanted, which was the 60.

MR. QUINN:  So does your position change if the Board approves or does not approve this application?

MR. SHORTS:  The position doesn't change.  It really comes down to whether or not they could provide us with the assurance for our 60 and whether or not we still had capacity for 35 that they could provide.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I think, Madam Chair, that might be the best place to break, and I will address the new information that we received last night after the lunch break, if that's all right.

MS. DUFF:  Yes.  That's acceptable.

Let's break until 1:30.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much.  Members of the Board, I expect Mr. Keizer will be in this seat in the afternoon.  It is what it is.

[Laughter]

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  Thank you for advising us.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much.
--- Luncheon recess at 12:17 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:32 p.m.

MS. DUFF:  Please be seated.  Good afternoon, everyone.  Before Mr. Quinn proceeds, are there any procedural matters? 

Procedural Matters:

MR. KEIZER:  I believe there is one from the morning, Madam Chair, which is the filing of an undertaking with respect to a schematic that Mr. Quinn wanted to obtain. 


I understood we undertook to provide that on our return after lunch.  So we do have copies of that, which we can make available.  Unfortunately, we had to work with the printing that we had, so there's a little bit of smallness in the print.  But it is the best we could do in the time period we had. 


MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you very much.


MR. KEIZER:  We haven't filed it on RESS yet, but we will this afternoon. 


MR. QUINN:  I am wondering if it may help, Madam Chair, of -- I know Mr. Janigan has a challenge and he was going to come after me, before Mr. Wolnik.  We talked about that during the lunch hour.


I was wondering if he would want to precede me at this point.  I can take a look at this in the interim, and then potentially ask questions to the extent that it is not clear. 


If that would be acceptable?


MR. JANIGAN:  That's fine with me, Madam Chair.


MS. DUFF:  You will have to move your microphone down, Mr. Janigan. 


MR. JANIGAN:  Sorry.  Yes, that would be fine with me, Madam Chair.


MS. DUFF:  Okay, that's fine with us.  I am glad you have worked it out among yourselves.  Okay, Mr. Janigan. 

Cross-Examination by Mr. Janigan:

MR. JANIGAN:  Thanks very much.  Thank you very much, Mr. Quinn and my fellow intervenors. 


The first question I have is actually a question from LPMA, and it relates to the LPMA 17, Interrogatory No. 17, attachment 1. 


And looking at the net present value calculation, and the question is:   What discount rate was used to do these calculations? 


MR. HOCKIN:  The discount rate in the schedule is about seven percent, it's 6.93 percent, which is Union's pre-tax WACC. 


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I wonder if it is possible to redo the schedule using a discount rate of 3 percent? 


MR. HOCKIN:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.  That's an undertaking. 


MR. MILLAR:  J2.2. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.2:  TO REDO THE SCHEDULE IN LPMA 17 USING A DISCOUNT RATE OF 3 PERCENT


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.  Next I would like to deal with questions arising from my compendium from yesterday, and looking at K1.6, and looking at tab number 4 -- I'm sorry, page number 4, which is Exhibit A, tab 7, schedule 1. 


My question is with respect to the contingencies for this project.  And just from a rough calculation, the contingencies for this project look to be about 15 percent, is that correct?


MR. WALLACE:  That is correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  And what exactly are the contingencies supposed to cover?


MR. WALLACE:  The contingencies are intended to cover sort of unexpected unknowns that aren't included in the original estimate, things that we encountered along the way.


MR. JANIGAN:  How are the contingency risks mitigated in a project like this? 


MR. WALLACE:  As time marches on, and things become more certain in terms of what the costs are going to be, then our contingency values would drop at some point in time, once we have more certainty in the estimated final costs.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Are there other steps that you have planned that might mitigate the risks that are foreseen, that they represent?  Or this is simply a percentage estimate --


MR. WALLACE:  It is pretty standard at this quality level of estimate to have 15 percent. 


MR. JANIGAN:  To you use the system, I believe it is CAP, for evaluating estimations of -- sorry, AECE for evaluating estimations of projects and what level of certainty that you are at? 


MR. WALLACE:  No, we use -- I mean, we have our own methodology we follow, in terms of quality of estimates.  I believe we filed something to that extent in here; I just need to find that reference.  I think it is SEC 10. 


So SEC 10 lays out our four quality level of estimates.  Obviously, when we start with a project, we start with a magnitude of less than that.  There’s quite a bit of unknowns; we don't have a lot of subject matter expertise, input and no quotes and that sort of thing based on sort of historical experience, and we have a higher contingency level.


As we move down into to a pre-budget level, of which this estimate is at, we have some more details.  Obviously, we are well into the design, subject matter expertise.  We are getting quotes, we're getting bid documents put together, so we're comfortable at a 15 percent estimate. 


At some point in the future, when we gets all of our bids in and we're assigning contracts, we would have again more certainty and we would be looking to move to a lower level of contingency.


MR. JANIGAN:  So somewhere between three and four is Board approval, I take it.


MR. WALLACE:  Basically, on three is board approval, and we move towards four as we get closer towards construction.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I wonder if you could turn up the -- in my compendium, under tab 7, page 42 and in the subsequent page 43? 


Would it be fair to say that the costs of your proposal, as compared to the alternative of a combination of a new pipeline and incremental deliveries at Ojibway, are similar enough to be arguably the same?  I mean for the pre-2022 period? 


MR. WALLACE:  Yes, they're very similar.


MR. JANIGAN:  And would it be fair to say on an NPV basis, your proposal is less attractive than alternative to a bit of new pipe and greater deliveries at Ojibway if one is just looking up to 2022? 


MR. HOCKIN:  Maybe I can help on the net present value just for context.  The proposed pipeline has no gas commodity; it’s all pipe. 


The alternative has some gas commodity that comes in at Ojibway and in this case, it was 34 tJs of supply. 


The net present value that was included at the time was a minimum -- was the minimum contract term, which was ten years of the gas supply, and that was done at 30 cents.  And elsewhere in the evidence, there have been some revision on the 30 cents upwards somewhat, but it only included ten years of the gas supply cost. 


In retrospect, we probably should be looking at longer than ten years, given that DCF is overlook, in order to compare against a comparable term, and that would increase the cost of that proposal somewhat.


MR. JANIGAN:  For both alternative 1 and alternative 2, I take it?


MR. HOCKIN:  No.  It would only increase the cost for alternative 2, which is the only one that has gas supply costs associated with it.


MR. JANIGAN:  And that increase in costs would make the direct dollar comparison less favourable to alternative 2? 


MR. HOCKIN:  Correct.  So in the context of the DCF that was done, it was done over a 20-year period.  Every year that you add more gas supply cost to the comparison, you will end up having a greater divergence between the proposed pipe, which locks in the price, and the alternative which has an ongoing gas cost year over year.


MR. JANIGAN:  I take it that up to 2022, the alternative 2 would be -- would still be monetarily attractive? 


MR. HOCKIN:  For clarity, the 2022 is -- the reference here is the capital costs, which is incurred in that time period and then the capital cost, which is additive in year 2022.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. HOCKIN:  So 2022 is only an indicator that there is another lumpy piece of capital that's required in the alternative case.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  But in terms of incremental deliveries, you're saying that because you have to do it on a ten-year basis just simply because of the project itself, it would not be as favourable a comparison as shown here on Table 7-1.  Is that what you're saying?

MR. HOCKIN:  Correct.  You should do the DCF for the same term as your comparative projects.  These were done on 20 years, and so the gas supply costs should also be included for 20 years.  If you were to do a DCF based upon a 40-year view then you should have a gas cost in there for 40 years as well.

MR. JANIGAN:  A question arises, is if there's much uncertainty with respect to demand because of the climate change plan and greenhouse gas policies, why would alternative 2 not be the more prudent alternative at this time?

MR. REDFORD:  So I will start, and I will no doubt need some help as I go.

Looking at the transcripts from panel 1 yesterday -- sorry, not panel 2, panel 1 yesterday, I think panel 1 said that they felt that the risk to their forecast was low in the first five years and even over the medium-term was also low.

So, you know, I think -- I think the premise of the question is, do we think there's -- or should be maybe is, do we think that there is a need, pardon me, for a more conservative approach if CCAP impacts come in.  I think what panel 1 said was that they did not expect that even in the medium-term.

MR. JANIGAN:  So in your estimation, alternative 2 does not mitigate any significant risk that your proposal does not also mitigate?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  So alternative 2 -- alternative 2, you would need to build basically almost the whole project in the first year in order to serve that first-year load.

So in terms of scalability, there may be some, but not a lot.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Thank you, panel.  Those are all my questions.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.

MR. JANIGAN:  Oh, sorry, I have one more.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.

MR. JANIGAN:  Sorry about that.

Can you turn up page 46 of my compendium, please.  And Union proposes to record any variance between what is approved in rates for the project and the actual revenue requirement of the project in a new deferral account, then Union will dispose of any balance in the deferral account as part of Union's annual non-commodity deferral action disposition proceeding.

Why can't this account also be used to capture the cost allocation adjustment changes?

MR. KEIZER:  I am not sure if this is a question for panel 1 or for panel 2, given we had the cost allocation folks on yesterday.

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, if this panel can't deal with it, then that's fine.

MR. KEIZER:  We can just -- we can do it by way of undertaking.

MR. JANIGAN:  That would be fine.

MR. MILLAR:  So what is the question?

MR. JANIGAN:  Why can't this deferral account be used to capture the cost allocation adjustment changes?

MR. MILLAR:  And the undertaking is J2.3. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.3:  TO EXPLAIN WHY THE DEFERRAL ACCOUNT CAN'T BE USED TO CAPTURE THE COST ALLOCATION ADJUSTMENT CHANGES.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Panel.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Millar, did we ever file a response to Mr. Quinn's schematic?  Did I get a number?


MR. MILLAR:  It was marked as an undertaking, so it doesn't have to be marked as an exhibit as well.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.

All right.  Mr. Quinn.
Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  I had a similar concern, and then I noted that it was already marked as an undertaking, because I thought I had missed it.

What I would like to do, if I may, is just clean up a couple of loose ends from this morning and then address this simulation result and then ask a couple of questions regarding the package from last night.  So I think it flows well enough.  And Madam Chair, I will try to be expeditious, recognizing other people are waiting.

If you could turn up Staff 3, number 4, which is found at page 29 of my compendium.

MR. REDFORD:  Sorry, Mr. Quinn, what was the reference again?  What page number, sorry?

MR. QUINN:  It was Exhibit B, Staff number 3, sub-number 4.  Thank you, Mr. Redford.  Maybe I didn't say it that way.  So it is on page 4 of 5.  It is found on page 29 of my compendium.

MR. REDFORD:  29.  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Gagner has it on the screen.  Do you have that?

MR. SHORTS:  We have it.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So under number 4, "Union evaluated other commercial alternatives, including" -- focusing on number 2, it says "seek a firm Ojibway to Dawn exchange service".

So this service would have Union receive natural gas at Ojibway when nominated and provide the counter-party the same amount of natural gas at Dawn.

So stopping there.  Is that what Union would call an exchange service?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, that would be an exchange.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So in the event that firm deliveries were incented to go to Ojibway, would there be anything stopping Union from providing a similar exchange service for those volumes such that they could serve the Windsor market and a similar amount of gas then would be replaced at Dawn for transaction there?

MR. SHORTS:  I'm sorry, could you repeat that?  I lost the tail end.  Sorry.

MR. QUINN:  If firm obligated deliveries were incented to come into Ojibway, is there anything stopping Union from providing a firm exchange service such that the firm obligated deliveries would be used to feed the Windsor market and the shipper would receive gas at Dawn to be transacted at Dawn?

MR. SHORTS:  It is certainly possible, if we could arrange such a deal, that that could possibly be arranged.  I think the only -- one of the concerns we have is continuing to rely on deliveries at Ojibway, which, again, don't necessarily line up one-to-one with the market area requirements.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I think we went through some of that this morning in terms of the market area requirements and the expansion of the market beyond Windsor, so I think we will leave that for discussion at a later time.

The new undertaking.  Turning to the new undertaking that was provided to us -- thank you very much for providing the schematic, because the result is not intuitive.

So what I would like to do is take the new undertaking and compare it to JT1.8, attachment 2, which is found on page 23 of my compendium.

I don't know if you can put them both up on the screen with the small print, Mr. Gagner, so you might be -- oh, do you have -- oh, okay.  Well, I am glad Union brought some paper copies, because we will have to do this old-school.

Just digesting what I am reading here, Mr. Wallace, JT1.8, which is the simulation of the 2021 winter deliveries, with Ojibway supplies at 140,000, provided a shortfall of 30,359.  Are you following me so far?

MR. WALLACE:  I am following you, sir, yes.

MR. QUINN:  So when we asked for another simulation to add essentially 35,000 gJs, which is taking the Ojibway supplies to 175,000, and the total system requirement stayed the same.  The shortfall only dropped 16,000 -- not the 35,000 that was added, but 16,000. 

I am trying to understand that and I don't want to jump to conclusions.  But does it have something to do with a problem at Mersea? 

MR. WALLACE:  Really, the issue -- and this is sort of what I would call a tentative or proposed solution -- is ultimately we need to raise the pressure on the NPS 20 in order to utilize the existing assets that are in place to take the gas from the 20 into the market.

What we've done with Ojibway imports here is we have increased the imports by 35 tJs a day, that is 35 less tJs a day that has to be served -- of Windsor market that needs to be served from the 20 through Sandwich.

Now, there is an inefficiency in getting that.  That doesn't raise the pressure on the NPS 20 enough to get those molecules down into the market where they need to be consumed.  So we have gone over this a little bit at I think JT1 -- sorry, it might be FRPO --


MR. QUINN:  14? 

MR. WALLACE:  FRPO 15 and FRPO 18, if you would like to review.

MR. QUINN:  Actually, I would like to understand this us, because what you have at Mersea in J2.1 is a pressure of 2285 versus a pressure of 3134 in the previous analysis you did for JT1.8. 

What is constraining the flow such that the pressure is dropping to that degree? 

MR. WALLACE:  Sorry.  Just give me a second to find my numbers here. 

MR. QUINN:  Those numbers don't make physical or intuitive sense.  If you are taking less gas into the Windsor market, the pressure ought to increase as it did at Comber upstream.  It increased by 600 KPA, but the next downstream point decreased by 800 KPA. 

MR. KEIZER:  Can we let the witness deal with the first question, and then you can proceed on with the Comber question?  He is still looking at his numbers with respect to the 35 you initially raised. 

MR. WALLACE:  Yes, I don't disagree with you, Mr. Quinn.  I may have to take this off-line to check the Mersea pressure; it does seem unusual.

MR. QUINN:  Unusual?  Could I go so far as saying not possible?

MR. WALLACE:  It appears to be a transcription error between our model and possibly the --


MR. QUINN:  Well, I thank Union for providing this.  This is the issue, and I am sensitive to what the Board said in the past about having this information so we can ask questions on it.

The overall, the overarching question we are asking is why there is a shortfall.  And I think, interpreting what I heard from you this morning, you're making an assumption that Ojibway pressure just floats to whatever level will allow you the imports. 

But if physically that pressure is higher like it has been over the past three winters, you would not have that same constraint, correct?

MR. WALLACE:  Well, the volume of gas received at Ojibway and the pressure of the gas are not independent of each other.

So we set that on flow control.  If we wanted more pressure in these scenarios, if we wanted more pressure in Ojibway, we would have to accept more gas from Ojibway. 

MR. QUINN:  Well, right now you are receiving gas at over -- at around 2400 KPA, and the volumes are comparable to the 140 or the 175, and those are making it into the system and flowing, as we discussed this morning, into the Leamington area. 

MR. WALLACE:  Sure.

MR. QUINN:  So this is not a realistic --


MR. WALLACE:  So on design day, we're trying to keep the pressures in the -- I will call it the 3450 KPA market in the Windsor market as low as possible, so as to just satisfy the pressure needs of Brighton Beach.

So all we're showing on the schematic is under that scenario -- and what we're attempting to do insofar as doing that is retain as much gas on the NPS 20 as possible to maximize our capability to service the Leamington and Kingsville market.

So in this scenario, although it shows Ojibway delivering at 200 -- sorry, 1883 KPA -- sorry, the new one at 1884 KPA, that is really all we need from them in order to deliver that volume.

The volume we're bringing in is 175,000 in this scenario. 

MR. QUINN:  And that's the way you have developed your simulation to try to emulate a peak day.  But the reality is the pressure is and has been available at over 200,000 tJs per day coming into Ojibway at a much higher pressure.

MR. WALLACE:  I can't use that pressure to feed upstream, so to speak, into the NPS 20 which is at a higher pressure regime, it is a higher MOP.

MR. QUINN:  On a peak day, you can use the compressor, though, correct, to move that?

MR. WALLACE:  On a design day?  So in --


MR. QUINN:  So does this -- maybe that is the issue.

MR. WALLACE:  I can't compress -- I can't compress from this Windsor market into the 20-inch at the same time I am still feeding the Windsor market with the 20-inch.

MR. QUINN:  But you are not necessarily having to do that and I guess -- I think what we have is a design philosophy that maybe hasn't evolved to meet the operating conditions. 

So I would be satisfied for you to go back and check what happened with Mersea, and we will leave some of this to argument because I can sense -- this would be better at a technical conference, Mr. Wallace.  We could walk through this and I am respectful that the Panel has been giving us an indulgence here, given the situation.

So if you could double-check that and report back with an updated J2.1, that would be sufficient. 

MR. WALLACE:  I can do that. 

MR. QUINN:  Thank you. 

MR. MILLAR:  That would be J2.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.4:  TO PROVIDE AN UPDATED VERSION OF J2.1


MS. DUFF:  Mr. Quinn, you gave me an estimate, and you gave the panel of an hour and a half prior to the events of today.  We had a break for 20 minutes.  I have not added any pressure on you to finish quickly, so ask the questions you need to ask. 

MR. QUINN:  Oh, okay.  Well, the question -- I think we're talk about a design philosophy to issue, and I think that it is probably better left to argument as opposed to me saying to Mr. Wallace that I don't agree with his approach.

MS. DUFF:  I wasn't that I can making that comment in regard to that particular line of questioning.  I am just saying that our expectation -- what I may do at the break is actually take stock of how much time we still have remaining today to see where we are.


But I was just waiting to see where you are going to go next.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, thank you.

MR. KEIZER:  A question from the statement made by Mr. Quinn, what is it -- just so we know, we understand maybe the witnesses have been speaking -- maybe they're at cross-purposes, I don't know.

But when you say a design philosophy, I am just trying to make sure that, for clarity, what that meant and so we could make sure that if the record needs to be clear, at least for purposes of argument, we can have some clarity. 

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Wallace has established that the Ojibway pressure floats to levels that haven't been seen in the last three winters on a design day, and Windsor did have a 43.1 design day on February 15th, 2015, and yet the pressures were still well in excess of 1800. 

There is more pressure available than the simulation is demonstrating, and so I understand the limitation of simulations; they're to emulate potential scenarios.

So if we were back at the technical conference, I would be asking for undertakings done a different way.  But given this point in the proceeding, I think there is limited efficacy of doing that.  So I think we just have to turn it to argument that some of the constraints that have been placed upon these simulations aren't necessarily reflective of operating conditions. 

MR. KEIZER:  And the only concern I have -- and Mr. Quinn obviously can control his cross-examination as he sees fit -- but is that if we get into a stage of argument where we're talking about pressures and whatever else, you know, without the information having been put to the witness, I am not sure that it we'd be in a position to, for purposes of assisting the Board, be able to argue anything because we wouldn't have been able to respond in a way which is based on the evidentiary record.  We would be faced with an assertion.  But I just put that point out there. 

MS. DUFF:  I don't really know what we're going to be able to do at this point. 

He asked you to clarify what you meant by design philosophy and you answered that.  I don't know if there is anything the witnesses can say regarding those assumptions. 

MR. KEIZER:  No.  I raise it, I guess, in terms of just making sure that we had a clear record.  But I’ll leave it. 

It is Mr. Quinn's cross; it is not for me to judge it.  I think we have the clarity I think we need.

MR. QUINN:  We have tried at a number of junctures to get discovery, and we find ourselves -- I think at this point, I think there’s other issues and other people have questions on other matters.

I can take my concerns to argument and reflect them there.

MS. DUFF:  All right.  Please proceed. 

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  So this morning we talked about incremental compression at Sandwich and its ability to raise the capability of Union to receive gas at Ojibway. 

I guess in some ways I believe that we could rely upon something that was already in evidence, but Mr. Redford had placed some caveats on it.

So if we can just turn back, again, to pages 8 and 9 of 53 and attachment 2 in the responses to the FRPO motion.  This is the scenarios -- these are the scenarios that were studied in 2015 about adding compression.

MR. REDFORD:  Sorry, Mr. Quinn, what was the page reference again?

MR. QUINN:  Page 8 and page 9 of 53, and attachment 2.

I want to do this step by step.  Yes, if we could focus on scenario 2.  It is at the bottom.  In this evaluation, Union had looked at a 1,200-horsepower compression at Sandwich.  Is that correct, Mr. Wallace?

MR. WALLACE:  So in scenario 1, I believe the option we're looking at middle of page 8 is a 1,200-horsepower compressor at Sandwich, in conjunction with an increased river crossing, which would give us greater suction pressure.

MR. QUINN:  You said scenario 1, or do you mean scenario 2?  Because I am looking at scenario 2.

MR. WALLACE:  Scenario 2, beginning halfway down page 8 and moving on to page 9 -- okay, sorry, I am there with you now.  I am with you now.  My apologies.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I guess the question I am asking is, what is the incremental capability for Union to receive gas?  So how much additional annual and winter volume would Union be able to receive with those modifications?  I know you don't have it off the top of your head, unless you can reconfirm that the 98 tJs per day is that incremental capacity?

MR. WALLACE:  Sure.  So this scenario, if we flip back to page 7, we're building upon an existing capability of 115 tJs a day, in the table shown on page 7.

This scenario was to add an extra 98 tJs a day of import capability to that.

MR. QUINN:  So that would be year-round capability?

MR. WALLACE:  Year-round capability.

MR. QUINN:  So 25 more in the winter?  Using your same philosophy?

MR. WALLACE:  The adder in the winter is really based upon market, so --


MR. QUINN:  I think we just overcame that, though, did we not?  That if you're adding a second compressor the gas can leave the Windsor market and be used in Leamington?

MR. WALLACE:  Well, this is -- the difference between the 115 and the 140 is based on a difference in the market component, not what the compressor can do.  All we're saying here is we're increasing capability of the compressor by 98.

MR. QUINN:  So basically up to pretty close -- well, exactly the --


MR. WALLACE:  This goes to 213, the numbers on page 9.

MR. QUINN:  Yeah, 213, which is very close to the presidential permit.

MR. WALLACE:  Arguably in excess of it.

MR. QUINN:  By 2 --


MR. WALLACE:  It is there.  It is at it.

MR. QUINN:  Is the presidential permit in MMCFD or tJs?

MR. WALLACE:  It would be in a U.S. measurement, wouldn't it?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  So it's 211 MMCFD.  Would that not exceed 213 tJs?

MR. SHORTS:  No.  I believe it's -- pardon me, the presidential permit converted to tJs is 210, I believe.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  If that's the case then --


MR. SHORTS:  195 to 199 MMCFD, depending upon your conversion factor.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So that is different, that -- sorry, and the cost of that compressor is 12 million?  Is that correct?  If you go back down to scenario 2?

MR. WALLACE:  Yeah, that was the estimated cost of that compressor, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So when we asked in JT1.7, you provided a $31 million cost for a compressor.  And so my question is, because we thought we were going to be relying on what you had in this undertaking here:

"With the $31 million compressor, please provide the horsepower that you would be proposing and the amount of total summer and winter capacity Union could receive at Ojibway."

You have done the calculation of the $31 million cost.  There must have been flows associated with it.  So it is not a huge --


MR. WALLACE:  The 31 million compressor was to provide a 100 -- I think the answer in JT -- I think the answer in -- whatever the undertaking was, was that we can move 172 tJs a day total.  We import limitation.

MR. QUINN:  172 --


MR. WALLACE:  We can move from 115 to 172 with the addition of a $31 million compressor at Sandwich.

MR. QUINN:  So if I put those two together then to be able to get -- sorry, that's 172 annual capability?

MR. WALLACE:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  So more in the winter?

MR. WALLACE:  Presumably the delta, 140 minus 115, is 30 -- sorry, it is 25.  So 125 on top of that,  presumably --


MR. QUINN:  Was 97 -- 197.

MR. WALLACE:  -- the top here.

MR. QUINN:  Sorry, I just want to make sure the record is clear.  It's 197 tJs then for the winter?

MR. WALLACE:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  These were some loose ends from this morning.

Okay.  One more question then and then I will turn briefly to the package.  There have been a lot of numbers floating around about the annual revenue requirement.  But the one that sticks in my head is $27 million annual revenue requirement, 2018 and beyond.  Is that number in the ballpark, maybe, Mr. Hockin?

MR. HOCKIN:  The number in evidence net -- sorry, I will just quote the number.  Tab 8, Schedule 1 is 27.2 million gross revenue requirement, some incremental revenue of 1.6, and so a net revenue requirement of 25.6 --


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well --


MR. HOCKIN:  -- million.

MR. QUINN:  I think the math works, but I will just put it as approximate.

So if Union were going to meet its 2017/'18 incremental demand of 57,000 gJs with an incentive for firm deliveries for the 151 days of the winter, assuming you took that approach, for ratepayers to be indifferent relative to the pipeline option, Union could offer an incentive of close to $3 per gJ -- that's my math -- that would be comparable to $27 million, and I would say that it would probably still be comparable to 25.6.

Would you be able to do the math quickly, Mr. Hockin?  You have a better capability at this than I.

MR. HOCKIN:  Not quickly, no.  If we have to do math, then I would prefer to do an undertaking for something like that.

MR. QUINN:  If you could just check that number, that's the number that I -- the spreadsheet kicked out for me, but I used 27 million.

MR. HOCKIN:  A couple of observations.  Math --


MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, I just want to understand.  What are we checking?  I just want to clarify what the -- can you check that number?  What is the number we're checking?

MR. QUINN:  I said it is approximately $3 a gJ.  At 27 it's over $3 a gJ, is the incentive that could be paid for each gJ for 57,000 gJs incented to be firm at Ojibway for the entire winter.

MR. SHORTS:  Mr. Quinn, I have a question in regards to the 57,000 gJ assumption.  Is that -- the 57,000 gJs is the market requirement in the first winter?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MR. SHORTS:  But recall, that 57 -- are you using 57,000 as your incentive calculation, because that number, if it is delivered at Ojibway, needs to be much -- grossed up to cover off the inefficiencies of the deliveries making their way to the market area in Leamington.

MR. QUINN:  Well, that's a concern you have, Mr. Shorts, but if you go back to the graphs that I put in front of you previously, the gas does not have to get to Windsor, necessarily.  Some of it could be used up in Leamington.

So I am just checking what an economic incentive at Ojibway looks like comparable to the revenue requirement of the pipe.

MR. SHORTS:  And I am just trying to clarify from a design assumption perspective -- the market has definitely changed.  I mean, history are your graphs, and unfortunately, history isn't exactly going to be a great purveyor of the future.

We have noted in a couple of spots where the history has changed.  Going forward, we have a large consumer in the Windsor area who doesn't consume volumes like they used to.

So to say that the history is a good example of what's going to happen going forward, that's just not the case. 

We had answered that previous to this year, you know, the number was approximately, say, 30 more.  It in the 140-plus range.

But we know that electrical generator has gone from self-dispatch to market dispatch.  The load factor has dropped dramatically, and we know that there's another power generator who is going to be in the same boat.

So those things have to be taken into account going forward to adjust any historical -- any historical things we have seen.

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Wallace, based upon the conversation we had this morning about gas leaving the Windsor market, to the extent that 30,000 tJs was not being consumed in the Windsor market, would that gas not move further down the line and be absorbed in the Leamington/Kingsville area? 

MR. WALLACE:  So insofar as that Ojibway supply is not being consumed in the Windsor market, it would move through the Sandwich compressor down the line.  It doesn't mean it can efficiently service the Leamington demands.

I mean, I think we need to go back to a design day condition here, and that's what Mr. Shorts was saying, is that the presumption that we have 57, 58 tJs in incremental demand in year one and we can serve that with 57-58 tJs of supply in inaccurate; we need eighty tJs of supply to be able to do that.

MR. QUINN:  And that is approximately what Energy Transfer has been offering and trying to provide to you, Mr. Redford, 75,000 MMCFD or 80,000 tJs? 

MR. REDFORD:  There was a discussion -- there was a discussion early on.  We didn't have that capacity, so we agreed at 35 tJs a day.

MR. QUINN:  You have agreed at 35,000 tJs a day for the reasons that will be explored potentially by others. 

But I would still like the calculation as to what the incentive -- a comparable incentive would be if you want to change the number from 57 to 80.  I am satisfied with that. 

So can we have an undertaking to say what a comparable incentive would be to compare with the revenue requirement of the Panhandle project as you have applied for? 

MR. SHORTS:  Again, Mr. Quinn we struggle -- and I hate getting back to this, but we struggle with the incentive the way you have characterized it.

We have had the discussions with Rover.  We have explained why the Rover obligation to deliver potentiality is that we have to buy the gas from the Rover shipper as Dawn.

So saying that we can provide this incentive in this scenario is just not accurate.  I can't agree to that assumption. 

MR. QUINN:  Well, we don't have anything on the record beyond your testimony that says that this is the only way Rover shippers would see this happening. 

We asked if you had any evidence of that.  Absent any evidence, I see and I know that there are different ways to incent the market.  And we’re just asking to find out what a comparable incentive to the Panhandle pipeline project would be. 

I gave some math.  I respect Mr. Hockin would prefer to take it as an undertaking.  So could you take an undertaking for 80,000 tJs, what would be the comparable incentive to the Panhandle pipeline project? 

MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, can I just have a moment? 

MS. DUFF:  Yes. 

[Mr. Keizer consults with Mr. Kitchen]


MS. DUFF:  Mr. Keizer? 

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, Madam Chair. 

MS. DUFF:  We're just going to continue on.  The panel will decide about this undertaking.

MR. KEIZER:  I tried to understand the undertaking, so that I could actually indicate that we're prepared to accept the undertaking or not. 

I wasn't meaning to inadvertently delay or cause frustration.  I'm sorry about that.

MS. DUFF:  No, you weren't at all.  I just didn't want -- you know, discussions with your client, I think the panel will make this and rather -- I think he has already put it to the witnesses regarding do they accept the premise.

MR. KEIZER:  I was trying to actually short-circuit it for you by saying -- just so I could understand it and then advise we would be prepared to provide the calculation.  Obviously, we would also have to provide whatever qualifications we would in the answer.

MS. DUFF:  I guess the other concern that we have it is problematic.  It's 2:20 today and there is, you know, all the issues with having undertakings provided later.  So we will defer on that at the break, and we will let you know our finding on that. 

Okay, Mr. Quinn.  Just to do a time check, do you have an estimate of how much longer you think you will be?

MR. QUINN:  Ten minutes.

MS. DUFF:  That would be an appropriate time to break.

MR. QUINN:  Oh, okay.

MS. DUFF:  And then maybe the panel could confer at that point.

MR. QUINN:  Sure, that would be fine.  I was sort of just surprised.  We had some discussions at the lunch hour, and I am going to ask less questions about the package. 

Others will take other questions about the package we received last night, so that will move things along.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you. 

MR. QUINN:  The simple question I have, and I suppose it is to you Mr. Redford because you were in communication with folks about the new contract. 

Why did Union start -- why did Union not start the contract on November 1st, 2017, the new contract with Energy Transfer? 

MR. REDFORD:  So just so we're clear, because there is multiple contracts happening.  You're talking about the Panhandle Eastern contract, the new one that Union would take back to the Panhandle field zone area? 

MR. QUINN:  There were two contracts.  One was for 21,000, and one -- maybe you can --


MR. REDFORD:  I just want to make sure we're not talking about the C1 contract.

So the reason that we didn't take the transportation contract on Panhandle Eastern to November 1 of 2017 was that we already had arranged for third party delivered service with a firm shipper on the -- I will say the other firm shipper on the Panhandle Eastern system.

So we did not need to start that contract on November 1 of 2017.  We started it on November 1 of 2019, because that third party that delivered service, that contract ends October 31 of 2019.

So we basically have a seamless service with no overlap. 

MR. QUINN:  So refresh my memory then.  When does the 35,000 tJs C1 contract start? 

MR. REDFORD:  That would start November 1 of 2017. 

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And did you at any time talk about -- I am not going to go there; that will end up cycling us. 

Then the last question; in response to our FRPO motion we had communication -- Union provided the communications with Energy Transfer and that package stops as of September 22nd. 

In the package we received last night, the email communication starts November 1st, then jumps to November 17th. 

Could you check -- I am trying to understand if Union felt the request for the package was constrained to the response on the issue of the new contract with Panhandle, or were there other communications between September 22nd and November 17th that we have not been provided? 

MR. REDFORD:  So if you look at the package and you look at page 1 of attachment 37, there's an email there from Mr. Shorts to Mr. Reid dated September 27th. 

I had mentioned this morning that we had missed one in the October 28th package, and that was that email. 

So we went back to -- we went back right to when we previously filed, and we cut some other things along the way, so this one email along the way. 

So this should be seamless from the October 28th package to today. 

MR. QUINN:  So to break the question down, it was not constrained to a response on the new contract?  You were providing all email communications, so there was no communications between September 22nd and November 1st? 

MR. REDFORD:  Well, there was the September -- say that again, September 22nd? 

MR. QUINN:  Sorry, the 27th to update.

MR. REDFORD:  That's correct. 

MR. QUINN:  Okay. 

MR. SHORTS:  Just to clarify, there was no written correspondence that we provided.  We had had some conversations on the phone, but those were not here. 

We had -- the written conversation is everything that is included, but there were, I believe, approximately four phone calls at least in that time period that we had with Energy Transfer. 

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  We just wanted to make sure that the request wasn't perceived to be constrained.  

So thank you, Madam Chair, for your continued indulgence and especially on some of the technical matters that we needed to address today, but those are FRPO's questions, and I will remain available to the extent that any other matters arise, and would ask respectfully if there was something else that came up that was of a technical nature that I could assist with.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  I indicated the Board would take a break.  I just want to do a time estimate and review how much time we have remaining in the schedule.

Mr. Wolnik, I had 30 minutes originally for you.

MR. WOLNIK:  Yes.  I think I am going to blow by that by at least another 15 minutes.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  45.  Mr. Mondrow?

MR. MONDROW:  I am completely confused.  So I'll try not to let that spill over too much.  But I think I am at an hour, and I am going to be at least that.  I will try not to be too much more than that.  So I'm going to try to stick to about an hour.

MS. DUFF:  You are not confused about the hour?  Okay.

Mr. DeRose --


MR. MONDROW:  I am confused about everything, so don't assume that.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Millar, Mr. DeRose is not here today.  Did he communicate with Board Staff regarding his intention to cross-examine?

MR. MILLAR:  We will try to contact Mr. DeRose over the break.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Great.  Mr. Rubenstein, 20 minutes?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  I don't believe I will be that long, and with respect to Mr. DeRose, my understanding is he was not going to have any questions from this panel, from my discussions with him.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  That is helpful.

Mr. Millar, ten minutes?

MR. MILLAR:  Less than that.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Thank you very much.

We will take a short break.  Just ten minutes and we will be back.  Thank you very much.
--- Recess taken at 2:25 p.m.

--- On resuming at 2:38 p.m.

MS. DUFF:  Please be seated.  Just before we begin, Mr. Wolnik, regarding the last question regarding an undertaking, the panel has decided that it does not require the additional information.   We feel there is plenty of information on a number of scenarios regarding schematics in order for to make the arguments that you will make.  So there is no undertaking regarding the 57 or 80 tJs per day. 

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Wolnik?

MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you.  Just one matter, because I will probably forget later on.  I have a commitment later on, so to the extent we are still sitting at five o'clock, I may have to leave a few minutes in advance.  So I apologize.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you for letting me know. 
Cross-Examination by Mr. Wolnik:

MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you.  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is John Wolnik.  I represent the Association of Power Producers of Ontario.  And APPrO, as it is known, represents the large gas-fired generators in your area.  I think they're all T2 customers and, if approved, this project will have a significant impact on their rates, projected to be a 20 percent increase that they have to look forward to here, an increase that will impact their overall economic viability.  So this is a very major concern to them. 

So what we would like to do is to try to better understand your proposal, how you arrived at the solution, the various assumptions that you used to arrive at that solution, and test those to see whether they're appropriate, and how you evaluated the alternatives when you compared the alternatives to your solution, and also potentially test to see if there is a series of other solutions that may be cheaper and potentially more flexible, that may be able to defer your facilities or potentially even downsize them, or even eliminate them, for that matter. 

I may jump around a little bit, so I apologize in advance.  Just as a result of some of the other testimony and some of the recent information we have received, I may have to do that. 

So perhaps what we could do is just start off with these annual limits that you have talked about as to how much gas you can bring in through Windsor.  I am a little bit confused and maybe I could just ask a few questions that will hopefully add some clarity.

I understand -- and Mr. Wallace, I presume this is for you -- that the limit you set on an annual basis is this 106 tJs -- sorry, the 1515 tJs a year, is that right? 

MR. WALLACE:  That is correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  And that 115, as I think I understand it, that is really based on the minimum amount that you could bring in on any day of the year, which is usually in the summertime, right? 

MR. WALLACE:  The 115 is based upon the summertime, that's correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  I think what you have indicated is in the Wintertime, you’ve got more capability because the market is greater in the wintertime.  It is a minimum of 140, right?

MR. WALLACE:  Sorry, I will just provide some clarification.  The 115 is the maximum amount we could guarantee based on the summer market.  In the wintertime, that volume increases a little but again because we're dealing with Windsor, so we have greater market demand to 140.

MR. WOLNIK:  And as the demand in Windsor increases because of heating degree days, that limit would also go up -- albeit perhaps not on a firm basis, but you could actually do more in the wintertime if you limit it to the market conditions, right? 

MR. WALLACE:  So on a day-to-day basis or outlooking on a short-term basis, we can do more.  We offer, I guess, S&T transactions based upon the fact there may be more market in the very short term.

But to raise the minimum, we developed that minimum based upon our experience, our history in the market, and until we have some of that history, it's hard for us to change that.

MR. WOLNIK:  So the 140 is based on history, is that right? 

MR. WALLACE:  Yes.

MR. WOLNIK:  I wonder if we could pull up BOMA 3?  In BOMA 3, we had talked about some of the growth that is going to occur, and some of that is in the Windsor market. Have you taken any of that growth into account? 

It shows the Windsor market is expected to increase in 2017, 2018, 2019, and so on.  So have you taken any of this growth into account in looking at how you could meet minimum winter requirements? 

MR. WALLACE:  We haven't taken this growth into account because again, this growth is based on a customer's design day demands and not -- I mean, I do not have a forecast of what their minimums would be. 

MR. WOLNIK:  I appreciate that.  But if it occurred, you would expect that some of this could contribute to the minimums that you could bring in in the winter time.  I am not saying it is a one-for-one, but some of it could be. 

MR. WALLACE:  Down the road a couple of years, we have some experience with this, and we look back and run our numbers again, we could see an increase in the minimum market.

MR. WOLNIK:  Right.  And if this growth doesn't occur, then you don't need the capacity at all, right? 

MR. WALLACE:  If this growth doesn't occur?  I think we crossed that bridge yesterday, but --


MR. WOLNIK:  We will come back to that later.

MR. WALLACE:  But I mean in absence of any growth, then we don't have a project.  But that's not very realistic.

MR. WOLNIK:  Fair enough.  And if I could turn to Staff interrogatory, Staff number 1 -- maybe just before we get to that.  Mr. Wallace, I understood it’s your job to really monitor the system, I take it, and look for areas that are going to be tight and propose reinforcements as necessary.  Is that fair?

MR. WALLACE:  On the transportation systems, yes.

MR. WOLNIK:  Yes, okay.  In this Staff 1, I think what this says is that you recognize the need for reinforcement of the upstream portion of the Panhandle system as early as 2012.  Is that right? 

MR. WALLACE:   Yes.  I mean, looking forward, we know sort of the order of those projects.  We don't necessarily know the timing of them, but we have a recommendation as to the order of the projects that would provide additional capacity.

MR. WOLNIK:  So this is not a new issue.  You knew this area was getting tight, and something would have to get done -- perhaps not the exact amount and perhaps not the exact year, but you knew the system was getting tighter and you may have to do something in the not too distant future.

MR. WALLACE:  That's true, and we did respond to this growth in 2013 and 2016 with our Leamington phase 1 and 2 projects.

MR. WOLNIK:  Right.  And those are distribution projects.  This is a transmission project, right? 

MR. WALLACE:  That's right. 

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay, thanks.   Now, coming back to that 140, I know you had a discussion with Mr. Quinn earlier this afternoon about how you arrived at 140 and what portion of the market that was.  But I have to admit I was confused. 

I think Mr. Quinn -- or I think you acknowledged to Mr. Quinn that you could move 80,000 tJs -- sorry gJs a day easterly through the Sandwich compressor, right? 

MR. WALLACE:  That's correct. 

MR. WOLNIK:  So I wasn't entirely clear whether that 140 included that 80, or whether the 80 was added on top of that.

MR. WALLACE:  It does include the 180.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay, that's great.  And if you added a second compressor -- I know there was some discussion about the cost of that -- how much additional capacity would a second compressor add -- again, roughly speaking?

MR. WALLACE:  I believe we added 32 tJs a day to that.  That was again -- I’ve turned this up three times and I can't find it -- JT1.6. 

So in JT1.6, we said adding a second compressor twinning Sandwich would allow us to increase import limitation from 115 in the summer to 172.

MR. WOLNIK:  So there’s a restriction or the limitations of the system.  Does that become a pipeline issue at that point, so adding more compression at Sandwich wouldn't necessarily increase that 32, then, would it? 

MR. WALLACE:  Adding more compression at Sandwich? 

MR. WOLNIK:  Right, over and above this second one. 

MR. WALLACE:  So we're at 172 and adding more compression again is what you're asking?

MR. WOLNIK:  No.  What I'm saying is the first compressor does 80 tJs, right?

MR. WALLACE:  Right.

MR. WOLNIK:  The second, one you indicated, does 32 tJs additional.  If you were to add a third one --


MR. WALLACE:  57.  I think by my quick math was incorrect.  It is 57; I apologize.

MR. WOLNIK:  So it is not 80.

MR. WALLACE:  So the first compressor was moving 80.  The second allowed us to move an additional 57.

MR. WOLNIK:  Oh, 57, okay.  Thank you.  So that would be, in total, 137 then, if my math is right. 

MS. DUFF:  The 57 is 172 minus 115.

MR. WALLACE:  Yes, so it’s 80 for the first compressor, 57 for the second, and 35 for the Windsor market.  It adds up to 172, which was the new import capability or limitation we were able to set with the second unit.

MR. WOLNIK:  Excellent.  Okay, that is helpful.  Now, I wanted to talk a little bit about the new commercial arrangements that you entered into with Panhandle.  I think that is the right time to talk about this.

As I look at the letter agreement that you entered into with Panhandle –- sorry, this was Energy Transfer Partners LP on November 21st of this week, it appears there is 57,000 dekatherms a day of capacity-related that you are purchasing from them, from, I think the field zone to Ojibway.  And they're purchasing 35,000 from you, C1 capacity from you, to Ojibway to Dawn.

Are these two sets of contracts linked?  Are they dependent upon one another?  In your negotiations did you always link these two contracts or these two negotiations together?

MR. REDFORD:  In some respect they are linked.  Our desire was to make sure that we had 60 tJs a day available and that we controlled that supply through Ojibway.  They had looked at 80 tJs a day or 75,000 dekatherms.

If you add those two, 60 plus 80, 140, it is greater than the 115 number on the imports.  So even though they're serving different purposes -- ours was serving in-franchise needs and making sure that we could supply our customers on a design day, and theirs was to bring Rover volumes to Dawn to support that project -- that was the -- you know, if you're looking at where were the conversations linked, that was it.  There wasn't enough capacity to do both of our desires.

MR. WOLNIK:  What's the relative value of your sets of contracts with Energy Transfer and what they're paying you under the C1 contract?

MR. REDFORD:  I don't know.  We didn't look at it.  Again, it's -- our need was 60 tJs a day.  We wanted it locked in so that we had the ability to meet our system needs on a design day.

It puts us back to where we were previously and allowed us to -- allowed us to, I will say mitigate or manage the exposure we would have at October 31 of 2019 when our delivered service agreement expires.

So theirs was -- you know, their request was for C1 capacity from Ojibway to Dawn.  We got what we were looking for.  We got what we needed for our system and so did they.

MR. WOLNIK:  So what's the rough -- or maybe the exact if you have it -- the daily demand charge for the capacity on Panhandle Eastern from the field zone to Ojibway?

MR. SHORTS:  Roughly, it's about 60 cents Canadian per gJ, is roughly the transportation demand charge on the -- on that path.

MR. WOLNIK:  So a real rough calculation.  So the aggregate annual value of their contract would be in excess of $10 million a year?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, John -- sorry, Mr. Wolnik, if you look at attachment 1, page 22 of 37, we actually, due to the delegation of authority, we had to have Mr. Baker acknowledge the commitment, and you will see there that we had done the calculation.  And here we have 42 cents U.S. dekatherm.  That's where I got the 60 cents Canadian per gJ.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay, that is helpful.  I am just trying to get an order of magnitude.  I think your C1 rate is in the order of three-and-a-half cents.  Is that about right?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  Three-and-a-half cents times 31,000 times 365 is 500 -- roughly $500,000, I believe, subject to check.

MR. WOLNIK:  So that is helpful.

So it looks like the value of the transportation contracts on Panhandle Eastern is substantially more.  That's all.

MR. REDFORD:  Well, let's parse that out, because the 35,000 dekatherms a day, the first two entries on page 25 of 37, that's capacity that we had.  That's capacity that would have went to a ROFR process, and through the agreement will avoid the ROFR process, and we have agreed at an eight-year term for that capacity.

So it is not -- I don't necessarily consider that incremental.  What it does do is it takes the risk out that somebody's going to come in and offer 15 years for that capacity and we'll have to match it.  So it is a different -- I wouldn't say, you know, to say that, you know, that's incremental, that's a risk that we were going to have to deal with on our existing capacity with Panhandle Eastern, that we mitigate it.

MR. WOLNIK:  I wasn't implying that at all.  I was just trying to deal with the facts.  That's all.

MR. KEIZER:  Oh, I don't mean -- I am not objecting, and I am actually hoping to clarify the record.  The witness said -- just because we got Rover floating around and ROFR floating around, I just wanted to make sure that the record is clear that ROFR means right of first refusal, not Rover.  That's my point.

MR. REDFORD:  Thank you.

MR. WOLNIK:  So why did you choose the field zone?  I mean, you have 60-cent demand charge to go back to the field zone and Panhandle.

As I understand what you were saying earlier, is you've got Rover, that is the new pipeline company that is coming in to Defiance, that's not too far upstream and perhaps a few -- I don't know how far it is, it is maybe a few hundred kilometres at most.  Probably with a substantially lower demand charge, and with substantially more gas coming in in the very near future with Rover and some of the ANR volumes coming in there.

Why wouldn't you just go there to contract these incremental supplies even if it was longer-term?  I mean, I'm not necessarily saying immediately, but longer-term.  Why wouldn't that have been an option?

MR. SHORTS:  It was something we certainly looked at.  But from a diversity aspect we try to access various basins, and from our perspective, having the 60,000 from the Panhandle field zone, when through some of the conversations we had had, and even the -- one of the previous offers -- I believe it was the July 28th offer, they were looking at the Trunkline field zone, which is the Gulf, which is substantially more expensive.  We could not agree to that.  But we could agree that from a value of diversity perspective, having 60, or about 10 to 12 percent of our sales service portfolio sourced out of the Panhandle field zone, traditionally a place where we have been buying anywhere from 45 to 60 for, I'm going to say probably the last two decades, was still a reasonable alternative for us from a security, a supply, and diversity perspective.

MR. WOLNIK:  Do you think there was a cost to do that?  Would it have been -- as I understand what you were saying earlier, a lot of the gas coming from Rover to Defiance would then be back-hauled into some of the field zones or Gulf area.  So it would be flowing in reverse direction to your forward haul that you were buying on Panhandle Eastern, Panhandle Eastern.

So it seems to me that those volumes, at least contractually, were crossing.  So would it have made sense to buy some of that or all of it at Defiance other than diversity reasons, and was there a premium to be paid for the field zone purchases?

MR. SHORTS:  Again, in the gas supply planning principles we're always not trying to find the cheapest alternative but trying to find a balance when it comes to diversity and the security of supply, having it from various different basins and not having too much reliance, for example, on one over another, provides us some safety measures, if for example one of the basins or a pipe going into that basin has a problem.

So we've always tried to create diversity.  It does come at a cost, absolutely.  It may not have been the least-cost alternative, but then again, that's something that we have to balance every time we do the gas supply plan.

MR. WOLNIK:  I appreciate that.  But 3 Bcf a day of new supplies coming in from Rover, to me, seems to be a pretty secure supply, with minimal diversity benefits.

So if there is a cost, how much was it?

MR. SHORTS:  Are you referring to what the toll would be from, say, Defiance north?

MR. WOLNIK:  That, plus any premium on the commodity.  Or less any premium, as the case may be, because maybe the commodity would be more.  I don't know.  You said there was definitely a cost.  So all I am saying is what was the cost?

MR. SHORTS:  I'm saying there is definitely a transportation cost, because the transportation toll from the field zone to Ojibway would be greater than from Defiance, for example, to Ojibway.

We had had discussions with Energy Transfer about trying to move -- eventually moving some of that supply upstream on a location closer, but they were -- they were reluctant to provide us the renewal rights and the long-term aspect of the new contract, for example, as we went through time.

MR. WOLNIK:  But they're an open-access pipeline, correct?

MR. SHORTS:  They're an open-access pipeline, yes.

MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you.  So what is that toll from Defiance to Ojibway?

MR. SHORTS:  I would have to check.  I don't know offhand.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  That would be helpful.  It would be less than the 60 cents, though.

MR. SHORTS:  Oh, it would be less than the 60 cents Canadian, yes.

MR. WOLNIK:  If you could provide that, that would be helpful.

MR. MILLAR:  J2.6. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.6(A):  TO ADVISE ON THE TOLL FROM DEFIANCE TO OJIBWAY.

MR. WOLNIK:  And the 35 -- I'm sorry, the 57,000 that you have contracted here, through time -- I appreciate that you have got of that now, and that is going to continue over time -- your plan is to bring that in at 100 percent load factor, correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, that would be correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  That's why it uses up some of that import capability at Windsor, because you have this summer limitation, right? 

MR. SHORTS:  All of the southern, I call it Union southern portfolio is assumed or based on 100 percent load factor.

We have a certain amount of storage that provides the benefit of not having to rely on winter deliveries.  So we want to maximize the use of storage and that's why, from a gas supply perspective, we try to flow all of our pipes as close as possible to 100 percent.  And that's basically the way, from a gas supply plan, we do the gas supply plan.

MR. WOLNIK:  But you don't use storage at all costs, though, do you?  Like if it is a more expensive alternative, would you still use storage? 

MR. SHORTS:  No.  But we -- again, it's not always about trying to find the cheapest alternative.  We're trying to look at a portfolio that we diversity not only from location, but from pipe provider, from contract term, from commodity purchase, monthly, seasonal, annually. 

We try to take a complete balance to provide us just an incremental level of reliability and security. 

MR. WOLNIK:  So for your northern areas -- for instance, those in northwest Ontario, you purchase capacity from TransCanada, right? 

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  And for the most part, you don't buy at 100 percent load factor for those contracts, is that correct? 

MR. SHORTS:  Well, we look at the north a little differently, because we don't have the luxury of having storage embedded right in the franchise territory.

So we will contract with TransCanada for not only capacity, but we also have something called a storage transportation service, which allows us to move some of that volume when we're not needing it into storage, and then when we do it need it, out of storage.

MR. WOLNIK:  And there is a marginal fee for that, right?

MR. SHORTS:  It depends on how we use it.  But, yes, I believe we pay about $16 million a year currently for that STS service.

MR. WOLNIK:  And that could increase?

MR. SHORTS:  And that could increase by 36 million.

MR. WOLNIK:  By tomorrow, you will know more.

MR. SHORTS:  By tomorrow, we may know more.

MR. WOLNIK:  But I guess the point I am getting at is don't necessarily have to use your upstream contracts at 100 percent load factor, if it is not economic to do so, right? 

MR. SHORTS:  No.  We do plan to use them on 100 -- for the south on 100 percent load factor.  But we do --


MR. WOLNIK:  I am talking the north here.

MR. SHORTS:  No, you're correct.  But again, we try to use as much as we can close to 100 percent load factor.

MR. WOLNIK:  That is admirable.  Where it is economic to do so, you would, and where it is not, you wouldn't.  I think that makes sense.

So I guess what I would like to do is come back to this point at Defiance, where you may have been able to acquire capacity for a much lower demand charge than the sixty cents.

Could you have contracted for more capacity, perhaps as high as 175 -- maybe that is not the right number, but a much greater capacity between Defiance and Ojibway, and only use that capacity as the market required it, that might have avoided you to -- avoided this reinforcement. 

MR. REDFORD:  I'm sorry, Mr. Wolnik, can you repeat that, please?  I just want to make sure I --


MR. WOLNIK:  That's fair.  So could you have -- and perhaps the option is still there.  We know that the total amount of gas coming in that you have contracted for, from all sources, the Rover volumes as well as -- I think there is a third party that’s got about 20 tJs a day, that adds up to 175. 

There is information on the record here to suggest that there is a much greater import capability, and your history shows that.

In Mr. Quinn's compendium on page 42, it shows that historically you brought in up to, and perhaps even a little bit over, the FERC import limits of upwards of 200 tJs a day.  So my question is --


MR. SHORTS:  Sorry, Mr. Wolnik, just to correct.  I believe we had that discussion.  That was scheduled and nominated.  That actually wasn't the volume that flowed.  That volume was less than the presidential permit. 

MR. WOLNIK:  Then whatever the presidential permit is.  There is additional capacity -- I think you’ve acknowledged there is additional capacity in the Rover -- sorry, the Panhandle Eastern pipeline to Ojibway in the US during peak winter days, correct?  And there's ability of the market to accept it?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, certainly there is available uncontracted transportation capacity on the Panhandle Eastern pipeline system up to -- on their system.

The problem is that they will not contract for and sell any volume delivering to Ojibway that would exceed the import capability of Union.

MR. WOLNIK:  I understand that.  But there's between the 115 and -- well what is the limit?  You tell me the limit. 

MR. SHORTS:  The current limit on a firm annual basis is 115.

MR. WOLNIK:  No, no.  What is the presidential permit limit? 

MR. SHORTS:  Sorry, the presidential permit is 210 tJs a day, or approximately 195,000 MMCFD a day. 

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay. 

MR. SHORTS:  But the Panhandle Eastern pipelines has acknowledged they can only deliver on a firm basis 175,000 MMCFD, or 180 -- roughly 185 tJs per day.

MR. WOLNIK:  So let's use the 185 tJs.  So your contracting for 115.  You can do physically 185.  Is there the potential -- I am not saying it is going to work for the full volume, but is there the potential to use the difference, which is roughly 70 tJs by my math, to enter into a contract with Panhandle Eastern between Defiance or perhaps some other point and Ojibway, and use that capacity strictly on an as-needed basis? 

And during the shoulder months, maybe you could move some of that volume into storage, and perhaps other times you can't.  But you've got that capacity to meet the peak market needs when it requires it, in lieu of building this facility?

MR. REDFORD:  All right.  I think we will need to parse this out a bit.  So I take your point about Defiance. 

First of all, I would like to start with Defiance.  I am not sure how liquid Defiance is.  It will at some point have 3 Bcf coming through it, all going from -- I will say the production zone at Rover to various markets.

I am not sure what that market is going to look like going forward.  So I couldn't tell you if it's going to be liquid.  There may be a lot of gas passing through there, but if you want to buy gas at Defiance, perhaps you're going to have to pay -- you're going to have to pay what the producer might get if it is delivered to the gulf, which would be at a premium.

MR. WOLNIK:  Is that speculative?  Can you say that with certainty right now? 

MR. REDFORD:  I am saying that the way the market works, the producers will sell gas.  They will look at what the next best option is, and they will look at what their options are, and they will price it accordingly.

MR. WOLNIK:  Isn't the next best option to not contract for the backhaul and just sell it at Defiance? 

MR. REDFORD:  Well, if they can get -- if there's a premium market in the Gulf, then you're going to pay the premium they would have got by going to the Gulf because they're holding the transportation capacity anyway. 

MR. WOLNIK:  Well, you say that.  But that isn't necessarily the case, is it?  Is 100 percent of that contracted backhaul? 

MR. REDFORD:  On -- to the south? 

MR. WOLNIK:  Yes.

MR. REDFORD:  Yes, I couldn't tell you.  I think it is.

MR. WOLNIK:  Right.  Thank you, that's enough.  So now that we've moved past Defiance, theoretically if it was economic -- I appreciate you haven't looked at it yet -- could you meet some or all of this market, the 70 tJs market demand, by contracting on Panhandle Eastern to Ojibway and use it as required? 

MR. REDFORD:  Okay.  Just let me go through the math.  So you are saying there is 70 tJs a day that would come up from, I’ll say -- I'm just going to say Panhandle Eastern on top of our sixty tJs a day.  And then there is -- this is to top-out at 185? 

MR. WOLNIK:  I'm saying that's the limit you set.  So I am saying is there some portion of that -- I'm not suggesting it is the entire 70, I'm saying some portion of that. 

MR. REDFORD:  So I think -- I think when you look at the number of alternatives that we ran, there are various alternatives from the 60 tJs a day that we hold now all the way up to 195 tJs that we did.

Each of those -- each of those alternatives comes with different facility sets that go with them, I think, and also, depending on the magnitude, different risks around gas supply. 

So for instance, if Rover owns 75 -- or let's say 80 tJs a day, pardon me, on Panhandle Eastern, so in order to do that we would have to enter into an obligation to flow with Rover.

MR. WOLNIK:  I don't know what that has got to do with my question.

MR. REDFORD:  Well, it is about capacity and who owns capacity.  So --


MR. WOLNIK:  Well, in this case you are.  I'm saying could you contract for that capacity, buy gas at Defiance or some other location that makes sense, and ship it to Ojibway under your name -- they're your molecules -- to meet the peaking requirements of the Windsor market?

MR. REDFORD:  So let's go through the math.  I would like to go through the math on what the capacity and what the availability is.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  I thought we already did that, but go ahead.

MR. REDFORD:  Well, there is 185 tJs a day that's -- we can't go to the presidential permit, because going to the presidential permit will require Panhandle Eastern to expand their system to put compression in, and at this point they were not willing to do that.  They did not want to expand their system.

MR. WOLNIK:  I have accepted the 185 for purposes of this discussion.

MR. REDFORD:  So if you take 80 tJs a day out, which is Rover's volume, and you take 60 tJs out, which is Union's already --


MR. WOLNIK:  Can we -- excuse me for interrupting.  You said take the 80 out for Rover.  Can you just explain that a bit more?  Because I understand Rover on the Canadian side is only taking a small subset of those volumes.

MR. REDFORD:  Currently their precedent agreement on the U.S. side is for 75,000 dekatherms a day, which is 80 tJs a day.

MR. WOLNIK:  So with your new agreement for only 35 on the Canadian side, could that change?

MR. REDFORD:  It could.  I don't know what they're going to do with it.

MR. WOLNIK:  It would be a logical thing for them to consider, would it not?

MR. REDFORD:  It depends on what other markets they have access to --


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.

MR. REDFORD:  -- along the way.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.

MR. REDFORD:  Other points.

So we can -- the point is, is that with that volume gone we couldn't contract the 80 tJs.  We have 60 tJs already, which leaves 45.

There's another party that owns about 20 tJs for round numbers, which leaves about 25 tJs a day at capacity.   So --


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Let's hypothetically take your 25, because I think there may be a combination of solutions here.

Is it possible to use that 25 tJs a day of capacity and use it as the market required it as a bit of a peaking service, where you own the capacity or a firm customer owned the capacity in your franchise and delivered to Ojibway from Defiance for this volume to meet the market requirements during the peak winter period?

MR. REDFORD:  That is -- it is a little less volume, but it is very similar to alternative 2 that we went through with Mr. Janigan today.  And --


MR. WOLNIK:  Was that a yes or a no?

MR. REDFORD:  And basically the net present value of the two projects were very, very close.

MR. WOLNIK:  Did you consider this option, Mr. Redford?
MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  It is -- alternative 2 is in the -- in our evidence.

MR. WOLNIK:  So you considered the option of buying gas -- buying transportation capacity from Panhandle Eastern at Defiance to Windsor for this volume and using it on a peaking-only basis?

MR. REDFORD:  Sorry.  I thought we said it didn't necessarily have to be Defiance.  We would have to get that volume from somewhere that Panhandle Eastern accesses, whether it is Defiance, whether it is a field zone, umm...

MR. WOLNIK:  But Defiance, we have talked about earlier, would have a much lower demand charge, and if they had a lower demand charge, the cost of that is going to be much less.  Right?  That's what you have told us earlier.  Something significantly less than the 60 cents is I think what you had indicated.

MR. REDFORD:  Well, but you have also got the commodity price in there as well, so --


MR. WOLNIK:  But you are only buying the commodity when you need it.

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  But we would -- that was not the alternative that we looked at.

MR. WOLNIK:  Would you agree it is possible?  You haven't done this very specific analysis.  Maybe you have done a broader analysis, but you haven't done this one.

MR. SHORTS:  Certainly we haven't done that.

MR. WOLNIK:  All right.

MR. SHORTS:  It is potentially possible.  I guess the question would be how to link all that agreement -- how to link those agreements together and whether or not someone would be willing to sell such a service.

Again, we've looked at a couple of other scenarios related to that, but that particular one we did not look at.

MR. WOLNIK:  So you're saying you couldn't find a willing buyer at Defiance where there is 3e Bcf a day proposed to come in?

MR. SHORTS:  Again, I don't know whether that will happen for November 1 of '17.  That's all I'm saying, Mr. Wolnik, is it possibly could happen.  We could look at that.  But we don't know whether or not it would be available.  If Rover is delayed then it doesn't happen for November 1 of '17, then, for example, that wouldn't happen for November 1 of '17.  It is just my example.

MR. WOLNIK:  ANR has a delivery point there as well.  It's an existing pipeline.  As is Panhandle today?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, yes.

MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Just looking at scenario 2 in the pre-filed evidence -- actually, I guess Board Staff had asked you to put through a comparison table.

So the scenario 2 that you say is comparable to what the discussion is right now, this was "increase Ojibway import contracts to 94 tJs per day", and then there is a number of additional facilities that are required.

The "increase Ojibway import contracts to 94", is that envisioning that you are buying at a location --


MR. REDFORD:  I think we assumed --


MS. DUFF:  -- discussed right now?

MR. REDFORD:  Yeah.  No.  Assumed Panhandle field zone.

MS. DUFF:  Yeah, I didn't -- when I read that I don't know that I interpreted that to be, and you were then going to buy the gas and the transportation contracts from A to B.
MR. REDFORD:  Ah.

MS. DUFF:  Okay?  Thank you.

MR. WOLNIK:  Mr. Redford, does Union offer a winter-only C1 firm transportation service?

MR. REDFORD:  We have one contract that I know -- one long-term contract that is winter-only.  So we have done that in the past.

MR. WOLNIK:  So someone that wanted to get their gas to Dawn and do what I was suggesting earlier in terms of moving winter volumes up from a place like Defiance into Ojibway, they could contract with you to then move that winter-only to Dawn?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  In fact, we had offered that to Panhandle Eastern, although in terms of whether we can count on that supply or not arriving at Ojibway, that really would be up to whoever holds the C1 contract.

MR. WOLNIK:  In terms of this project, perhaps you could just check my math, except for Mr. Hockin, because I know he's slow at -- he would rather do this as an undertaking.

I take the -- the revenue requirement in 2018 I think is $270million, roughly.  Do you accept that?

MR. HOCKIN:  The last number I saw when I looked it up was 27 million-172.  So 27, roughly.

MR. WOLNIK:  And this provides 106,000 gJs a day of capacity?

MR. HOCKIN:  It is for the proposed project, which is 106 tJs.

MR. WOLNIK:  So if I take the -- and I used $27 million, divide that by the 106,000 gJs a day, and the 365 days in the year, I get a daily cost of that capacity of 70 cents.  Does that math seem okay?

MR. HOCKIN:  I would have to get my calculator out, but if --


MR. WOLNIK:  If you don't mind doing that, that would be helpful.

MR. HOCKIN:  You are taking 27 million divided by 106,000 times 365?

MR. WOLNIK:  Right.

MR. HOCKIN:  I get 38,690.  106 times 365.  About 70 cents.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay, about 70 cents.  I think what I heard earlier was even buying gas from the field zone, which is much past Defiance, it is only 60 cents Canadian.  So it seems to me that buying -- even buying more gas from the field zone is cheaper than the alternative you have proposed, and potentially, if we were to buy gas from the -- from Defiance, could be cheaper again.

And just to also put it on an even footing, you are only using this capacity as the market requires it, right?  You are not using it 365 days a year.

MR. SHORTS:  You would have to purchase it essentially for the 365-day period, because usually the way that most of the transportation providers, if they're selling a service, they will want to recover the cost if it is a short-term over a longer period of time.

In other words, if you are taking that transportation capacity during a winter period, they will likely then need to have it recovered for the entire period.  They will want to be compensated for that.

MR. WOLNIK:  I am now talking about even your field zone, where you've contracted for 57,000 dekatherms in this case a day, the demand charge that you indicated you are incurring is sixty cents, whether you move the gas or not, right? 

MR. SHORTS:  That would be correct. 

MR. WOLNIK:  And if you were to move it just to meet the incremental peak day demands in the Windsor area, you would incur the sixty cents whether you use it or not, plus the commodity costs, right?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, you would incur that, plus the commodity costs.

MR. WOLNIK:  In meeting this Windsor market, Windsor to Leamington market, you are also committing to long term capacity that we've just heard is costing 70 cents and you are using it when you need it, only when you need it. 

Summer months you are not going to use it at all, right? 

MR. REDFORD:  I think -- so we're making a comparison of supply purchased in the market as an alternative to the pipeline.

But as we've shown through many of the alternatives that we have done work on, there's a facility cost for those alternatives, too.  So it isn't -- you can't just say how much is the supply and the transportation versus the project.

MR. WOLNIK:  I will come back to that.  I appreciate that and I will come back to that, I promise.

MR. REDFORD:  So there is a component of facilities cost that’s in there that we would need to include.

MR. WOLNIK:  Just like in this particular case for putting the facilities -- the facilities in the ground, there would be upstream storage costs, too, right, because you are buying from some other location, wherever it is, perhaps Marcellus, moving it 365 in and out of storage, and just like they are, there are some additional costs that get incurred. 

[Witness panel confers]

MR. REDFORD:  Are you saying there is upstream cost for storage? 

MR. WOLNIK:  What I am saying is upstream is the facilities that you are proposing, the $27 million or 265-million-dollar reinforcement project, in order for you to move gas to meet the peak market in that geographic area, you have other upstream costs. 

You've got Dawn facilities to compress.  You've got storage to move gas in and out of.  You presumably buy gas from multiple of other locations, be it Alberta, be it Marcellus, be it other areas, perhaps even some delivered supply. 

You buy those and move it in and out of storage.  You talked about the desire to buy gas on 100 percent load factor, so that requires some costs to put it into and take if out of storage.  So there’s other costs there as well. 

So just like there is costs to bring gas in at Panhandle, some other facility costs -- which we will get to -- there is other costs associated with your project that aren't taken into account. 

MR. REDFORD:  Well, I would -- I would say no.  You're talking about buying supply on the day, holding transportation and just flowing it in. 

I'm not sure we could -- I'm not sure we could live with that just with a peak service.

Do we bring gas in to Dawn, buy it in the summer --


MR. WOLNIK:  Can we just talk about that?  Sorry to interrupt, but can we just talk about that?

You are not prepared to live with it.  I don't understand what that means, because you do that in other parts of your system. 

MR. REDFORD:   Right.  So the other piece we haven't talked about is that when we buy gas and store it, we also buy that gas in the summer.  We buy it through the summer when it is cheaper and store it, and bring it into storage at that point.

So, you know, that's not included in your analysis either. 

MR. WOLNIK:  That's exactly my point.  That is the point I am trying to make is that there's storage costs. 

MR. REDFORD:  Yes, we would not include those in the analysis.

MR. WOLNIK:  Fair enough.  All right, thank you. 

Did you want to -- I interrupted you.  Was there something else you wanted to say? 

MR. REDFORD:  No. 

MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you.  Maybe we can move on.  You looked at a number of alternatives to this project, and I think they included things like -- we have talked a lot about Ojibway deliveries, LNG, CNG, et cetera. 

And I think the other one that you looked at included turn-back of capacity from existing distribution customers, is that right? 

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, that's correct.  We had essentially reverse open season to test to see if firm capacity was available and willing from the market to turn back. 

MR. WOLNIK:  And I understand you got no takers for that, right? 

MR. SHORTS:  That's correct. 

MR. WOLNIK:  And in that proposal, I think -- if I understand it right, what you were saying to these customers is, we need more capacity.  We're prepared to take your capacity back and relieve you of those costs, right? 

So they would no longer have that transportation cost associated with their delivery arrangements. 

MR. SHORTS:  They would no longer have those costs, but they would also not have the firm service.

MR. WOLNIK:  Right.  And that particular -- so somebody that wanted to take that up and use that, take advantage of that, they either had to have no further need for gas, or may have to get energy some other way.  Is that a reasonable estimation of how they would have looked at this?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, they would have looked at it -- again speculating, but they would have looked at it as to when they needed that gas and could they live with interruptible service. 

MR. WOLNIK:  And if they did, they might incur some costs to have an alternate fuel available when they had to switch off gas and go to this other fuel, right?  There may be some costs associated with that.

MR. SHORTS:  There could have been.

MR. WOLNIK:  Did you recognize that cost at all?  Did you incentivize them in any way?  Did you offer an incentive for them to get off the system in order to make capacity available for higher valued markets, so that they could use -- you could use that capacity to meet your growth and they would use this incentive perhaps to find a cheaper way, or a more effective way of meeting their energy needs.

MR. SHORTS:  No, we did not. 

MR. WOLNIK:  All right.  And I guess that program that I am sort of suggesting where you incentivize people to get off of gas during the peak times, that would be akin to the Demand Response Program that the IESO runs on the electricity side.  Are you familiar with that, Mr. Shorts?

MR. SHORTS:  I am not very familiar, Mr. Wolnik.

MR. WOLNIK:  But you have heard of it before, I’ll bet.

MR. SHORTS:  I have heard of various DSM type of arrangements in general.

MR. WOLNIK:  In fact, you have a DSM program where you encourage people to reduce their energy use? 

MR. SHORTS:  Correct. 

MR. WOLNIK:  And a demand response program could actually incentivize customers to reduce the peak demand on peak days, right, if it was available? 

MR. SHORTS:  Lots of ifs, but if it was available.

MR. WOLNIK:  And that might -- I am not saying it would, but depending upon the level of the incentive, that potentially could result in a lower cost solution for everybody. 

MR. SHORTS:  I don't know what that would result in.  I don't even know if it would be feasible, or possible, if customers would be willing to do that, or be able to come up with a reasonable cost for doing that.  I just don't know.

MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, I believe there were a series of questions yesterday to panel 1 about the implications of the DSM program and the demand forecast.  In my view, that would have been the better place to have asked questions about the implication of DSM and the impact upon demand.

MR. WOLNIK:  This is not quite DSM, but I take your point.  We will move on. 

I just wanted to confirm that in terms of that type of program, you didn't look at that as an alternative, that’s all.

MR. SHORTS:  No. 

MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you.  Now, in terms of -- one of the other things you did, you went out for a RFP, I think on May 26th, to secure incremental firm long term transportation capacity on Panhandle Eastern or to secure a firm delivered supply at Ojibway, right? 

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  And I think in your response to Staff 3, you indicated you got no takers on the transportation, but you did get one party that held transportation to provide a delivered service, right? 

MR. SHORTS:  That's correct.  That's the delivered service for 21 that we did purchase. 

MR. WOLNIK:  And that's delivered to Ojibway? 

MR. SHORTS:  Yes. 

MR. WOLNIK:  Can you -- without revealing the details, can you just generically describe the pricing details that you entered into with that customer? 

MR. SHORTS:  I know we’ve got confidentiality related to the NAESB contract we have.  But I do believe, during the technical conference, I said that the price, relatively speaking, was in the ballpark of the Panhandle Field Zone premium.

MR. WOLNIK:  So this illiquid market with one counter party on either side, you were able to come up with a commercial arrangement? 

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, with that one party. 

MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you. 

MR. SHORTS:  We paid a premium for that service. 

MR. WOLNIK:  I thought you just said it was comparable. 

MR. SHORTS:  It was comparable, but it was definitely a premium, say, than gas just delivered at Ojibway plus three and a half cents, for example for C1.

MR. WOLNIK:  I don't know what the latter part means.  Can you explain that?

MR. SHORTS:  I'm just saying that we paid -- you can't just take, for example, Dawn and say we bought it at Ojibway for the cost at the Dawn price less three-and-a-half cents.  We paid a much greater price for that molecule than Dawn plus three-and-a-half cents.

MR. WOLNIK:  I think you said it was comparable to your own purchases from the field zone.

MR. SHORTS:  It was comparable to the equivalent of the field-zone purchases from a premium perspective compared to Dawn.

MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you.  I wonder if we could pull up the actual letter that you sent out for the RFP.  It was attachment 3 to Staff 3.  This was a letter you sent out May 26th.  I think it is up on the screen now.

So the first paragraph says:

"Union Gas -- or Union -- is inviting your company, along with other suppliers, to submit proposals to provide Union with long-term firm transportation capacity to the Panhandle pipeline interconnection with Union at Ojibway, basically, starting as early as November 1, '16.  Later start dates and combined supply and transportation purchases will also be considered."

I take it that you really wanted the transportation as opposed to the delivered arrangements.  Is that --


MR. SHORTS:  That's correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  All right.  But you didn't rule out the delivered service, but you really didn't provide any -- you didn't make any provisions in this proposal to have people submit things like the price of the commodity, how that would be determined over time.

MR. SHORTS:  With many of these RFPs, they are the first step.  So in this scenario, we provided this RFP to, I'm not sure how many parties, but many, many parties, essentially all the parties that transact.

And we literally received no interest, other than this one party.  So sometimes you will get parties that don't quite understand or say, Hey, can we talk about that?

We didn't get any interest, other than basically the one party.

MR. WOLNIK:  And as I understand your proposal -- not, sorry, not this proposal, but in terms of your facility proposal, you are looking to have this in service for November '17, but this asks for it in '16.

Can you tell me why you used '16 as opposed to '17?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, again, we were looking at '16 to potentially hedge the ability for us to retain that 23,000 gJs of capacity that we didn't have renewal rights on.

So we used this potentially if someone could offer it early, we could do two things:  We had had load growth faster in the area than what we had forecasted.  That would help us to build up a little bit of buffer in being able to serve the market in the Windsor-Leamington area, as well as provide us a potential hedge against not being able to get the capacity renewed forward effective November 1 of '17.

MR. WOLNIK:  So if I was a Rover shipper that had my service coming in on November 17, and if I read this paragraph, I would say, gosh, they're really looking at capacity a year earlier, and they're not really looking at a delivered service, I would probably not bid into this.

MR. SHORTS:  We did include the later start dates, and combined supply and transportation purchases will also be considered.

So if anyone was interested, they were certainly welcome to call and investigate further what other alternatives we were willing to investigate.

MR. WOLNIK:  But you acknowledge that you are really looking at it for firm transportation deal.

MR. SHORTS:  That was our first choice, but we were very open to any other alternative that another supplier could provide us.

MR. WOLNIK:  Now --


MR. REDFORD:  In the first paragraph, Mr. Wolnik, it does say "starting as early as November 1, 2016".

MR. WOLNIK:  And I recognize that.  All I'm saying is from a perception perspective, to me when I read it this said, transportation only, and they want it early.  That is all.  From a perception.  I appreciate the words are there, but I am telling you how I read it.

MR. REDFORD:  I will give you my opinion.  I guess if I was a Rover shipper going to a market that I don't know a whole lot about, which would be in the Dawn area, I likely would have -- I likely would have at least investigated it and contacted us to talk about it.

MR. WOLNIK:  Did you send this to all the Rover shippers?

MR. SHORTS:  I believe we only sent it to the Rover -- again, we don't exactly know who all the Rover shippers are publicly.  There's been a number of periodicals that people have put together based upon earnings calls of producers.  So we've got, I think, a fairly good idea.

At the time when we put this out, I believe only one of the, quote unquote, Rover shippers, was included in the RFP.
MR. WOLNIK:  OEB.  I wonder if we can just pull up my compendium.  I have lost that.  I did have a generic list of the -- on page 15 of my compendium.

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, I have that.

MR. WOLNIK:  And in the middle there, it talks about sort of the -- well, the whole graph talks about the shippers, and numbered A through I, and the term of the contract, the total contract quantity, and the volumes that are being delivered to the market zone north, which includes Dawn and Panhandle Eastern or PEPL North and Vector.

So it appears to me that, as I add the number of shippers in that middle column going to the market zone north, it includes the Panhandle Eastern group.  I get seven shippers, so it sounds like you sent it to one.  So at least six of the other shippers weren't aware that this was happening.

MR. SHORTS:  That is a possibility, that they may not have known it was happening.  One of the requirements we have of doing business with various parties, especially if we are going to be buying supply, is to have a NAESB, or North American Energy Standards Board, agreement, so that in many cases is your foot in the door.

So you have to have a NAESB agreement with Union to be included on many of our RFP lists, et cetera.

So that, again, is a requirement.  And we have been talking to many of these Rover shippers over the years, just even giving them comfort of coming to Dawn, because many of them have not done business on the Canadian side of the border.

MR. WOLNIK:  I recognize that.  My only point was there is a number of Rover shippers that didn't have the benefit of perhaps bidding into this.

I would like to -- so this was sent out May 26th.  Is that right?  Of '16?  So earlier this year.

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  And as I look through here, bids were due on May 31st.  And according to my calendar, the 26th was a Thursday, and bids were due on the 31st, which is a Tuesday.

Would you disagree or take any exception to that?

MR. SHORTS:  No.

MR. WOLNIK:  My calendar also says May the 30th was a memorial statutory holiday.  Would you agree with that?

MR. SHORTS:  Sure.

MR. WOLNIK:  So a bidder would literally have maybe 24 hours, business hours, or one business day, to really respond to this.  Would you agree with that?

MR. SHORTS:  No.  Even in the deal that we ended up actually structuring, we did not get the, what I would call the absolute proposal, but they provided us an indicative and said:  We need to work on this.  We did not -- I don't know the exact date, but we did not actually trigger that deal on -- sorry, May 31st.

MR. WOLNIK:  That's what this says.  I mean, again, if I'm misreading --


MR. SHORTS:  It was a proposal.  So they provided a proposal.  We contacted them to discuss the proposal, because we didn't fully understand part of the proposal.

And through that back-and-forth arrangement we were able to come to an agreement on the landed supply deal.

MR. WOLNIK:  No, I appreciate beyond the submission of the proposals that there's a lot of things to do to finalize it.

But what we're talking about here is a competitive process that you entered into where you provided very little time for anybody to respond, didn't send it to all of the shippers, and perhaps those that may have had capacity had virtually no time to develop a comprehensive competitive proposal to submit it to you.  Would you agree with that?

MR. SHORTS:  I'm assuming, Mr. Wolnik, that this timing is consistent with many other proposals that we put out, but I don't know that for sure.

MR. WOLNIK:  I mean, I can't talk about there are other proposals.  They're not on the record.  You have asked for a long-term deal here.  By the way, what is a long-term deal under this -- you ask for long-term firm transportation capacity and other arrangements.

So what do you mean by that?

MR. SHORTS:  We left that purposely vague for people to provide to us proposals covering a wide range of terms.

MR. WOLNIK:  So somebody that wanted to enter into a long-term delivered supply arrangement, you would accept that there is probably a lot of work to do to pull together a proposal that included the commodity?

MR. SHORTS:  Oh, it didn't necessarily include the commodity if it was just a transportation --


MR. WOLNIK:  But if I am a Rover shipper, that's why I am a shipper, because I’ve got gas and I want to sell it. 

MR. SHORTS:  Again, I can't speculate on Rover shippers.  But even had we given this to them, I am not sure how many of them would have been able to commit, for example, to November 1 of 2017, without Rover having its FERC certificate in hand, for example. 

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay, thank you.  We will move on. 

Now, at APPrO 3(c) -- Mr. Gagner, maybe you could bring that up, if you wouldn't mind? 

You notice that -- you noted that you eliminated the option of requiring new shippers to deliver to Ojibway as an alternative to the build because of the illiquid nature of Ojibway.

I had a discussion with the panel yesterday about interruptible customers, and some of them still want to remain interruptible customers.  And I asked if those interruptible customers, rather than incurring the cost of -- probably the higher cost of alternative fuel, could purchase additional gas at Ojibway in lieu of being interrupted.

I think it was Mr. Isherwood certainly said they would look at it. 

Do you have anything to add to that, is there any reason that you know that they couldn't do that? 

MR. SHORTS:  Again, just given the naturally illiquid nature of Ojibway as not being a liquid point or having any transparency, we had assumed that many customers would not entertain this as a reasonable solution. 

MR. WOLNIK:  But it wouldn't preclude them from owning capacity upstream and delivering to this location, as necessary? 

MR. SHORTS:  No.  I mean, customers could certainly look at that alternative. 

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay, thank you. 

MR. REDFORD:  Chris is just paying me back for doing at that to him at the previous hearings.

Are you suggesting that those customers would take interruptible transportation upstream of -- upstream of Ojibway?  Or are you talking firm contracts upstream of Ojibway for using it on an interruptible basis? 

MR. WOLNIK:  Well, the panel yesterday, we talked about the market forecast in table 5-1 in your evidence, and the panel 1 said some of those customers -- well, first of all, panel 1 said they have no contracts.  They also said that some of those interruptible customers they had forecasted to go firm will opt to stay interruptible. 

And I think there was a response to an IGUA interrogatory that talked about the higher cost of alternative fuels for oil and propane electricity.

So what I was trying to establish was if those customers wanted to continue to stay interruptible, but bring in additional gas during those days they might be interrupted, where there was interruption called for, could they arrange for other supplies at Ojibway in order to avoid being interrupted as a distribution customer. 

However they got those supplies at Ojibway, please -- like just ignore that for purposes of this question.  I am not saying it is not an issue.  I'm saying for purposes of the Union system, do you see any reason why that wouldn’t work?

MR. REDFORD:  The reason I asked my question was, I thought you had said at the end of your previous statement that they could own capacity upstream of Ojibway.

MR. WOLNIK:  That would be an option, sure.

MR. REDFORD:  I find it highly unlikely that an IT customer on our system is going to own capacity back to Panhandle field zone or anywhere else, just to feed interruptible volumes. 

MR. WOLNIK:  You would agree those upstream arrangements are their business, and they could handle that however then wanted to do it, through a marketer, through their own contracting, however they wanted to do it, if they --


My point, my question is: If they were to arrange for alternate supplies on those days that they might be interrupted, would you accept the gas?  And recognizing that on those peak days, the Windsor market is probably at its highest level. 

[Witness panel confers]

MR. REDFORD:  I think we would say the same thing as panel 1, that we would have to look at it.

I think -- and in fact, we would have to look at it on a case-by-case basis --


MR. WOLNIK:  Absolutely.

MR. REDFORD:  -- where are the customer is located.  There's been discussion that supply at Ojibway is not one for one supply on the other side of Sandwich in the Leamington/Kingsville area, and you would have to figure stuff like that out.

MR. WOLNIK:  I promise I will come back to that.  I am not discounting those as concerns.

I am trying to understand, from a system perspective, would you consider it?  It sounds like yes, subject to the capacity downstream. 

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  I think panel 1 said that that would be something that would be considered.  I think it would be complex. 

MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you. 

MR. WALLACE:  Sorry, I would just like to add to that.  We do use C1 activity to mitigate the impact of our interruptions.  So insofar as we have utilized some of that C1 activity and limited our interruptions to a certain subset of customers, we don't want to be double counting. 

So that C1 activity that’s happening, those customers that are interrupted can't purchase the supply from them.

MR. WOLNIK:  I recognize that.  I would like to kind of switch topics now.

About a year ago, we were in this room talking about Nexus.  And Nexus was a competitor to Rover sponsored by -- I think one of your parent companies was the sponsor.

And Union was a founding shipper, anchor shipper -- I am not quite sure what the terminology was, where you contracted for 150,000 dekatherms a day to move volumes on Nexus through DTE, into the St. Clair line, I think, and into Dawn, a long-term contract. 

Does that encapsulate it roughly correctly? 

MR. SHORTS:  Yes. 

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  We heard earlier from Mr. Wallace that you acknowledged -- you recognized the need for reinforcement in this area back as far as 2012.  It was a growing need.

Mr. Shorts, I asked you a question in the technical conference as to whether you considered getting Nexus volumes delivered to the Panhandle line, and then through to Ojibway.  And I think you had indicated it wasn't offered, but you also -- it wasn't offered as an alternative, but you also didn't contemplate and go back and ask for it.

MR. SHORTS:  No, that's correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  Can you tell me why? 

MR. SHORTS:  Our alternative at the time in 2012 was Nexus.  So when we committed to that project, we were looking simply at an ability to bring a diversified supply of the Marcellus/Utica into Dawn.  And at that point in time, the most economical -- the only solution to us at that point in time for that direct connection was the Nexus pipeline project, and that is why we committed to it and carried through as an anchor shipper.

MR. WOLNIK:  Mr. Gagner, can we pull the map up, the last page of my compendium?

This is a Union map that I think, Mr. Shorts, was from a presentation you might have given a few months ago.

This kind of generically shows the two projects, Rover and Nexus, coming through Ohio into Michigan. And Ojibway kind of stands out there in the big font.  There is also the Panhandle line there. 

So I guess what I am trying to understand is you had the opportunity to ask Nexus to interconnect with Panhandle Eastern, and then deliver those volumes in to Ojibway.  And you said you started talking about this in 2012, you knew about the need in 2012.

I think you didn't contract until -- I think the precedent agreements were in 2014 and then you restated those agreements in 2015. 

So you had several opportunities to go to Nexus and say would you deliver -- could I get Panhandle as a receipt point, so that I could then contract from that receipt point into Ojibway.  Had you done that, that might have alleviated some of this reinforcement. 

So I am trying to understand why that wasn't a potential commercial alternative at the time. 

MR. REDFORD:  So to be clear, what Mr. Wallace said was they knew the -- they would know the relative order, or the relative sequencing of next facilities on the Panhandle system.

I'm not sure whether we had a forecast of 106 tJs of additional load back in 2012. 

MR. WOLNIK:  I'm sure you didn't.

MR. REDFORD:  Those two concepts are -- they're separate.

MR. WOLNIK:  I think -- I acknowledged at the time, didn't know the number, but knew there was a pending need. 

So it seems to me you had the opportunity to forego a portion or delay this build by contracting -- recognizing there is limitations at Ojibway.

But you could have shifted some of those Nexus volumes for delivery through your system and saved some upstream costs, because it is using your own system.

You had the opportunity to do that, but failed. 

MR. REDFORD:  The connection at St. Clair is using our own system as well.  So we came in through DTE into the St. Clair line and that goes back to Dawn; its Union's system.   So I would say that, you know, Panhandle is not advantageous to the arrangement that we made.

MR. WOLNIK:  You didn't consider it?

MR. REDFORD:  No, we didn't, but at the same time I don't see Panhandle as advantageous to the St. Clair line.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Wolnik, the materials that you have in your compendium, do we have a copy of that?  Has it been marked as an exhibit?

MR. WOLNIK:  Yes.  Oh, sorry.

MS. SPOEL:  I think some of this material, this map I don't think is on the record in this proceeding.

MR. WOLNIK:  I did give it to Staff.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I'm sorry, Madam Chair, we did have copies, but I guess we got mixed up if you had them as well.  This is the APPrO compendium --


MS. SPOEL:  I don't think we do.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you have a copy?  We will bring up a set just in case you don't.  Mr. Wolnik, I guess we haven't marked this, have we?

MR. WOLNIK:  No, can you do that for me?

MR. MILLAR:  I can.  So it is K2 -- I forget what the...

MS. SPOEL:  It is possible we do have it, but I don't think it is marked as an exhibit.

MR. MILLAR:  K2.3. 
EXHIBIT NO. K2.3:  MAP OF NEW PIPELINE INFRASTRUCTURE PROVIDING ACCESS TO SUPPLY AT DAWN AND NIAGARA/CHIPPAWA.

MS. SPOEL:  Sorry for that interruption.

MR. WOLNIK:  I think it like, is just kind of a series of general questions.  System design question.

In terms of the proposed facilities, does the new pipeline increase in any way the ability to increase C1 imports at all?  I know there is other restraints, but does this new pipeline increase that in any way?

MR. WALLACE:  So it's not the constraint.  The pipeline capability between Sandwich and Dawn is not a constraint right now, in terms of supply.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thank you.  So there is no added benefit then.  That's fine.

I know that the contract that you're -- the letter agreement you entered into with Rover recently talks about this 35 gJs a day of C1.

Within the C1 contract, is there embedded overrun rights?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SHORTS:  We're just checking.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay, thank you.

MR. REDFORD:  It would include authorized overrun as part of the C1 rate schedule.

MR. WOLNIK:  So you have shared with us that upstream of Ojibway the Rover shippers have 75 probably dekatherms, roughly 80,000 gJs a day of capacity, 35 on your system.

So they would have the ability to nominate additional volumes and, subject to your ability to take those volumes, you would accept it under your -- whatever the nomination and scheduling provisions are, and that would be at the overrun rate embedded within the C1 contract.  Right?

MR. SHORTS:  Just to be clear, Mr. Wolnik, our understanding is the arrangement would be that Energy Transfer would be the contract holder of the C1, not the actual individual suppliers, Rover suppliers -- or Rover shippers, I should say --


MR. WOLNIK:  Fair enough.  So Rover shippers could ask Energy Transfer or Rover, as the case may be, to nominate on their behalf and, subject to available capacity, you would do that under the overrun rate?

MR. SHORTS:  I'm not familiar enough with the Rover contracting to understand whether they have overrun rights on that capacity or not.  I just don't know.  I don't know that Rover contract --


MR. WOLNIK:  I'm asking about the C1 contract.

MR. SHORTS:  No.  But for it to be a C1 they have to have the capacity to get to the river, and I just don't know whether they can contract or nominate for something greater than what Energy Transfer would have contracted for.

MR. WOLNIK:  Perhaps I am not very -- I haven't been clear then.

So Mr. Redford, you administer the C1 contracts?

MR. REDFORD:  My group does.  My group does.

MR. WOLNIK:  So if the holder of the capacity, Energy Transfer, asked for a higher nomination, subject to allocation of capacity, you would presumably provide that?

MR. REDFORD:  If the C1 holder did, yes, we would look at it, and it would become part of our priority of service.

MR. WOLNIK:  Right.

MR. REDFORD:  We would evaluate the market that day --


MR. WOLNIK:  Right.  And see whether you --


MR. REDFORD:  -- and see whether we could accommodate.

MR. WOLNIK:  We have heard in the wintertime there is more likelihood of that happening than in the summertime.

MR. REDFORD:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. REDFORD:  I would assume.

MR. WOLNIK:  Now, this is a question I promised to come back to.  If we could pull up IGUA 9.  This talks about bringing in volumes and the impact, I think, downstream.

I think it is (b), so (b) says that:

"Union explored serving the entire 106 tJs a day of market through incremental gas supply demand at Ojibway.  The alternative would require approximately 195 tJs a day of upstream firm renewable capacity to Ojibway from Panhandle Eastern and incremental facilities..."

Et cetera, et cetera.

So putting aside the contracting practices, I am trying to understand the physical dynamics on your system.  Why -- I don't know if it is unique for the 106, but why do you virtually need to double the amount of gas coming in at Ojibway in order to meet a unit of market demand?

MR. WALLACE:  So under that scenario we're bringing in 195, which is 135 incremental, to satisfy 106 tJs of demand.  So about a 1.27 percent ratio.

So it has to do with the demand for the most part in the forecast being in the Leamington/Kingsville market and the losses within the system in getting those molecules -- getting that gas down to the market.

What that market needs is higher pressure gas on the NPS 20.  What the Ojibway alternative provides is molecules in the absence of any pressure increase.

So the facilities that exist between the 20-inch and the Leamington market simply can't move that extra gas down there without a fairly significant increase in pressure along the 20.

MR. WOLNIK:  That is helpful.  And does this assume that the Sandwich compressor is operating?

MR. WALLACE:  The Sandwich compressor is not operating, and this is --


MR. WOLNIK:  Oh, it's not operating?

MR. WALLACE:  Because we're continuing -- in the design day scenario, we would be continuing to feed gas, albeit a little bit at this higher rate, but basically we're still feeding gas in Sandwich into the Windsor market.

MR. WOLNIK:  So why would that be?  If you're bringing in a substantial amount of gas, I don't understand that.  If you're bringing in lots of gas, and as Mr. Quinn's chart showed, you often export gas from this area using the capacity availability of the Sandwich station, why wouldn't you -- I mean, it appears to me that your regular practice is to in fact use that Sandwich station to facilitate higher movement towards Leamington and Dawn.

MR. WALLACE:  Not on design day, though.  That runs when we have lower markets in the Windsor market and we have a lot of volumes coming across at Ojibway.

MR. WOLNIK:  Help me understand that.  I am not catching the linkage.

MR. WALLACE:  So on design day we still need to move gas into the Windsor market through the 20-inch.  And so at the same time trying to remove gas from the Windsor market into the 20-inch, it is counterproductive.

MR. WOLNIK:  Your point is that the imports aren't sufficient to meet that.  So you still need to move more gas into that area?

MR. WALLACE:  Yes.  Up until a certain point -- and I don't have the number off the top of my head -- but up and to a certain point we still need to on a design day basis supplement the Windsor market with gas from the 20-inch.

MR. WOLNIK:  So this isn't obviously a continuous function where again, using my math, that roughly for each unit of demand that you require at Leamington you need two units of gas coming in.

There's a point where that, perhaps, could -- that relationship could break down.

MR. WALLACE:  Yes.  The relationship is really a function of the demands on the system, the facilities on the system.

So in terms of what facilities exist between the 20-inch and the market, it can move around.

MR. WOLNIK:  So if it was 10 tJs a day, what would happen if you were trying to serve 10 tJs a day of incremental demand in the Leamington area?

MR. WALLACE:  So we did do a scenario for this if it's of assistance, and it was in FRPO 1. -- or FRPO 18, I believe, if you want to turn that up.  Let me just orientate myself to the interrogatory again one more time. 

So in the second part, looking at page 3 of 4 in the interrogatory, in this case we used a number of 29 tJs of incremental supply available at Ojibway.

And the resulting -- the resulting demand that you could accept in the Leamington/Kingsville market is 12 tJs a day of that 29.  So again, it is demonstrative of the inefficiency --


MR. WOLNIK:  There is some relationship there.  It seems to be more linear then than I was expecting.  Where there is more than a one for one relationship, I guess is the point I was trying to make.

MR. WALLACE:  It is more than one for one, for certain; it is never as favourable as one for one.  But the actual relationship hovers around a little bit, depending on facilities and locational demands.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay, that is helpful.  I think just one final question, and it is related to your evidence at Exhibit A, tab 5, page 14.  Mr. Gagner, I wonder if you would be good enough to just pull that up. 

Union notes in this evidence that the effects of DSM  -- I appreciate we talked about this yesterday, but since Mr. Wallace is on the stand and he’s a facilities expert, I thought the Board might benefit from his insight. 

In this part of the evidence, you talk about 920 tJs a year having been saved in this area, due to the historical DSM initiatives. 

And I think the panel yesterday acknowledged that there was some relationship between heating degree days.  Certainly not one for one, because some of this was related to year-round load, which is fine.  But some of it was heating-degree-day-related.

But if I were to look at the worst case scenario where this was a year-round load that was saved, an even amount each day, if I were to look at the peak day benefits and average the 920 tJs saved throughout the year, by the 365 days a year, I get roughly 3 tJs of peak day reduction as a result of the DSM measures.  Does that seem plausible? 

MR. WALLACE:  I don't believe it is plausible.  I mean, I think we can agree that DSM initiatives decrease the annual consumption, the annual demand.

I think it is plausible to say it decreases the average daily demand.  Really, facilities are impacted by the peak-hour factor and even in our daily models, we apply a profile to these demands.

So I think the jury is still out.  I think we're doing some work trying to stay with Enbridge, but I think the jury is still out as to whether we would have a decrease in the facility requirements because of DSM. 

MR. WOLNIK:  So I gave the panel yesterday my personal example of changing my furnace --


MR. KEIZER:  On this point, again I think this DSM issue was more appropriately put to panel 1, and I believe it was put to panel 1, and Mr. Isherwood indicated that it was difficult to determine the implications of DSM on the peak and that there were studies underway -- which I am not sure what the timing was to complete those -- where they would be done in conjunction with Enbridge.

So if my friend intends to pursue further on the exploration of the peak, I think it is a bit unfair to put it to this panel, recognizing that the appropriate person to talk about that was Mr. Isherwood and he did give an answer on the record yesterday. 

MR. QUINN:  If I may, Madam Chair, it was my question to Mr. Isherwood yesterday.  And Mr. Isherwood said that that question should be provided to panel 2, and I asked Mr. Wolnik if he wanted to ask that question because it was his question originally.

So if you will check the record, Mr. Keizer, Mr. Isherwood's response to me was to ask panel 2. 

MR. WOLNIK:  I am in your hands.  All I am trying to point out is that DSM measures could reduce peak day demand, and those demands haven't been taken into account in the forecast.

Mr. Wallace is a facility design expert.  He is the one that looks at this.  I would have thought the Board might benefit from his expertise. 

MR. KEIZER:  I think he has given an answer in regard to that anyway. 

MS. DUFF:  I think we can just proceed.

MR. WOLNIK:  Those are my questions.  Thank you. 

MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much, Mr. Wolnik.  The day is moving along.  Mr. Mondrow, are you prepared to go next?

MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, I think Mr. Rubenstein has a time constraint, which I do not.

MS. DUFF:  Did he provide you with an incentive?

MR. MONDROW:  So he can proceed. 

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  If this goes into tomorrow, I am in another proceeding across the hall.

MS. DUFF:  The panel is aware of the constraints.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just have a couple of questions following up on some conversations.  Some of my friends have asked a number of the questions that I had. 

The first thing I want to talk about and help me explain is the information that was filed last night.  So this is K2.1, the package, and maybe you could just help clarify my understanding. 

On page 4 of the document -- it's the letter from Rover Pipeline to Mr. Shorts, and as I read it, it is a follow up to a phone conversation that was had with respect to their concerns about comments that were made at the technical conference.  This is the first -- I am reading the first sentence here. 

Then if we flip over to the second page, the last paragraph, they essentially -- Mr. Reid from Rover is making a request to Union to correct the record before the Board, and he recognizes that the hearing is coming up in a couple of days, so he was seeking a correction by the 21st.  Do you see that? 

MR. SHORTS:  Yes. 

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then my understanding from what was discussed during the examination in-chief -- and this is on page 35 through 37, essentially you had conversations with them, as I understood it, and they no longer have those concerns, based on the conversations you had and Ms. Hickey, from -- is confirming that.  Do I understand that? 

MR. SHORTS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Could I ask you to turn to page 13.  This is an email from Ms. Hickey to Mr. Shorts and Mr. Redford.  And the e-mail says:
"Hi, guys.  I spoke to Luke in Dallas.  We would have an agreement in principle and would agree to rescind our letter, if you can get a ten-year term on your PEPL portfolio.  Let me know your thoughts or if you want to get on another call.  Thanks, Beth."

Can you explain to me, what is the connection between the agreement which you signed with them with respect to capacity and the letter? 

MR. SHORTS:  There was no connection.  We had previously had the conversations with them and it clarified that their concerns in regards to the transcript, putting in the proper context, answering their questions and going through as we noted in the cover letter, point by point, all of the points where we didn't agree with their assertions, and the -- this letter was basically saying -- or this e-mail, I'm sorry, was basically saying we can get to a ten-year term.

We had already come to the conclusion that we would be filing the letter.  So the letter itself wasn't of a concern to us.  So we did not require that any linkage between the potential deal -- which again we could not agree to ten years, but there was no linkage.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So when Ms. Hickey says "we would agree to rescind our letter if you can get to a ten-year term on your PEPL portfolio", how are we supposed to understand that? 

It seems to me there is a clear, if you agree to the term, if there's an agreement, we will rescind our letter to you with the -- is there no connection?  It seems to me there is. 

MR. REDFORD:  Well, I guess our point would be is that we agreed to an 8-year term. We had already satisfied their concerns. 

I will say that if we had not satisfied their concerns, we were prepared to respond to them and file that response and Energy Transfer's letter to the Board, and that is evidenced in the package on page 7 of 37.

So, you know, we were looking for something less than ten years on those contracts, and that was our focus.

In the end, that is what we went back to them with, and that is what they agreed to.  So, you know, I guess in hindsight, I am not sure anything turned on it, because we didn't accept the ten-year agreement with them.  We accepted an eight-year agreement.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  So there is no quid pro quo here that if you sign an agreement with them they will take issue -- they'll rescind your letter.  They won't take issue with what you said at the technical conference?

MR. REDFORD:  Yeah, no.

MR. SHORTS:  No.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  The other issue I wanted to ask, and this was the discussions that were had this morning with respect to comparing the Ojibway alternative incentive with the Parkway delivery incentive.

There was some discussion, as I understood it from the panel, about why you can't compare the two and the risks of having an incentive to deliver at Ojibway.

One of the things, as I understood it, was, well, what happens if -- while you may have an obligation to deliver, those -- in a peak day there's -- no delivery happens, whereas in the Parkway, as I understood it, if someone who has an obligation doesn't deliver, well, you don't provide them with the gas on the other end, essentially, but this is clearly not the same case, since obviously they're not a consumer as well.  Did I understand that?  Am I correct there?

MR. REDFORD:  That's correct.  I think the recourse in each situation is very different.  For Parkway obligation it is a condition of service.  With deliveries at Ojibway you're making an agreement with a third party to deliver gas.  If they -- and they will have other options, particularly early on in the project, which may be at a higher premium, much higher premium, going to the gulf, and our view is that the resource is, if they don't deliver, we're short gas.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I want to understand the risk regarding, while they may have an incentive and a firm obligation to deliver, that the gas just doesn't show up.  You talked about that being a risk, because then you need the gas, you have to go to the market and buy it the day of, and this could be problematic.

Help me understand.  How often does this occur where you have a firm obligation for someone to deliver gas to you and they don't deliver?

MR. SHORTS:  It would not be a regular occurrence, but it certainly does happen.  For example, we had a number of scenarios when the Alliance/Vector last year -- there was a number of Vector contracts we had that were deliveries from Vector to Union, but when Alliance pipeline that feeds into Vector called a force majeure, those contracts didn't show up.

So that does happen.  I'm going to say it is not a regular occurrence, but we do have the odd supply failure where gas doesn't show up that was contracted for.

For example, you can have -- in the PEPL field zone we have had freeze-offs, for example.  It is an area that is not -- not prepared for extremely cold weather.  So extremely cold blasts in the PEPL field zone can sometimes lead to well freeze-offs.  So that is the kind of failure we would get in that situation.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let's just separate what could happen in this case versus what's historically happened.  You say it is not a frequent occurrence, but it occurs.

How often?  I am not totally familiar with the situation you're talking about with Alliance/Vector.  In a year, how frequently and what is the volume that is supposed to be delivered that doesn't show up?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SHORTS:  We actually answered an interrogatory relating to how often do we get supply failures just for an example.  We had noted that we did not have any supply failures on the PEPL deliveries.

I do recall, from memory, we had four failures over two days on December 28th and 29th of 2015, but they were very small volumes.  They were anywhere from 120 to 7,000 gJs, but that was the extent of those supply failures we had on those contracts.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So it is pretty infrequent?  It is a pretty low risk?

MR. SHORTS:  Is it quite infrequent but, again, it does happen.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the contracts, as I understand it, provide -- essentially incent produce -- or producers or anyone who has that obligation to deliver, because there is usually a penalty clause.  This avoids the situation where they will go to whichever -- wherever the highest price at any given day is.

MR. SHORTS:  The issue with many of our supply contracts is the failure clause actually requires them not to deliver the gas to their primary delivery point but to redeliver it to us at Dawn.

So currently the way our standard contract is structured and our standard gas supply deal, if a supply fails, it's then required to be -- the exact volume is required to be delivered to us at Dawn.  That's the way our current standard gas supply contract is structured.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But my understanding, is there not a penalty provision if they don't meet --


MR. SHORTS:  Only if they do not provide the gas then at Dawn.  So if they do not provide it on the primary point and provide it at Dawn, then they are fine.  But if they can't do that, then they would be subject to a penalty charge.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And so in situations where the gas doesn't -- isn't delivered where it is supposed to, when it is supposed to, in the instances you talked about, I assume in that situation you have to find the gas on that day?

MR. SHORTS:  If we could find the gas, we would -- and we were required to get the gas, we would actually try and replace it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So is the only difference between the risk that happens anywhere else in your system with any other contract that you have versus the potential Ojibway, you know, alternative is just at Dawn it is more liquid versus potentially at Ojibway, so that the availability or the price may differ?  It is a risk mitigation thing, not that the risk is necessarily higher?

MR. REDFORD:  Well, that is the issue.  Our view, the consequences are higher.  It may be a low frequency, but the consequences are higher.  So will there be gas available at Ojibway to even purchase?  The price -- I think if it was a design day and we were short a large volume of gas, you know, we would have the choice between purchasing the gas in the market and paying the price on the day, or people don't get gas.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.  Mr. Mondrow.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Mondrow:

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Gentlemen, good afternoon.  I want to start by following up on -- clarifying, actually, in my own mind something that I think you spoke to Mr. Wolnik about.

I am not sure who this is for.  Mr. Shorts, it may be for you.

Can someone tell me what your current -- that is, in the winter 2016/2017 -- design day demand days in the Windsor area, west of Sandwich?

MR. SHORTS:  No, that is not me.

MR. MONDROW:  I got it wrong the first shot.

MR. WALLACE:  I may not have listened as closely after you said maybe Mr. Shorts.  Could you repeat the question?

MR. MONDROW:  Sure, Mr. Wallace.  Thanks.

The current design day demand in the Windsor area, by which I mean the area served by your Panhandle system west of Sandwich.

MR. WALLACE:  The current design day demand?  I believe -- and this was the basis of our exercise on FRPO 18 -- that the existing design day demand in that Windsor market is 221 tJs a day.

MR. MONDROW:  And on design day you serve 60 tJs of that from the Ojibway obligated deliveries that we've talked about?

MR. WALLACE:  That is correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So right now -- or winter 2016/17, on design day you are also serving Windsor by moving gas from Dawn west through the Sandwich compressor?

MR. WALLACE:  Yes.  There is some regulation at Sandwich, and we are moving that gas from the 20-inch through that regulation into the Windsor market, the 3,450 kPa Windsor market.

MR. MONDROW:  So am I not correct that for every terajoule over and above the 60 that you could bring in through Ojibway into the Windsor market, the displacement of gas that would otherwise come from Dawn through Sandwich would be at a one-to-one ratio, at least up to the total of 221 tJs a day?

MR. WALLACE:  It would be at a one-to-one ratio up until the point in which you would basically shut off any gas that's coming in from the 20-inch into the Windsor market. 

MR. MONDROW:  So the displacement is one-to-one? 

MR. WALLACE:  I agree.  The inefficiency comes after that, and getting that -- that molecule does not -- cannot get from that location to where it is needed in the Leamington/Kingsville market?

MR. MONDROW:  Without compression? 

MR. WALLACE:  No, because again we're displacing it.  Without incremental facilities, pipeline facilities. 

MR. MONDROW:  Okay, maybe I have to parse this a little more finely. 

So currently -- when I say currently, I mean this up coming winter, 2016/2017 prior to the project you are proposing.  So the current design day demand in Windsor is 221 tJs and you are serving 60 of that through Ojibway, which leaves 141 tJs of demand in Windsor.  Is that right? 

MR. WALLACE:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And that means that in order to serve Windsor on design day, there are 141 tJs flowing west from the 20-inch pipe through the regulation at Sandwich, into the Windsor area, correct?

MR. WALLACE:  221 minus 60 is 161.

MR. MONDROW:  161, sorry.  Mr. Hockin, you think you are reluctant to do math on the fly; you can actually do math. 

So 161 tJs a day in the Windsor on design day are being served by gas flowing west through the regulation at Sandwich. 

Mr. Wallace, doesn't that mean that you could bring up to 161 tJs of additional supply in at Ojibway and serve that Windsor market on design day, and end up with an incremental 161 tJs of supply east of Sandwich for the rest of the Panhandle market? 

MR. WALLACE:  So again the molecules would be there on the 20-inch.  The problem is getting them down into the Leamington/Kingsville market.

So that is why, when you look at a lot of our alternatives that increase -- for example, our alternative 2, I think we're calling it now, where we increase the Ojibway deliveries to 94, what happens is we start to shift -- because we are now bringing the gas in at Ojibway, we start to shift the constraint to getting the gas from the 20-inch into the market.

So when we’re trying to get the gas from Dawn, the constraint was on the 20-inch.  When we're trying to get more gas from Ojibway, then the constraint shifts and it becomes basically the laterals down into the market.

MR. MONDROW:  And the facilities that you're talking about adding -- or sorry, the facilities that you have talked about that you would have to add, if you were trying to solve this design day demand increase through incremental Ojibway deliveries, would be compression at Sandwich? 

MR. WALLACE:  No, no.  So the compression at Sandwich would not be for a design day basis.  It would be -- it would be to move the gas, for instance in the summertime. 

So when we looked at the 140 scenario, that's winter import capability.  If 140 was coming in, we need some facilities, pipeline facilities to move that gas down into the Windsor market.

MR. MONDROW:  If 140 was coming in 365 days a year.

MR. WALLACE:  365 days a year.

MR. MONDROW:  If the 140 was coming in only in the winter, would you still need facilities to increase the pressure in the Leamington laterals? 

MR. WALLACE:  I would still need facilities, yes.  I would still need laterals.  I would still need some pipeline facilities.

MR. MONDROW:  Is there somewhere on the record where we have the cost of those facilities? 

MR. WALLACE:  I don't believe we have the entire suite of facilities required under that alternative on the record at this point in time. 

MR. MONDROW:  And would those facilities include additional compression at Sandwich? 

MR. WALLACE:  Those facilities, if you were considering a winter-only service --


MR. MONDROW:  Yes.

MR. WALLACE:  -- then they would not.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Could you undertake to provide an approximate cost for those facilities, assuming a winter-only Ojibway delivery to serve the incremental demand over the planning period? 

MR. WALLACE:  This is for the 140 tJ a day option? 

MR. MONDROW:  Yes. 

MR. KEIZER:  Just so I am clear, you're asking for the implication of facilities of 140 feeding the Windsor market on a winter basis?  I just want to make sure that we're clear.

MR. MONDROW:  I understand.  So do I.

MR. KEIZER:  I am not sure of the question.  Sorry. 

MR. MONDROW:  I am talking about the facilities that would be required in order to serve the 106 tJs of incremental demand that you are trying to meet by way of the proposed projects, by bringing in additional gas at Ojibway in the winter months only. 

MR. WALLACE:  For a total of 140 tJs a day of gas at Ojibway.

MR. MONDROW:  If that is the total, yes.

MR. WALLACE:  I am asking if that’s the question.  Is that the scenario I am looking to run? 

MR. MONDROW:  Yes.  Can you run that? 

MR. WALLACE:  I can provide that estimate. 

MR. MONDROW:  Great.

MR. MILLAR:  I think we are at J2.5. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.5 FOR THE 140 GJ A DAY OPTION, TO ESTIMATE THE COST FOR THOSE FACILITIES, ASSUMING A WINTER-ONLY OJIBWAY DELIVERY TO SERVE THE INCREMENTAL DEMAND OVER THE PLANNING PERIOD

MS. DUFF:  I keep ongoing back to the table in Board Staff's interrogatories.  What was it?  Board Staff 3, attachment 4.  That's where they did the table.  They do all of the alternatives. 

So is it a variation on one of these alternatives, again?  Again scenario number 2 -- actually, it’s one, two, three, if I can count.  So new pipeline with incremental deliveries at Ojibway. 

I mean we're just playing with numbers.  I don't mean to -- the word play.  But I am saying there is an interplay of numbers of how much you're bringing in versus facilities.

So it is going to be a variation on a theme of scenario 2, where I've got --, you know, I have to replace 27 kilometres, I am upgrading Dover Centre, I am installing 16 kilometres of, you know, 12-inch pipe.  So there is going to be some variation on that theme.  That is what we're getting into now? 

MR. WALLACE:  It will be a variation on that. 

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry.  Just before we cement this undertaking, I want to go back to the 140 because I am not sure I completely understand this.

So I want to make sure I am asking you for the right thing, and then it may be the panel or someone else wants something else.  But just to zero in on what I am asking for.

The current demand in the Windsor market on design day is 221 terajoules a day, of which you serve sixty tJs per day or 60 tJs day, or 60 tJs from Ojibway, and I surmise that that left 161 tJs in Windsor on design day served from gas east of Sandwich.

And what I am asking is:  If you brought -- and we're trying to deal with 106 tJs of load growth over the planning period.

What I am asking you to tell me is if you dealt with that entire 106 tJs of load growth by bringing in gas at Ojibway, for which you would have ample displacement of Windsor design day demand, leaving gas east of Sandwich to serve other markets.  But what you are tell I am me, Mr. Wallace, is that you would need additional facilities to move that gas to other parts of your market, if they're not going to flow into Windsor.

I want to know the cost of those additional facilities.

So I am not sure that relates to the -- the 140 is your minimum winter demand in Windsor.  That's not what I am asking.

MR. WALLACE:  I guess what I'm saying is depending on what level of Ojibway import you want me to assume, there will be differing levels of facilities that we need to accompany that. 

At the end of the day, if I was -- if I were to serve the entire forecast, 106 tJs of demand, utilizing an increase in Ojibway imports, I would need 195 tJs.

MR. MONDROW:  Hold on, hold on.

MR. WALLACE:  Okay.

MR. MONDROW:  So you would need 195 tJs, because to move the gas from Ojibway to Leamington, you're going to see some inefficiency?  Is that what you're telling me?

MR. WALLACE:  I am going to see some inefficiency.  I'm saying I can do it multiple ways.

This is what I'm saying.  I could use 195 tJs and forego additional pipe between the 20-inch and Leamington, or I could use a smaller number of Ojibway imports and increase capital costs. 

I mean, it is an interplay between capital facilities, to some extent, and Ojibway supply.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Sitting here right now, you don't know which of those options would be more cost-effective just as between those two, which is fine.  I'm just --


MR. WALLACE:  We haven't got all the -- we haven't got costs on the record for those, I don't believe.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  All right.  So I would like -- if this is doable within a reasonable amount of time with a reasonable amount of effort, I would like to know -- sorry, if you bring in 195 tJs at Ojibway to deal with the entire 106 tJ of load growth, you won't need any incremental facilities?

MR. WALLACE:  On a design day basis I would not need any incremental facilities.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So there is nothing to cost there --


MR. WALLACE:  On an operational basis I would need.  The problem is I can't get 195 tJs from Panhandle Eastern.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  Their limit is 185, right?.

MR. WALLACE:  Yes.

MR. REDFORD:  We wouldn't support 195 tJs coming in through Ojibway, largely because we don't have -- I don't think we have that much room in our gas supply portfolio, A), and B), it would take all the -- it would basically take diversity out of our portfolio.

So, you know, we would have no room for Dawn purchases any more.  We would have no room for MichCon purchases any more.  It would basically be taking this, you know, about 40 percent or so of our total supply portfolio and putting it in one spot.

So I think, you know, we can run the numbers.  I will just say that we don't see that as a viable alternative.

MR. MONDROW:  Well, I am not sure what numbers we're running now.  You said if you brought in 195 you wouldn't need facilities?  I think I might have interrupted you.

MR. WALLACE:  Speaking strictly on a hydraulic basis, yes.  I wouldn't need facilities on a design day.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.

MR. HOCKIN:  We need to keep in mind that if you don't have facilities, you still have cost.  You have a cost associated with whatever the gas premium is to bring those molecules in or whatever those things is.

So it is not just one element which says without a pipeline build or a compressor there is no cost --


MR. MONDROW:  I understand that.  You went through lots of costs with Mr. Wolnik.  I understand that, thank you.

MR. WALLACE:  Sorry, there are costs to operationalize that, and that is strictly speaking on a design day basis.  On a non-design day basis that is a lot of gas to handle in the Windsor market.  We'd need to add compression at Sandwich.

So we can't just -- when we look at the whole picture in terms of capital costs --


MR. MONDROW:  Is that how you move -- so Mr. Quinn showed you some graphs which highlighted days on which the gas into the Windsor market from Ojibway exceeded the Windsor demand, and that gas obviously went somewhere else.  You used compression on those days to move the gas?

MR. WALLACE:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And what you're telling me is if you brought in that much gas at Ojibway you'd need more -- even if you could, which you can't, but even if you could, you would need more compression than you currently have.

MR. WALLACE:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  You talked about incremental compression and the costs of that already.  Okay.  So let's leave that scenario aside then.  I don't think that's going to help me, and not the Panel.

So let's go back to the scenario where you are bringing in 140 tJs per day of gas at Ojibway, which is the minimum winter demand limit that you have talked about.

And you have said that there isn't anywhere on the record at the moment any indication of the cost of the facilities that would be associated with that, which are not compression facilities at Sandwich.  There's some other facilities, and we don't have a description of that yet.

So can I ask you to undertake to provide that?

MR. WALLACE:  I can do that.

MR. MONDROW:  Great.  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  If I may, to add to that, just in terms of clarity, Mr. Wallace, you said that you would have problems on the laterals.  If you could specify which laterals you are addressing, because as we discussed before that simulation demonstrates the pressures at 175.  We have them already on the record at 140.  Tell us which laterals you are trying to address the issue on, because your station costs in JT1.18 said the stations are okay, with the exception of Mersea gate.

MR. WALLACE:  So the constraint.  The controlling pressure, constraint on that system is still at Leamington north gate.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So if you could tell us where the lateral -- you said the problem would be on the laterals, s it would be deliveries to the lateral --


MR. WALLACE:  Moving gas from the 20-inch down to the distribution market.

MR. QUINN:  Could you just specify that which you are addressing, that would be helpful, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  The undertaking is J2.6. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.6(B):  TO PROVIDE AN INDICATION OF THE COST OF THE FACILITIES THAT WOULD BE ASSOCIATED WITH THAT, WHICH ARE NOT COMPRESSION FACILITIES AT SANDWICH.  ALSO, TO ADVISE WHERE THE LATERAL DELIVERIES WOULD BE LOCATED.

MR. REDFORD:  Just to be clear -- sorry.  Oh, I was going to say, just to be clear, we would see 140 tJs, which is somewhere around 30 percent of our portfolio.  It is a pretty large number to come out of that area as well, and again, it is not going to leave us much room for flexibility in our portfolio.  It will reduce our diversity of gas supply plan.  So it would not be something that we would see as viable.  It would upset the balance in our gas supply portfolio.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay, thanks.  It might also avoid $250 million of capital investment, but we can argue or exchange views on the prudence of that.

I want to make sure I understand something else that I think you told Mr. Wolnik, but it was really fast, and I am not sure I got it right.

So Mr. Wallace, when you have been talking throughout this proceeding -- both in the evidence, the interrogatory responses, the undertakings, and in the last couple of days -- about the 140 tJ per day minimum demand in Windsor, I thought that was actually gas consumed in Windsor, but now I understand that is not the case.

MR. WALLACE:  It is a combination of gas consumed in Windsor and gas that is transported through the Sandwich compressor upstream on the NPS 20.

MR. MONDROW:  And so what's the minimum winter demand in Windsor?  Is that 32 tJs, did you say?

MR. WALLACE:  So the summer we are looking at 35 --


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.

MR. WALLACE:  -- and the winter -- I may need to check my numbers again, only because in the wintertime your compressor is a little bit higher horsepower.

So I know the total is 140.  I am just not 100 percent sure if the breakdown is 80 and 60 or 90 and 50, or somewhere in that neighbourhood.

MR. MONDROW:  Could you provide that by way of undertaking?

MR. WALLACE:  I can undertake to --


MR. MONDROW:  Thanks.

MR. MILLAR:  J2.7. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.7:  TO PROVIDE THE MINIMUM WINTER DEMAND IN WINDSOR.

MR. MONDROW:  So what we're talking about today is the feasibility of serving all or part of the 106 tJ per day of incremental growth that you are facing through Ojibway.  And I fully understand Union's position.

It seems, to me -- and your evidence tells us you looked at that alternative, and it seems to me that the alternative you looked at was serving part of the growth in any year of the plan by incremental Ojibway deliveries and, therefore, you still needed incremental Dawn to Rover -- sorry, Dawn to Dover -- Dawn to Dover facilities; is that right?

So your Ojibway alternative as analyzed in the evidence really didn't display significantly any Dawn to Dover facilities.

MR. WALLACE:  No.  It displaced -- in comparison to our proposed project it displaced 13 kilometres of NPS 6, but it replaced them with a couple of reinforcement projects from the 20-inch into the market.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  So serving part of the incremental design day demand from Ojibway really doesn't lower the investment costs significantly required to serve the entire design day incremental demand?

MR. WALLACE:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So if we can't get it all from Ojibway, it is really not going to help very much over the entire planning period.

MR. WALLACE:  That incremental amount we showed doesn't really contribute a great deal to reduce facility costs.  So 94.

MR. MONDROW:  But if you could serve the first year or two of incremental demand by additional obligated firm deliveries at Ojibway, you could defer the entire project, which would result in a net gain to ratepayers?

MR. WALLACE:  So again, so in the first year we have 58 tJs of incremental demand.  The alternative we had offered was an incremental 34 of supply in that first year.

So obviously even on a one-for-one basis not enough, plus the inefficiency of meeting demands in the Windsor market.  So it would result in us having to build a fair portion of facilities in the first year as well.  So it doesn't defer build in the first year.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  And we talked yesterday, that 58 in year 1 includes 48 of currently interruptible service that is desiring firm service?

MR. WALLACE:  Yeah.  I believe so.  Somewhere in that neighbourhood.

MR. MONDROW:  Some major portion of that 58 is conversion to firm from interruptible.  It's okay.  It is on the record.  I won't put you on the spot.  That's fine.  Thanks.

And I think -- that's okay.  I think we got that.  I am just, I am actually going through and crossing out quite a bit, Madam Chair, because Mr. Wolnik did a superb job in his examination.  So I will finish, I hope, by 5:00.  But that is why I am pausing, so I appreciate your patience. 


Mr. Redford, if I understood your testimony earlier correctly, the Panhandle Eastern capacity to Ojibway is 185 -- the current physical capacity is 185 TJs per day? 


MR. REDFORD:  That's correct.  That's what Panhandle Eastern has said that they could do to Ojibway. 


MR. MONDROW:  So the limit on Ojibway deliveries in respect of the 106 TJs that we're look he can at today is not a physical limit on Panhandle Eastern.  Rather, it is Union's ability to accept firm deliveries at Ojibway in the winter?  That's really what the limit is, right? 


MR. REDFORD:  Could you repeat that again? 


MR. MONDROW:  Yes.  It just seemed to me -- I am trying to find the limiting factors here.  It seems to me given that Panhandle Eastern has 185 TJs per day of physical capacity to Ojibway, that's not the limit.


The limit that we're running up against is Union's ability to accept incremental firm obligated deliveries at Ojibway on to its system.  That's where the limit comes in, in order to serve the growth that you are trying to serve. 


MR. WALLACE:  Yeah.  There is a limit.  I'm not sure if I was to say okay, let’s -- if we were to have all of that 184, let's say, arrive on design day, that isn't enough capacity. 


There's still -- there would still be some facilities required.


MR. MONDROW:  To get to the 195.


MR. WALLACE:  To meet the demand of 106.


MR. MONDROW:  Which would make Mr. Redford very, very nervous in terms of gas supply.


MR. REDFORD:  Yes, it does.


MR. MONDROW:  I wanted to acknowledge that evidence.


MR. REDFORD:  But that is correct.  We talked earlier about the 195, it does exceed Panhandle's system capabilities. 


So our assumption would be, just like it would be in our own system, there would be expansion required on the US side. 


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  I think what I would like to do then -- as I say, I think Mr. Wolnik actually clarified a lot, certainly for me. 


So what I would like to clarify, though, is there are references in various parts of the evidence to Ojibway delivered agreements of various types.


I prepared a chart which I would like to walk you through, and I am going to take you to the evidence for each line on the chart.  And I just want to identify the contracts and the capacities, and what kind of contract they are, and the effective dates and so on.


So I am hoping -- you will see some blanks on this.  I am hoping we can fill them in and end up with a picture which I certainly don't have comprehensively, because the references in different parts of the evidence are different.  So with your permission –-


MR. REDFORD:  Just for some clarity, do you mean as they sit today? 


MR. MONDROW:  We are going to go through that.  I have the dates and everything.  That's exactly what I want to do, is make sure that that is clear for me.  If you wouldn't mind, Madam Chair, I can hand this --


MS. DUFF:  Have the witnesses seen it today? 


MR. MONDROW:  They have not, and as I say --


MS. DUFF:  The source is? 


MR. MONDROW:  Well, the sources are all listed here I will go to the sources.  This is just a note page where hopefully we can together complete the things that I think aren't clear on the record.


So no, they have not seen it.  I think when you se it, hopefully you will agree it is not a problem.  If you will permit me, I will hand it up and if there are objections, I will certainly respond to those.


[Mr. Mondrow passes out paper]


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, the exhibit number will be K2.4, and it is a summary of contracted Ojibway deliveries.

EXHIBIT NO. K2.4:  SUMMARY OF CONTRACTED OJIBWAY DELIVERIES PREPARED BY MR. MONDROW

MR. MONDROW:  Just for Mr. Keizer's benefit, as this is being handed to the witnesses, if you wouldn't mind -- I'm sorry, I should have talked to you before and I didn't. It would have made it easier for you.


I didn’t think of it, because I don't think this is going to be controversial.  But if you could indulge me to go through line one, I won't stand in any way of any objection that might pop up after that.  I don't think there will be.  It wasn't a very neat practice, and I apologize.


Again, all I want to do is confirm the information that I think is in the evidence, and I want to make sure I am not double counting some of these agreements; really, that is what I am trying to establish.


So if we could go to the first line -- so I am actually -- as I promised, I will take you to the source.  So this is Union's interrogatory responses, and the first one is at FRPO number 3 – actually, the first four, I guess, are at FRPO number 3.  And there is a chart that sets out these agreements at page 2 of the interrogatory response. 


And you will see that all I have done is reproduced these figures. 


So the first contract has a capacity of 26 TJs per day and it is -- as I understand it, this is an agreement that Union currently holds, and Union holds capacity on Panhandle Eastern and the contract number is there.  So it is an existing contract and it expires October 2017. 


Am I correct that this is -- this contract includes obligated delivery to Union? 


MR. SHORTS:  Well, this is a contract that Union holds?


MR. MONDROW:  Right.  This is Union's own--


MR. SHORTS:  All of these would be Union's own supply, at least the first number of them. 


MR. MONDROW:  Right.  So I should say this is Union Delivery, so you can count on that? 


MR. SHORTS:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  And it is renewable? 


MR. SHORTS:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And the second contract on the record is the second line on this chart.  So it is 11 TJs; similarly, Union holds capacity on Panhandle Eastern.  It is existing, also expires October 2017.  It is also Union's own supply, so you can count on it, and it is also renewable? 


MR. SHORTS:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  So just pausing there, for these two agreements, the 26 TJs and the 11 TJs, you can count on being available during what I will refer to as the planned period, which is the in-service date for your project November 1st, 2017 through October 31st, 2022. 


So that 37 TJs you are assuming will be available during the planned period to meet design day demand? 


MR. SHORTS:  That's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  The third contract is a very small one.  It is only two TJs; it is also Union capacity on Panhandle Eastern, it also exists, it also expires object 2017.  But it is not renewable, as I understand it. 


MR. SHORTS:  That's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  And is this a Union -- this is Union capacity for delivering its own supply? 


MR. SHORTS:  Yes, it is.


MR. MONDROW:  So I can put a yes in that box.  But in any event, it is not renewable and you are not counting on this contract -- I am going to come to your new ones, but you are not counting on this contract during the planned period.


MR. SHORTS:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  And the fourth contract on this chart in FRPO number 3 is referred to as Panhandle Eastern Trunkline.  And I believe this is, from the description in the interrogatory response, third party-delivered supply. 


MR. SHORTS:  No, that's not correct.  That is actually a Union supply. 


The difference between the first three is it’s sourced in the Trunkline field zone, which is the Gulf,  and then connects with Panhandle Eastern pipelines and it's basically like a two-piece contract to get from the Gulf to the mid continent, and from the mid continent up to our -- to Ojibway.


MR. MONDROW:  So Gulf to mid continent would be the Trunkline piece, and mid continent to Ojibway would be the Panhandle Eastern piece?


MR. SHORTS:  Gulf to the mid-continent connection would be the Trunkline piece, and then from that point to Ojibway would be the Panhandle Eastern pipeline piece.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So that is an existing contract, it expires October 2017, and it is not renewable. 


MR. SHORTS:  That's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So you don't count on the capacity from that contract during the planning period?  You're not counting on that contract to provide supply to Ojibway during the planning period? 


[Witness panel confers]


MR. SHORTS:  We had assumed it going to be there for the purpose of this proposal and the evidence, but as we did not receive the -- where we thought we were going to be able to get renewal rights on that contract and we couldn't, then we had it replaced -- it was replaced by the delivered service contract, essentially keeping our commitment or our assumed commitment -- or sorry, our assumed reliance at 60.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So I will come back in a minute to the delivered service contract.

So if I can take you to LPMA number 11 next.  There is some description in the response, part (a) of this -- to this interrogatory.  So this response in part (a) talks about the 37 TJs, which are the first two lines on my chart.  Those are Union's contracts for Union's supply that contain rights of first refusal, plus 21 TJs per day of new third-party supply at Ojibway.

So what's that?

MR. SHORTS:  That was the result of the open season that we had, or the request for proposal, I guess is the better way to put it.  So that was the result of us seeking transportation, but we could not get transport.  So we worked out a landed supply contract deal with that party.

MR. MONDROW:  Is that at the C1 shipper?

MR. SHORTS:  It is a current C1 shipper, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  There are references elsewhere in the evidence to contracting with a current C1 shipper to obligate 21 TJs per day at Ojibway.  That is what this is?

MR. SHORTS:  That's what this is, correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  And so this commences when?

MR. REDFORD:  Just to be clear, so when we say "obligate", because we have talked a lot about obligating flow and things like that.

When we say "obligate" we are buying the supply, a delivered supply, at Ojibway.  So in fact, they're not using their C1 contract to provide that.  The C1 contract, they still hold that, but they're not using their C1 contract to provide this service.

MR. MONDROW:  So they still hold it and pay for it?

MR. REDFORD:  Correct.

MR. MONDROW:  But you are buying the gas from them at Ojibway.

MR. REDFORD:  At Ojibway.

MR. MONDROW:  To make sure that it gets there?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Or as part of the deal.

MR. REDFORD:  Well, they own upstream capacity on Panhandle and -- or Panhandle Eastern, yes.  And that was  -- and we assumed that is what they're using to provide that supply.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And is that Emera?  Can you tell me?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Yes?  I think everyone knows.

MR. REDFORD:  I agree.

MR. SHORTS:  It's the worst-kept secret ever.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So that, from the perspective of this application, that starts -- I mean, it will be effective October -- it'll be effective November 1st, 2017?  And it will run throughout the planning period, presumably.

MR. SHORTS:  That already commenced November 1 of '16.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.

MR. SHORTS:  And it is a three-year deal that ends October 31 of '19.

MR. MONDROW:  Ah, okay.  And it's not renewable?

MR. SHORTS:  It's not renewable.

MR. MONDROW:  It is obligated because now you are buying the gas, but it is not renewable?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. REDFORD:  Correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And obligated, as Mr. Redford described.

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  And then if I could go to K1.4, which is your opening statement, I think.  If you could go to the transcript -- I have the opening statement handy, so if I go -- and I put it on the chart, so if I go to page 3 of that, and the second paragraph on page 3.

MR. REDFORD:  Can you give me just a minute, Mr. Mondrow?

MR. MONDROW:  Yes.

MR. REDFORD:  So we can either -- I mean, we can reference these back to the opening statement or you could reference them back to the package that was filed, page 25 of that attachment, which is the -- which is the Letter of Intent with Energy Transfer Partners.  Either way.

MR. KEIZER:  That is in Exhibit K2.1.

MR. REDFORD:  That is K2.1, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, Mr. Redford, what page did you say?

MR. REDFORD:  Sorry.  Page 25.  And that would represent, I will say, the end state for those contracts.  The 60 TJs.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So are we on line -- sorry, line 6 now?

MR. SHORTS:  Sorry --


MR. MONDROW:  Is that what we're looking at?

MR. SHORTS:  -- can we rewind a little bit?  And maybe I got lost in translation.

You talked about line 5 was the new party supply deal that was November 1 to October 31, 2019.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  This was the C1 contract holder that is now --


MR. SHORTS:  Correct.  Okay.  I just wanted to make sure we hadn't double-counted.  Thank you.

MR. MONDROW:  Yeah.  So so far we haven't double-counted anything, I don't think.

Line 6, I was going to take you to your opening statement, and Mr. Redford, you took me to page 25 of Exhibit K2.1.  And where on this page are you pointing me to?

MR. REDFORD:  In K2.1?

MR. MONDROW:  Yes.

MR. REDFORD:  Oh, where it says "proposal detail", underneath the "to ensure Union" --


MR. MONDROW:  This is the 25,000 dekatherms per day?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  Those three bullet points.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So the first one is equivalent to 21 TJs per day?

MR. REDFORD:  The first one is the 26.  So actually, the first one lines up with line 1 in the table.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.

MR. REDFORD:  So bullet one lines up with line 1.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.

MR. REDFORD:  Bullet 2 lines up with line 2.

MR. MONDROW:  Yes.

MR. REDFORD:  And bullet 3 lines up with a combination of line 3 and 4.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So that simply replaces the, is it 58 or 60 -- I forget now -- TJs of Ojibway supply that you currently have.

MR. REDFORD:  60 TJs per day, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Can we go -- can you indulge me?  Can we go to K1.4, your opening statement.

MR. REDFORD:  We can.

MR. MONDROW:  If we go to the third paragraph on page 3.  You say -- sorry.  K1.4.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry.  We don't have it electronically, the opening statement of K1.4, but it is attached in the attachments that were included in --


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So that's fine.  You have it in front of you.  I don't think this is going to be a problem.  If I could just read the sentence, so in the third paragraph on page 3 it says:

"As an update Union has very recently agreed to contract for 23 TJs per day of firm transportation to Ojibway on Panhandle Eastern starting November 1st, 2019 to provide certainty post-2019."

So that was going to be -- that's my line 7.

MR. REDFORD:  Okay.

MR. MONDROW:  What I am trying to find, though -- and actually I don't know where it is now -- is my line 6.  I'm not sure where that came from.

MR. SHORTS:  I believe line 6 is a duplicate.  I believe you have duplicated line 5 --


MR. MONDROW:  Line 4.  Okay.

MR. SHORTS:  -- which is the third-party -- the new third-party supply, with -- in line 6.

MR. MONDROW:  I think you are right.  Okay.  Let me just check one more reference, sorry, just give me a second.
Okay.  Can we go to Exhibit B, Staff 3.  So this is a response to a Staff Interrogatory No. 3.  And we go to page 3 of that.

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, I have it.

MR. MONDROW:  Staff 3, page 3, item 2 on page 3, about two-thirds of the way down the paragraph it says:

"On June 14th, 2016, Union contracted for 21 tJs per day of non-renewable firm incremental supply at Ojibway for the period November 1st, 2016, to October 31st, 2019." 

And that was my line 6.  So what is that?  What's that a reference to?  Have I double-counted that somehow? 

MR. SHORTS:  Well, that – and I think it is a timing issue, because when we gave the opening statement it is after November 1st, so it is existing.  When we stated it is an existing landed supply contract, that was existing, but it just commenced on November 1st of 2016.

It was your -- we should have eliminated line 5, because you had line 6 already filled out. 

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  All right.  So that reference to Staff 3, and my reference to LPMA 11, is the same thing? 

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And number 7, my line number 7 is what is referred to in your opening statement on page 3 that I just read out to you. 
"As an update, Union has very recently agreed to contract for 23 tJs per day a firm transportation to Ojibway on Panhandle eastern, starting November 1st, 2019, to provide certainty post-2019." 

MR. REDFORD:  That's correct, which is bullet 3 on page 25 of K2.1.

MR. MONDROW:  Which replaces lines 3 and 4 on my chart.

MR. SHORTS:  That's correct.

MR. REDFORD:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  All right, so that is not new.  And finally, then, in your opening statement you said in the fourth paragraph on page 3:
"I can also report" -- Mr. Shorts, I guess this was you.  
"I can also report Rover pipeline will be contracting for the remaining 35 tJs per day of existing capacity on Union's system from Ojibway to Dawn through a long term renewable C1 transportation contract."

Now, that contract is not obligated in the sense I have been using the word.  That is, they're not obligated to deliver at Ojibway on any given day.

MR. SHORTS:  That's correct.  It is a standard C1.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  And it commences November 1st, 2017?  And does it have an expiry date?  Is that a nine-year -- sorry an eight-year --


MR. SHORTS:  It’s an eight-year contract with renewal rights.

MR. MONDROW:  So the renewal right in this case, though, is in Rover's favour? 

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. MONDROW:   Okay.  And you say in your evidence that in order to get that gas on a firm basis -- Madam Chair, can I have two more minutes to finish?

MS. DUFF:  Oh, yes, please.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  To get that gas on a firm basis, you would have to purchase the Rover shippers gas at Dawn.  That is the only way you could assure yourself the gas would arrive at Ojibway.

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. MONDROW:  You say compared to alternative supply sources, that would be pricey.

MR. SHORTS:  That's our expectation.

MR. MONDROW:  But what about compared to the project? Would it be pricey? 

MR. SHORTS:  Again, it depends on how you look at whether or not we're actually going to be able to negotiate or come to an obligated-to-deliver.  We just don't know. 

Right now, the risk around us actually being able to negotiate that with existing Rover shippers who we have no contractual relationship with, it is just -- we don't know.

We know that Energy Transfer is going to facilitate us to talk to the -- could talk to the Rover shippers.  But again, it would be an arrangement we would have to work out with the shippers on Rover, and then have Energy Transfer or Rover operationalized to obligate to deliver the physical volume through Ojibway. 

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And you talked with Mr. Wolnik I think about that at some length, as I understand it, so --


MR. REDFORD:  I think, Mr. Mondrow, that actually is
not necessarily the obligation in mind, but the totals that we're talking about; 60 plus 35 is 95.

It is -- it is similar to alternative 2 in terms of how much supply is coming in, and then you can see what the facilities are behind that.  It's part of the evidence.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  So I want to do one more thing and it will only take two minutes.  Can you go to Exhibit K 2.2, which is the FRPO compendium.  I don't think anyone has taken you here yet.  We can start on page 12, just to identify what this is. 

This is excerpted from Rover's filing with the FERC for a certificate of public convenience and necessity.  And if you move on to page 15 of the compendium, this is where the application, proper, starts.

If you keep going to page 17, Mr. Quinn has provided the executive summary from Rover on this application. 

And I want to start actually on page 18, near the top where we see that Rover -- in the second line towards the end of the line, it says:
"Rover will deliver approximately 750,000 ?dekatherms per day to Panhandle."

Am I correct that is roughly 790 tJs a day to Panhandle? 

MR. SHORTS:  Subject to check. 

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Sorry, if I can go back to page 17 under executive summary, it says:
"The Rover pipeline originated as a result of discussions with producers in the Marcellus and Utica shale suppliers of West Virginia, Pennsylvania, and Ohio that were seeking a means to move their stranded natural gas production to markets in the Midwest and Canada as expeditiously as possible."

If I go down to the bottom of page 17 of the compendium, in the last paragraph about halfway down, halfway across the third line, it says:
"Rover will install delivery meters at the Midwest Hub to deliver gas into Panhandle Eastern Pipeline Company LP Panhandle and A&R Pipeline Company," then I took you to the 790 tJs of delivery intention.

And then if you go down a little lower on page 18, we see that Rover has contracted with the Vector system to move supply to, among other places, Union Gas Dawn hub in Ontario, Canada, and Dawn hub.

You’ll see that is just before the highlighting there on the page, on the screen in front of you.

And then the highlighting says:
"Additionally, Rover has contracted with Panhandle to deliver additional volumes to the US/Canada international boundary at the Union Ojibway interconnect for further redelivery to the Dawn hub via the Union Gas supply system."

That is the 70 -- 85 or 75 tJs a day that you have spoken of, I think, Mr. Redford.  Is it 85?

MR. REDFORD:  85 tJs, or 75,000 dekatherms a day.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  So the reason I took you to all of that -- and it continues on, but I won't take you to more references -- is it seems to me that Rover on behalf of its shippers really wants to get gas to Dawn. 

MR. REDFORD:  That is part of their - that is part of their project plan.

MR. MONDROW:  Or down to the gulf, and you talked about that today.  But their desire to get to Dawn is reflected throughout this filing.  You would agree with me on that?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes, they're accessing a number of markets in the mid west, and include Dawn as part of that area.  So they have connection points in Michigan.

I don't expect that all, I will say, 1.1 million dekatherms a day are going to make it to Dawn.  Some of that will find its way into markets prior to getting to Dawn. 

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  If you look at page 19 right at the bottom, Mr. Quinn has highlighted text that says:
"Rover notes that producer-shippers taking their gas to the Dawn hub will have multiple options concerning final placement and pricing of their gas.  At the Dawn hub, their gas can be stored at multiple facilities in the area, sold in local Canadian markets, sent to US north-east markets on TransCanada Corporation pipelines, or sent back into the local Michigan or Chicago markets on other pipelines from the Dawn hub."

All of which indicates to me that Rover recognizes the value of getting its gas, or getting its shipper's gas, more accurately, to the Dawn hub.  There is a real demand for that.

MR. REDFORD:  I agree.  Well, we will just say that Dawn is the second-most physically traded hub in North America.

So for people that are selling natural gas, there's lots of buyers, loss of sellers. 

As Mr. Shorts said, it is liquid, it is transparent.  It is not -- you can get Dawn pricing off indexes, or as someone once said, all you’ve got to do is pick up the phone to understand Dawn pricing. 

MR. MONDROW:  And there are two ways to get to Dawn from Rover.  One is through St. Clair and one is through your Ojibway to Dawn system, your Panhandle system.

MR. REDFORD:  One is through Vector.

MR. MONDROW:  Vector through St. Clair and Sarnia.

MR. REDFORD:  Through the Vector St. Clair -- through Vector St. Clair point.

MR. MONDROW:  And the other is through Ojibway.

MR. REDFORD:  Through Ojibway.  So, well that's what they're proposing.  Just for clarity, when they connect into Vector, they will be staying on the Vector system right to Dawn.

So they will start on Vector US, and once they cross the border, they're at Vector Canada.

And, you know, the mid-point there, Vector may also refer to as St. Clair, like TCPL does and we do, but which isn't too confusing.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.

MR. REDFORD:  But they will stay on Vector -- from the time they hit Vector to the time they get to Dawn, they stay on the Vector pipeline.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you for the clarification.  I am obviously more interested in the Ojibway route, but I appreciate the clarification and your indulgence, Madam Chair.

Thank you.  That actually concludes my questions.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.

Perhaps we can -- can you still sit?  I mean, if we have another ten minutes, perhaps we could finish today.  I don't know, Mr. --


MR. MILLAR:  I don't have any questions, Madam Chair.

MS. DUFF:  The Board has a few questions.
Questions by the Board:

MR. PASTIRIK:  I just have a couple of questions.  I think these will be easier than some of the ones that you have had today.

The first one, just on the status of Rover.  Are there any more approvals that are required for Rover?  I am just looking at, you know, the November 2017 date.  Is there anything else that you know that needs to be approved there?

MR. SHORTS:  Rover is currently awaiting their FERC certificate.  It is expected any day now.  But that is one major milestone for them.  Then they may have other permits after that, but the FERC certificate is the main -- is the next major milestone.

MR. PASTIRIK:  But you are expecting it any day now -- or they are expecting it.

MR. SHORTS:  They have told us they're expecting it any day.

MR. PASTIRIK:  Okay.  And the only other question I have got around Rover is -- and there's been a lot of reference to Rover supplier pricing.  And you talk about the fact that you're not sure what it's going to be and how significant.  Do you have any sense at all of how more pricey that supply would be?  Just anything from just discussions that you guys have had in the market?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  I think that was really in reference to having an obligation.  So basically obligating flow through Ojibway.  And I guess I would just say, this is the same in any market.  So that if we have -- and there's seven shippers that hold capacity to Dawn.  That's the limit of the folks that we can go to, to get supply.

So our view is, is that they will know that we are to buy from seven shippers at Dawn, assuming that seven shippers can even -- are even coming to Dawn.  And our next best alternative will be Panhandle field zone to hold capacity.

So our view is similar to our delivered service, that that is the type of pricing that we'll get, and that's gas bought at Dawn.

Very similar -- and Mr. Shorts talked about Burlington Oakville.  Off the TransCanada system Burlington Oakville sits in the CDA, Union CDA.  It's TransCanada zone.

When we first started buying capacity from third parties, there were two or three of them in the market.  They quickly disappeared and our costs tripled.

So, you know, the -- you know, I guess an economist would say the market will work.  And scarcity typically means you are going to pay more.

So to the extent that, you know, our options are limited, we expect to pay a premium, and I think that is -- I think that is consistent with how markets work.

MR. PASTIRIK:  Okay, that's helpful.  Again, your comment about pricing tripling is pretty significant.  So I wanted to clarify.  Thanks.

MS. DUFF:  Ms. Spoel.

MS. SPOEL:  I just had one thing I wanted to clarify, and with all the things floating around it was a bit confusing for us as well.

The material that you sent out, the RFP that you sent out at the end of May, asking for people to sell back, I guess, their capacity, was -- that, I take it, was part -- I think from the discussion you just had with Mr. Mondrow, that was part of your effort to replace the supplies you currently get on Panhandle Eastern?  Am I correct on that?  Or was that part of your -- initially I thought it had to do with your evaluation of your alternatives and that was part of saying this isn't an alternative.

But I think that, having heard Mr. Mondrow's cross-examination, I think that was a separate issue?  And it was to replace the current capacities?  Am I correct on that?

MR. SHORTS:  So the RFP that we put out for Panhandle Eastern Pipeline transportation capacity to be delivered to Ojibway really served two purposes.  We were seeing incremental loads faster than we had even thought on the Panhandle Union system.  And therefore, we were running very close to having to say no to certain customers.

So we went out and said, well, let's try and get some incremental capacity.  If we could get it earlier it may help to alleviate some of the bottleneck.

But it also served the purpose, if we could not retain the renewal rights, it would help us to maintain at least the 60 long-term, or at least -- I shouldn't say long -- well, at least out to October 31 of '19.  It would at least give us some assurance out to then.

MS. SPOEL:  Right.  Okay.  That's helpful.  Thank you very much.

MR. REDFORD:  Certainly we would have preferred to go to the market for a price, even though they likely would see it as a premium, before we lost that capacity.

So it was a bit of a hedge against us being able to renew our capacity on Panhandle Eastern.

MS. SPOEL:  Right.

MR. REDFORD:  You know, I think had we not been able to renew the capacity perhaps we'd be in a different position in terms of pricing.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  That is helpful.

MS. DUFF:  Those are the Board's questions.

Mr. Keizer?

MR. KEIZER:  I do have a couple of questions in redirect, Madam Chair, and I will be brief.
Re-Examination by Mr. Keizer:

MR. KEIZER:  We have heard a lot of discussion today about a new compressor, and just for clarity, why wouldn't this whole concern about the project be alleviated by just simply building a new compressor?  Wouldn't that actually  -- would that solve all the issues if a new compressor was put in place?  At Sandwich?

MR. WALLACE:  So again, building a new compressor then, we're applying that we're bringing in the necessary volumes at Ojibway to serve the design day demand -- the incremental design day demands, and there simply aren't those volumes available to us.

MR. REDFORD:  Can I add to that?

I think it's a larger answer than just the compressor, and I know we've talked about bits and pieces of this today, but there is a number of reasons why just putting a compressor in doesn't make sense for us.

Part of it is that we would now be relying on a Rover build to hit November 1 of 2017.  If they don't go into service, then we are without supply, which is a risk.

We do not know -- there's no history on the Rover pipeline.  We have no idea what the utilization of that pipeline is going to be.

So adding a compressor would require -- and the assumption, adding a compressor requires more supply at Ojibway, which is what I am referring to.

So if we're -- part of that supply, if you look at how much volume we would have to bring in, part of it would have to be obligated through the 75 or 85 TJs a day that Rover has on Panhandle Eastern.

And in obligating that, we have no idea which producers are coming to Dawn, when they're coming to Dawn, and whether they have production to fill that pipe.

We talked about being confined to a small market for obligation.  There's seven shippers listed.  We have no idea how many are going to show up on November 1 of 2017.

And then in Rover at this point is not set up for deliveries into Ojibway.  It is not a delivery point in their tariff.

We talked about recourse, so I am not going to repeat it again, but we talked about recourse, if shippers failed to deliver there, what kind of risk we take without holding the capacity ourselves.

One thing we did not talk about was the benefit of holding capacity back to a place like the Panhandle field zone.  While Panhandle field zone Mr. Shorts said may be a little more money than other spots to buy gas, the fact of the matter is that if one supplier defaults on you and Panhandle field zone, there are a number of other suppliers at the source to purchase from.

So Panhandle field zone is a collection of -- it is a collection of producers that are producing in an area.  There is a lot more ability to mitigate your risk in the field zone than there is -- and we talked about Defiance.  I have no idea how liquid Defiance is, but Defiance is a connection point between ANR and Panhandle Eastern.  It would not be as liquid as some of these producing regions.

Again, we talked about the fact that to the size of the numbers that we're talking about, to add a compressor, it would represent a significant part of our supply portfolio going to either Panhandle field zone or that area.

It leaves us almost no flexibility in our gas supply portfolio.  We like the fact that we can purchase gas at Dawn.  It gives us flexibility to turn that on and off as we need to, and leaves us, you know, with very little supply left. 

It eliminates stuff like MichCon, where we spread out our supply portfolio for diversity purposes. 

So I think there are a number of different elements to the compressor option.  It is not just about building a compressor to solve the issues.  There are a number of other elements that come into it, in terms of putting that much supply through Ojibway.

And you know, we have run -- there's economics involved as well, but we just -- we see that as, it goes away from what we have been doing, and that is spreading out our gas supplies, getting some diversity.

We moved away from, you know, a great concentration in western Canada, and have diversified.  We still hold western Canadian production, but it seems to me like we would be going backwards. 

MR. KEIZER:  You also had some discussions with Mr. Wolnik, I believe, about a peaking service and just in respect of that, why would Union not pursue a peaking service? 

MR. REDFORD:  Well, it is something -- it's not something that we would want to do.

We expect to buy on a 365-basis, to the extent that we can.  We would use that supply in the winter and use that supply in the summer to fill storage.  And we would -- we would serve our system out of storage.

It has -- there's lots of benefits to using Dawn storage, including the fact that, you know, it is an integrated system.  At 23 pools, it is very reliable and secure and, you know, there’s a lot of comfort at Dawn.

We've got two pipelines coming down to the Panhandle system.  You know, winter peaking service, if you are relying on one supply to come in, I'm not sure that is -- I am not sure that is good idea.  You just don't have the security of supply and diversity that you do.

The other piece we didn't talk about and I think we probably should have talked about is, you know, a winter-peaking supply, you still would not -- even if you looked at something like that, you wouldn't buy on the day. 

You know, we try very, very hard not to buy in the spot market.  And the spot market can be very cruel.  If it's very cold, you can pay many, many, many, many times the value of what you should be paying for gas in a spot market.

So to say that why don't you just buy it when you need it, I look at places like Iroquois that people that do that, they take a lot of risk, you know.

You will see blowouts in the market and if you are caught on those days, you could be -- you could be paying for, you know, two or three months of gas in a single day because there's a market blowout.

So for our liking, you know, we want to be in a liquid spot.  We want to be in a spot that provides some diversity to us, provides some optionality and flexibility.

MR. KEIZER:  And there was also some discussions about the customers who are interruptible on Union's system reaching out and buying firm capacity on Panhandle Eastern and also supply to the basin. 

What, in your view, would be impediments to that type of arrangement, for an interruptible customer to pursue that kind of arrangement? 

MR. REDFORD:  What would be the? 

MR. KEIZER:  The impediments, if any. 

MR. REDFORD:  Well, I think -- well, I mean, as I think Mr. Wolnik stated, they would probably have to do it through a marketer. 

I don't see how -- you know, I don't see that the parties are that sophisticated that they would take capacity on Panhandle eastern back to the field zone just to serve an interruptible market. 

I guess that was my point when I was talking with Mr. Wolnik. The reason people will go to interruptible service is they're looking to -- they're looking to reduce cost and avoid cost, no add cost.

So my view is that you could go through a marketer and look for something, look for a service, and the marketer would have to use their assets to be able to provide gas to you at Ojibway, or wherever on the day. 

And again, you know, you are in the spot.  You know, you're likely in the spot market for that as well. 

MR. SHORTS:  I just wanted to add that when we suspended the vertical slice in our portfolio for our direct purchase customers, one of the points we had in there was the Ojibway Panhandle point. 

And when we eliminated that, we made a number of customers happy that they did no longer have to supply gas through that area. 

MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, those are my questions in re-direct.

I just had one other point and that is -- and I don't know if it would be of assistance to you, and I leave it in your hands as to whether it is, and maybe to Mr. Mondrow.

We spent a lot of time talking about this chart, and I don't know how successful it will be weaving through the transcript and trying to fill in the boxes.

And if it would be of assistance, we would be happy to somehow fill it out and to provide some kind of correlation between what was shown in FRPO 3 and maybe what is shown in Exhibit K2.2 or 2.1, whatever that exhibit number is. 

MR. MONDROW:  That would save me a lot of personal confusion in front of my computer screen.

MS. DUFF:  You’re going to email him the template, and then who is filling it? 

MR. MONDROW:  I would be thrilled to do that.  If you guys at Union would help out with that, I will certainly provide the template and you can provide whatever context you think is important.

MR. KEIZER:  I am assuming we would probably work with what we have here that has been marked as an exhibit, so that we actually have a reference point that is on the record. 

MR. MONDROW:  I will provide the completed document electronically in Excel format.  Thank you for that. 

MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you. 

MR. MILLAR:  I that I that is an undertaking then; that is the best way to mark it.

MR. MONDROW:  That's a voluntary --


MR. KEIZER:  It must be the lateness of the hour, or I am becoming delusional.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Keizer personally is going to take care of that.  He's volunteered. 

MR. MILLAR:  We will call it -- I think we're at 2.8.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.8:  TO COMPLETE AND SHOW THE CORRELATION BETWEEN FRPO 3 AND WHAT IS SHOWN IN EXHIBIT K2.2 OR 2.1.
Procedural Matters:


MS. DUFF:  Two procedural matters I would like to discuss.

It was the Board's intention when we divided the landowner and non-landowner issues that we would proceed with arguments and submissions regarding the non-landowner issues.

Mr. Keizer, from Union's perspective, have you turned your mind to how time you would need, and do you prefer written or oral?  I am just asking your preference.

MR. KEIZER:  If I could just have one minute just to double-check, I will be right back to you.

MR. KEIZER:  Given the rambles we have taken in the last day, I think we are going to choose to do our argument in writing.  I would think that we would be in a position to file that on next Wednesday, November 30th. 

MS. DUFF:  I guess it also depends on when the undertakings are filed, too.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, yes.  Obviously, that is of interest to us to get those as best we can. 

But that would be the timing that would work for us.  We recognize that obviously we're heading into the holiday season, too, so we want to be able to make sure we can accommodate the full written schedule within that context.

MS. DUFF:  The Board will take that into consideration, your request.

Just lastly, for the landowner issues, do you have any status update? 

MR. KEIZER:  What I can say is that discussions are -- that the process is continuing, and we should be able to report before the end of the week as to the status, recognizing that the -- you know, without prejudice, you know, process of settlement. 

MS. DUFF:  Yes.  Okay, thank you very much. 

MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, before the Panel adjourns, I know you didn't ask, but I will offer anyway.

We were chatting quickly among the other parties, and while the ending of this oral process has been quite congenial, it does remain quite complex. 

We would appreciate having, in ballpark, a couple of weeks between the delivery of Union's argument and the intervenor arguments, if that fits the Board's schedule. 

MS. DUFF:  I understand. 

MR. KEIZER:  We will endeavour to make it as clear as possible, our argument-in-chief, which may assist in shortening their time period. 

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Any further comments? 

All right.  Well, this hearing is adjourned.  Thank you very much.  It was a very long day.  Thank you, court reporter, and the Board will issue, I guess, another procedural order with steps at a later date.  Thank you very much.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:30 p.m.
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